IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF MICHIGAN SOUTHERN DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,	
Plaintiff,)
v.)
ENBRIDGE ENERGY, LIMITED)
PARTNERSHIP,	
ENBRIDGE PIPELINES (LAKEHEAD) L.L.C.,) Civil Action No. 1:16-cv-914
ENBRIDGE ENERGY PARTNERS, L.P.,)
ENBRIDGE ENERGY MANAGEMENT, L.L.C.,) Judge Gordon J. Quist
ENBRIDGE ENERGY COMPANY, INC.,)
ENBRIDGE EMPLOYEE SERVICES, INC.,)
ENBRIDGE OPERATIONAL SERVICES, INC.,)
ENBRIDGE PIPELINES INC., and)
ENBRIDGE EMPLOYEE SERVICES CANADA	j
INC.,)
,)
Defendants.	,)

CONSENT DECREE

TABLE OF CONTENTS

I.	BACKGROUND	1
II.	JURISDICTION AND VENUE	10
III.	APPLICABILITY	11
IV.	DEFINITIONS	12
V.	CIVIL PENALTY	20
VI.	PAYMENTS FOR REMOVAL COSTS RELATING TO	
	LINE 6B DISCHARGES	22
VII.	INJUNCTIVE MEASURES	25
A.	ORIGINAL US LINE 6B	25
B.	REPLACEMENT OF LINE 3	25
C.	HYDROSTATIC PRESSURE TESTING	28
D.	IN-LINE INSPECTION BASED SPILL PREVENTION PROGRAM	30
(I)) In-Line Inspections	30
(II	I) Review of ILI Data	32
(II	II) Identification of Features Requiring Excavation	37
(Γ	V) Predicted Burst Pressure/Fitness for Service	44
(V	V) Dig Selection Criteria	46
(V	(I) Remaining Life Determinations/Reinspection Intervals	72
E.	MEASURES TO PREVENT SPILLS IN THE STRAITS OF MACKINAC	74
F.	DATA INTEGRATION	80
G.	LEAK DETECTION AND CONTROL ROOM OPERATIONS	83
(I)	Assessment of Alternative Leak Detection Technologies	83
(I)	Report on Feasibility of Installing External Leak	
	Detection System at the Straits of Mackinac	84
(I)	II) Requirements for New Lakehead Pipelines and Replacement Segments	85
(Γ	V) Leak Detection Requirements for Pipelines within the Lakehead System	93
(V	Leak Detection Requirements for Control Room	101
Н.	SPILL RESPONSE AND PREPAREDNESS	110
I.	NEW REMOTELY CONTROLLED VALVES	124
J.	INDEPENDENT THIRD PARTY CONSENT DECREE	
	COMPLIANCE VERIFICATION	126
VIII.	REVIEW AND APPROVAL OF DOCUMENTS	136
		100

Case 1:16-cv-00914-GJQ-ESC ECF No. 14 filed 05/23/17 PageID.1567 Page 3 of 224

IX.	REPORTING REQUIREMENTS	137
X.	INFORMATION COLLECTION AND RETENTION	141
XI.	STIPULATED PENALTIES	143
XII.	FORCE MAJEURE	147
XIII.	DISPUTE RESOLUTION	149
XIV.	EFFECT OF SETTLEMENT/RESERVATION OF RIGHTS	151
XV.	COSTS	154
XVI.	NOTICES	154
XVII.	EFFECTIVE DATE	156
XVIII.	RETENTION OF JURISDICTION	156
XIX.	MODIFICATION	156
XX.	TERMINATION	157
XXI.	PUBLIC PARTICIPATION	159
XXII.	SIGNATORIES/SERVICE	160
XXIII.	INTEGRATION	160
XXIV.	FINAL JUDGMENT	160
XXV.	APPENDICES	161

I. BACKGROUND

- a. Plaintiff United States of America, on behalf of the United States

 Environmental Protection Agency ("EPA") and the United States Coast Guard ("USCG"), filed
 this Consent Decree concurrently with a complaint against nine related parties namely,

 Enbridge Energy, L.P., Enbridge Pipelines (Lakehead) L.L.C., Enbridge Energy Partners, L.P.,

 Enbridge Energy Management, L.L.C., Enbridge Energy Company, Inc., Enbridge Employee

 Services, Inc., Enbridge Operational Services, Inc., Enbridge Pipelines Inc. and Enbridge

 Employee Services Canada Inc. (hereinafter "Enbridge" or "Defendants").
- b. The Complaint alleges that Defendants own and operate the Enbridge Mainline System one of the world's largest pipeline systems with more than 3,000 miles of pipeline corridors in the United States and Canada. According to Enbridge, the Mainline System is the single largest conduit of liquid petroleum into the United States, delivering on-average 1.7 million barrels of oil into the U.S. each day a figure that accounts for 23% of the U.S. crude oil imports. The portion of the Mainline System within the United States is known as the Lakehead Pipeline System ("Lakehead System") and includes a network of pipelines that are grouped within right-of-ways that collectively span 1,900 miles from the international border near Neche, North Dakota to delivery points in the Midwest, New York, and Ontario. The products transported by these pipelines allegedly include natural gas liquids and a variety of light and heavy crude oils.
- c. The Complaint asserts claims against Enbridge under Sections 309 and 311 of the Clean Water Act ("CWA"), 33 U.S.C. §§ 1319 and 1321, and Section 2702 of the Oil Pollution Act ("OPA"), 33 U.S.C. § 2702, with respect to two oil spills that occurred in 2010 as the result of unlawful discharges of oil from two Lakehead System pipelines ("2010 Oil Spills"). The Complaint alleges that the first oil spill occurred when Lakehead System Line 6B ("Line

- 6B") ruptured near Marshall, Michigan on July 25, 2010 and, over the course of two days, repeatedly discharged harmful quantities of oil to navigable waters of the United States, including Talmadge Creek and the Kalamazoo River, and adjoining shorelines ("Line 6B Discharges"). The Complaint alleges that the second spill occurred two months later when another Lakehead System pipeline known as Line 6A developed a large leak near Romeoville, Illinois and discharged harmful quantities of oil to navigable waters of the United States, including an unnamed tributary to the Des Plaines River, and adjoining shorelines ("Line 6A Discharges"). Enbridge contends that the Romeoville Discharge was caused by a third-party water pipeline failure that damaged Line 6A.
- d. The Complaint alleges that the Line 6B Discharges resulted in the release of at least 20,082 barrels of oil. The Complaint further alleges that, as a result of such releases, the Kalamazoo River was closed in places over a three-year period while Enbridge engaged in an extensive cleanup effort in accordance with a series of orders issued by EPA under Section 311(c) of CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1321(c), starting with an initial order issued on July 26, 2010. Such cleanup efforts included, among other things, dredging sections of the river as far downstream as 38 miles from the confluence of Talmadge Creek.
- e. As a result of removal actions conducted by Enbridge pursuant to administrative orders issued by EPA, portions of the Kalamazoo River were re-opened for recreational use beginning in April of 2012. By June 21, 2012, remaining sections of the Kalamazoo River were re-opened, although portions of the Kalamazoo River were closed again during dredging activities in 2013 and 2014. All portions of the Kalamazoo River have been open since October of 2014.

- f. In the fall of 2014, Enbridge completed removal activities required under a 2013 EPA Order that required, among other things, dredging in the Kalamazoo River. After Enbridge completed that work, EPA transitioned the lead for continuing removal activities to the State of Michigan. Pursuant to a Consent Judgment in *Michigan Dep't. of Envtl. Quality v. Enbridge Energy Partners, L.P. et al.*, 15-1411-CE (Calhoun County Circuit Court May 13, 2015), several of the Defendants committed, among other things, to perform additional response actions with respect to Line 6B Discharges. That Consent Judgment also recognizes that Enbridge entities have reimbursed approximately \$10 million in expenses incurred by the Michigan Department of Environmental Quality and other state agencies for response activities, including emergency response, and natural resource damage assessment activities.
- g. As a result of the Line 6A Discharges and the Line 6B Discharges,
 Enbridge has incurred substantial removal costs and expenses, including costs and expenses
 associated with removing oil and oil-contaminated materials from public and private property,
 including properties owned by Enbridge.
- h. The Defendants have previously resolved claims for natural resources damages ("NRD") resulting from the Line 6B Discharges through two interrelated settlements in *Michigan Dep't. of Envtl. Quality v. Enbridge Energy Partners, L.P. et al.*, 15-1411-CE (Calhoun County Circuit Court May 13, 2015), and *United States et al. v. Enbridge Energy, Ltd. P'ship, et al.*, Civil Action No. 1:15-cv-00590-GJQ (December 3, 2015). Pursuant to these settlements, Enbridge will complete or has completed restoration projects along the Kalamazoo River. Projects that will be completed include, without limitation: (i) restoring and monitoring of 320 acres of wetlands impacted by the Line 6B Discharges and response activities, (ii) permanently restoring, creating or otherwise protecting at least 300 additional acres of wetland habitat in

compensation for wetland losses, and (iii) conducting further studies and evaluations of waters affected by the Line 6B Discharges and restoration of functions provided by large woody debris removed from the Kalamazoo River as part of the removal actions. Enbridge has also provided funding to the State for monitoring of fish contamination, fish populations and macroinvertebrate populations along Talmadge Creek and the Kalamazoo River. Pursuant to these settlements, Enbridge has paid approximately \$4 million that will be used to fund additional restoration projects that will be implemented by natural resource trustees, reimburse natural resource damage assessment costs of federal and tribal trustees, and support ongoing restoration planning activities of natural resource trustees.

- i. To date, the USCG has billed Enbridge approximately \$57.8 million in costs related to the Line 6B Discharges, which includes most (but not all) of the costs charged against the Oil Spill Liability Trust Fund ("Fund") as of October 1, 2015. Enbridge fully paid all bills received from USCG with respect to the Line 6B Discharges.
- j. The Complaint alleges that the Line 6A Discharges resulted in the release of at least 6,427 barrels of oil. Enbridge undertook efforts to clean up the spill, including the removal of oil from contaminated storm sewers and from a publicly-owned treatment works.
- k. In connection with the discharges from Line 6A, the USCG has billed Enbridge for \$659,027 in removal costs, which includes all of the costs charged against the Fund as of October 1, 2015. Enbridge fully paid all such bills.
- l. On September 30, 2013, the NTSB issued a Pipeline Accident Brief concerning the Line 6A Discharges. The NTSB determined that the probable cause of the Line 6A Discharges was erosion caused by water jet impingement from a leaking 6-inch diameter water pipe located 6 inches below the Line 6A pipe. The NTSB further determined that the

interruption of the cathodic protection currents by the close proximity of the improperly installed water pipe contributed to the Line 6A Discharges. Enbridge was not the owner or operator of the water pipe referred to in the NTSB Accident Brief. The NTSB did not issue any safety recommendations to Enbridge or any other entity concerning the Line 6A Discharges.

- m. Subsequent to the 2010 Oil Spills, Enbridge undertook a number of steps to reduce the potential for future oil discharges from its pipelines and improve the safety and integrity of the Lakehead System. Among other things, Enbridge undertook the following actions since the 2010 Oil Spills:
 - (1) Lakehead Plan: Pursuant to a corrective action order issued by the Pipeline and Hazardous Materials Safety Administration "(PHMSA"), Enbridge developed and implemented the "Lakehead Plan," which outlines specific actions and timelines for safety improvements to specified pipelines within the Lakehead System, including procedures for ongoing inspection, replacement, and testing of Enbridge's lines.
 - (2) *Pipeline Replacement*: After the Line 6B Discharges, rather than repairing Line 6B, Enbridge decided to replace the pipeline, which had been in operation for 43 years. As a result, in 2014, Enbridge completed construction of a new 285-mile pipeline ("New Line 6B") to replace the entirety of original Line 6B ("Original Line 6B") between Griffith, Indiana and the international border near Sarnia, Ontario. Enbridge thereafter ceased operation of Original Line 6B and removed remaining oil from Original Line 6B.
 - (3) *In-line Inspections*. After the 2010 Oil Spills, Enbridge substantially expanded, and improved upon, its use of in-line inspection ("ILI") technology for maintaining the Lakehead System pipelines. ILI technology involves the

insertion of an ILI tool – commonly called a "pig" – into a pipeline for the purpose of sizing and identifying flaws in the pipe, such as cracks or corrosion, that need to be excavated and repaired. After 2010, Enbridge increased the frequency and type of its ILI Tool Runs, as well as boosted the number of excavations conducted as a result of such investigations. As of September of 2014, Enbridge estimated that it had completed 180 ILI runs since the 2010 Oil Spills, resulting in 5,700 excavations on the Lakehead System.

- (4) Hydrostatic Pressure Testing: In 2012, after a third oil transmission pipeline known as Line 14 on the Lakehead System ruptured in a pasture near Grand Marsh, Wisconsin, PHMSA ordered Enbridge to implement various remedial measures, including hydrostatic pressure testing of the pipeline. Such testing, which is mandatory for all new pipelines, involves pressurizing the pipeline with water to a point where the pipeline will rupture if it contains unrepaired or undiscovered features with a burst-pressure at or near the maximum test pressure. Enbridge completed hydrostatic pressure testing of 196 miles of Line 14 in 2012 without experiencing a leak or rupture. In accordance with another PHMSA corrective action order, Enbridge used hydrostatic pressure testing to confirm the integrity of 326 miles of Lakehead System Line 2 oil transmission pipeline between Neche, North Dakota and Superior, Wisconsin in 2015.
- (5) Improvements to Emergency Response: Enbridge represents that it spent \$50 million since the 2010 Oil Spills to improve equipment, training, and overall response in the event of a failure of a Lakehead System pipeline. Most recently, in September of 2015, hundreds of personnel from Enbridge, EPA, and USCG, together with state and local officials, conducted a full-scale exercise to test plans to respond to a spill in the Straits of Mackinac. Additionally:

- a) Enbridge revised its emergency response planning documents, known as Integrated Contingency Plans (ICPs), which were approved by PHMSA. Enbridge also developed Tactical Response plans for specific areas within the Lakehead System, including the Straits of Mackinac.
- b) Enbridge represents that it has implemented the spill response training recommended by the U.S. Federal Emergency Management Agency ("FEMA") to improve the coordination between Enbridge and government emergency responders. Such training includes, among other things, Incident Command System ("ICS") Level 100 through Level 300 training for all appropriate personnel listed in the ICPs, including employees assigned to incident management teams ("IMT") and senior managers who may serve as a qualified individual in the event of a spill.
- c) Enbridge represents that it purchased additional emergency response equipment to enhance Enbridge's existing equipment inventories across the Lakehead System. Newly available equipment includes incident command post trailers, decontamination trailers, work boats, submerged oil trailers, portable dam systems, tanks, boom, skimmers, and rig mats. Enbridge also contracted with additional emergency response contractors as reflected in Enbridge's revised ICPs.
- d) Enbridge reorganized its emergency management department to improve its emergency planning and response capabilities. Enbridge represents that it has hired approximately 20 additional staff to support emergency response actions, including four Emergency Response Coordinators within its U.S. Operations. Enbridge formed an internal Emergency Response Advisory Team

that meets quarterly, to ensure that emergency preparedness and planning is consistent within the Enbridge system and to share lessons learned across its pipelines.

- e) Enbridge has conducted outreach to the public and has developed publicly available training materials in an effort to better inform the public of the warning signs of a leak, potential hazards, the location of Enbridge pipelines, and the methods of notifying Enbridge of a leak. Enbridge represents that it conducted 250 community outreach sessions in 2013 alone.
- (6) *Installation of Valves*: Pursuant to a Corrective Action Order issued by PHMSA, Enbridge installed 55 new remotely controlled valves that would reduce the impacts of a potential oil spill on certain water crossings.
- (7) Improved Environmental Management: Enbridge implemented measures to improve its internal management and oversight of the safety and reliability of its entire pipeline system. Specifically:
 - a) Enbridge created the Operations and Integrity Committee and the Safety and Reliability Committee. Enbridge senior executives participate in both of these committees.
 - b) Enbridge created the role of Vice President, Enterprise

 Safety and Operational Reliability, which directs and oversees a dedicated team to support and direct company-wide safety and reliability.
- (8) *Pipeline Control:* Enbridge established a Pipeline Control department with increased staffing dedicated to leak detection, which includes on-shift personnel who are dedicated to technical support of pipeline operators and to aid in the

analysis of leak detection alarms. In addition, Enbridge has revised training requirements for leak detection analysts, pipeline operators, and other decision support staff, and currently requires operators to receive training that addresses issues such as in pipeline hydraulics, column separation analysis, incident investigation, emergency response, fatigue management, and leak detection training. Enbridge also requires semi-annual control room personnel team training that includes a focus on allowing operators to recognize and respond to unexpected conditions that may arise on the Enbridge system, including leak alarms originating from the SCADA or MBS systems.

- (9) Straits of Mackinac: Enbridge has taken a number of steps to improve spill prevention on Line 5, including the Line 5 crossing at the Straits of Mackinac. These steps include: 1) conducting regular inspections using ILIs, divers, and remotely-operated vehicles to confirm the integrity of Line 5 in the Straits; 2) increasing the frequency of inspections and pipeline repairs above and beyond what is otherwise required by law; and 3) partnering with Michigan Technological University to develop new technology that will aid in inspecting the line.
- n. In 2015, Enbridge Pipelines, Inc. ("EPI") transferred to Enbridge Employee Services Canada Inc. ("EESCI") property owned by EPI in 2010; EESCI is a successor and assign of EPI.
- o. Enbridge acknowledges that EPA, in its discretion, (1) may share with PHMSA any information and proposed or final submittals provided by Enbridge or the Independent Third Party under the Consent Decree, and (2) may seek technical assistance from, and otherwise consult with, PHMSA concerning matters under the Consent Decree.

p. The Parties now wish to resolve the United States' claims in the Complaint relating to the 2010 Oil Spills by, among other things, Enbridge (1) paying civil penalties, (2) reimbursing additional removal costs that have been incurred by the United States relating to the Line 6B Discharges, and (3) undertaking the measures set forth in Section VII of this Decree. The Parties recognize, and the Court by entering this Consent Decree finds, that this Consent Decree has been negotiated by the Parties in good faith and will avoid litigation between the Parties and that this Consent Decree is fair, reasonable, and in the public interest.

THEREFORE, before the taking of any testimony, without the adjudication or admission of any issue of fact or law, and with the consent of the Parties, IT IS HEREBY ADJUDGED, ORDERED, AND DECREED as follows:

II. JURISDICTION AND VENUE

- 1. This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of the United States' claims in this action pursuant to Sections 309(b), 311(b)(7)(E) and (n) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. §§ 1319(b), 1321(b)(7)(E) and (n), and Section 1017(b) of OPA, 33 U.S.C. § 2717(b), and 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1345, 1355.
- 2. Venue is proper in the Western District of Michigan under Sections 309(b) and 311(b)(7)(E) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. §§ 1319(b) and 1321(b)(7)(E), Section 1017(b) of OPA, 33 U.S.C. § 2717(b), and 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391 and 1395 because claims asserted in the Complaint in this action arose in this district and Enbridge is located and doing business in this district.
- 3. For purposes of this Decree, or any action to enforce this Decree, Enbridge consents to the Court's jurisdiction over this Decree (or action to enforce the Decree) and over themselves, and they consent to venue in this judicial district.

- 4. For purposes of this Consent Decree, Enbridge agrees that the Complaint states claims upon which relief may be granted pursuant to Sections 301 and 311 of the Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. §§ 1311 and 1321, and Section 2702 of OPA, 33 U.S.C. § 2702.
- 5. Notice of the commencement of this action has been given to the States of Michigan and Illinois, as required by CWA Section 309(b), 33 U.S.C. § 1319(b).

III. APPLICABILITY

- 6. The obligations of this Consent Decree apply to and are binding upon the United States, and upon Enbridge and any successors, assigns, or other entities or persons otherwise bound by law. Each of the Defendants shall be jointly and severally liable for all of Enbridge's obligations under this Consent Decree.
- 7. No transfer of ownership or operation of any portion of the Lakehead System, whether in compliance with the procedures of this Paragraph or otherwise, shall relieve Enbridge of its obligation to ensure that the terms of the Decree are implemented. At least 30 Days prior to such transfer, Enbridge shall provide a copy of this Consent Decree to the proposed transferee and shall simultaneously provide written notice of the prospective transfer, together with a copy of the proposed written agreement, to EPA, the United States Attorney for the Western District of Michigan, and the United States Department of Justice, in accordance with Section XVI (Notices). Any attempt to transfer ownership or operation of the Lakehead System without complying with this Paragraph constitutes a violation of this Decree, provided, however, that in the case of any transfer to an entity controlled by Enbridge, Enbridge may satisfy the prior notification requirement of this Paragraph by providing notice to EPA and the United States, in accordance with Section XVI (Notices), at least 30 Days prior to the transfer, without providing a copy of the transfer agreement.

- 8. Enbridge shall provide a copy of this Consent Decree to all officers, employees, agents and contractors whose duties might reasonably include compliance with any provision of this Decree. After the Effective Date, Enbridge shall require compliance with the Consent Decree as a material term of any contract with a third party whose duties might include compliance with any provision of this Decree. Likewise, Enbridge shall require such third-parties to flow down the same requirement to subcontractors whose duties might include compliance with any provision of this Decree.
- 9. In any action to enforce this Consent Decree, Enbridge shall not raise as a defense the failure by any of its officers, directors, employees, agents, or contractors to take any actions necessary to comply with the provisions of this Consent Decree.

IV. DEFINITIONS

- 10. Terms used in this Consent Decree that are defined in the CWA, or in regulations promulgated thereunder, shall have the meanings assigned to them in the Act or such regulations, unless otherwise provided in this Decree. Whenever the terms set forth below are used in this Consent Decree, the following definitions shall apply:
- a. "2010 Oil Spills" shall mean the Line 6A Discharges and Line 6B
 Discharges as defined below.
- b. "Area Contingency Plan" shall have the meaning set forth in the National Contingency Plan at 40 C.F.R. § 300.5.
- c. "Axially-Aligned Crack" shall mean any type of Crack feature that is oriented in the direction of the pipeline's axis as opposed to the pipeline's circumference.
- d. "Axial Grooving" and "Axial Slotting" shall mean any metal loss feature with a width less than 10 millimeters and a length greater than 30 millimeters.

- e. "Batch Pig" shall mean a type of device generally known as a "pig" that is inserted into a pipeline for the purpose of separating different batches or shipments of oil within the pipeline.
- f. "Column Separation" shall mean the condition where a pipeline segment is not entirely filled with liquid or is partly void.
- g. "Community Outreach" shall mean Enbridge's program to inform and encourage public participation and education regarding Enbridge's Lakehead System. The term "public" shall include citizens, entities or organized groups that may be impacted by any Lakehead pipeline.
- h. "Complaint" shall mean the Complaint filed by the United States in this action.
- i. "Consent Decree" or "Decree" shall mean this Decree and all Appendices attached hereto (listed in Section XXV).
- j. "Control Room" shall mean any operations center where Lakehead System pipelines are remotely monitored, operated and controlled by personnel using a Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition System, including the operations center in Edmonton, Alberta, Canada.
- k. "Corrosion feature" shall mean any feature on a pipeline detected by any tool, field measurement device, or other field observation that detects metal loss due to corrosion; provided, however, that for purposes of this Consent Decree, "corrosion features" shall not include any feature that Enbridge is able to determine reflects metal loss that is attributable to a grinding repair rather than to corrosion.

- 1. "Crack feature" shall mean any feature on a pipeline detected by any tool, field measurement device, or other field observation that detects any crack or crack-like feature on the pipeline, whether the Feature Type is classified as crack-like, crack field, notch-like, surface-breaking lamination, linear indication, seam-weld manufacturing anomaly, hook cracks, or any other label denoting a crack or cluster of cracks. In addition, for purposes of this Consent Decree, Crack features shall be deemed to include Axial Slotting features, Axial Grooving features, selective seam Corrosion features and features identified in ILI reports as Seam Weld Anomaly A/B.
- m. "Day" shall mean a calendar day unless expressly stated to be a business day. In computing any period of time under this Consent Decree, where the last Day would fall on a Saturday, Sunday, or U.S. federal holiday, the period shall run until the close of business of the next business day.
- n. "Defendants" shall have the same meaning as the term "Enbridge" as defined below.
- o. "Dig List" shall mean the list of Crack features, Corrosion features and Geometric features required to be excavated in accordance with Section VII.D.
 - p. "Effective Date" shall have the definition provided in Section XVII.
- q. "Enbridge" shall mean Enbridge Energy, L.P., Enbridge Pipelines
 (Lakehead) L.L.C., Enbridge Energy Partners, L.P., Enbridge Energy Management, L.L.C.,
 Enbridge Energy Company, Inc., Enbridge Employee Services, Inc., Enbridge Operational
 Services, Inc., Enbridge Pipelines Inc., Enbridge Employee Services Canada Inc., and any of their successors and assigns.

- r. "EPA" shall mean the United States Environmental Protection Agency and any of its successor departments or agencies.
- s. "Established Maximum Operating Pressure" or "Established MOP" or "MOP" shall mean, with respect to each Lakehead System Pipeline segment, the MOP value listed for that segment in column C of the spreadsheet located at https://www.epa.gov/enbridge-spill-michigan/enbridge-revised-maximum-operating-pressure-values. For purposes of identifying the MOP value applicable to any particular pipeline segment, pipeline segments are identified (in column B of the above-cited spreadsheet) by the milepost location at the beginning of the segment, and each pipeline segment includes the entire distance between the listed milepost location and the milepost location listed for the next pipeline segment identified on the spreadsheet.
- t. "Feature Requiring Excavation" shall have the meaning set forth in Paragraph 36.
- u. "Field Burst Pressure" shall mean, with respect to each Crack feature and each Corrosion feature located on any section of a Lakehead System Pipeline that is excavated, whether for repair or mitigation of features, investigation of features or otherwise, the Predicted Burst Pressure of such feature calculated based on field measurements of feature length and depth obtained during examination of the feature at the time of the excavation.
- v. "Future Removal Costs" shall mean all costs, including direct and indirect costs, incurred and paid by the United States in responding to the Line 6B Discharges that were, or will be, charged against the Oil Spill Liability Trust Fund after October 1, 2015.
- w. "Geometric feature" shall mean any feature that involves deformation of the pipe as defined in 4.28 of API 1163 (1st Edition), including any bend, buckle, dent, ovality,

ripple, wrinkle or other change that affects the roundness of the pipe's cross section or straightness of the pipe.

- x. "High Consequence Area" or "HCA" shall have the meaning set forth in 49 C.F.R. § 195.450.
- y. "ILI Burst Pressure" shall mean, with respect to each Crack feature and each Corrosion feature, the Predicted Burst Pressure of such feature calculated based on ILI measurements of feature length and depth.
- z. "Initial Linefill" shall mean the initial process of starting pumps and filling a new pipeline with oil before deliveries of product can commence.
- aa. "Interest" shall mean the interest rate specified in 28 U.S.C. § 1961 as of the date interest accrues under the Consent Decree.
- bb. "Joint" shall refer to a single length of pipe, typically 40 feet or less, between two adjacent girth welds.
- cc. "Lakehead ICPs" shall mean the integrated contingency plans for Lakehead System Pipelines.
- dd. "Lakehead System" shall mean the portion of the Mainline System within the United States that is comprised of fourteen pipelines Lines 1, 2B, 3, 4, 5, 6A, 6B, 10, 14, 61, 62, 64, 65, and 67 and all New Lakehead Pipelines.
- ee. "Lakehead System Pipeline" shall mean any pipeline that is part of the Lakehead System.
- ff. "Line 6A Discharges" shall mean the discharges of oil into the environment from Lakehead System Line 6A oil transmission pipeline that occurred on or about September 9, 2010, near Romeoville, Illinois.

- gg. "Line 6B Discharges" shall mean the discharges of oil into the environment from Lakehead System Line 6B oil transmission pipeline that occurred on July 25-26, 2010, near Marshall, Michigan.
- hh. "Local Emergency Responder" shall mean a person who works in close proximity to the Lakehead System and is among those responsible for going to the scene of an emergency such as an oil spill to provide assistance.
- ii. "Material Balance System" or "MBS Leak Detection System" shall mean the computational pipeline monitoring system used by Enbridge to detect leaks or ruptures in the Lakehead System.
- jj. "MBS Segment" shall mean a section of pipeline that is bounded on each end by adjacent flowmeters.
- kk. "NCP" shall mean the National Oil and Hazardous Substances Contingency Plan, as codified in 40 C.F.R. Part 300.
- 11. "New Lakehead Pipeline" shall have the meaning set forth in Paragraph 84.a.
- mm. "Oil Spill Liability Trust Fund" shall mean the fund established pursuant to 26 U.S.C. §§ 4611 and 9509.
- nn. "OneSource" shall mean the data-integration database described in Subsection VII.F of the Consent Decree.
- oo. "OPA" shall mean the Oil Pollution Act of 1990, Pub. L. No. 101-380, 104 Stat. 484, 33 U.S.C. §§ 2701-2761.

- pp. "Original US Line 3" shall mean the segment of Lakehead System Line 3 oil transmission pipeline currently operating between Neche, North Dakota and Superior that Enbridge is required to replace under Section VII.B of this Consent Decree.
- qq. "Original US Line 6B" shall mean the 285-mile pipeline between Griffith, Indiana and the international border near Sarnia, Ontario that Enbridge replaced in 2014.
 - rr. "OSROs" shall mean oil spill response organizations.
- ss. "Overlapping MBS Segment" shall mean a section of pipe integrating two or more MBS Segments for the purpose of establishing and maintaining temporary leak detection capability, as provided in Paragraph 94.
- tt. "Paragraph" shall mean a portion of this Decree identified by an arabic numeral.
 - uu. "Parties" shall mean the United States and Enbridge.
- vv. "Past Removal Costs" shall mean all costs, including, but not limited to, direct and indirect costs, incurred and paid by the United States in responding to the Line 6B Discharges and charged against the Oil Spill Liability Trust Fund as of October 1, 2015.
- ww. "Pipeline and Hazardous Materials Safety Administration" or "PHMSA" shall mean the Pipeline and Hazardous Materials Safety Administration and any of its successor departments or agencies.
- xx. "Predicted Burst Pressure" shall mean the lowest estimated pressure at which a feature is predicted to burst or rupture, calculated as specified in this Consent Decree.
- yy. "PREP Guidelines" shall mean the guidelines prepared for the National Preparedness for Response Exercise Program used in emergency preparedness planning.

- zz. "Priority Feature" shall have the same meaning as defined in Paragraph 33.b.
- aaa. "Remaining Life" shall mean the estimated period time remaining before a

 Crack feature or Corrosion feature is predicted to grow to the point where its Predicted Burst

 Pressure is less than or equal to the Established MOP at the location of the feature.
- bbb. "Remotely-Controlled Valve" shall mean any valve that is designed to be closed remotely by an operator from a Control Room.
- ccc. "Replacement Segment" shall have the same meaning as set forth in Paragraph 84.b.
- ddd. "Rupture Pressure Ratio" or "RPR" shall mean, with respect to any Crack or Corrosion feature, the Predicted Burst Pressure of such feature divided by the pressure at 100 percent Specified Minimum Yield Strength.
- eee. "Section" shall mean a portion of this Decree identified by a roman numeral.
- fff. "Sectionalize" shall mean the closure of all Remotely-Controlled Valves within any portion of a pipeline.
- ggg. "Shutdown" shall refer to the operational period between (1) the initial cessation of pumping operations in a pipeline, or section of pipeline, through which oil has been actively flowing and (2) the point where the flow rate within the pipeline, or section of pipeline, is zero.
- hhh. "Specified Minimum Yield Strength" or SMYS shall have the same meaning as defined at 49 C.F.R. § 195.2.

- iii. "Startup" shall refer to the operational period between (1) the commencement of pumping operations in a pipeline that had been previously shut down and (2) the point where oil in the pipeline achieves a Steady State.
- jjj. "Steady State" shall mean the pipeline hydraulic condition that exists when all the pipeline operating parameters remain nearly constant over time.
- kkk. "Supervisory control and data acquisition system" or "SCADA system" shall have the same meaning as defined by 49 C.F.R. § 195.2.
- Ill. "Tool Run" shall mean the process of running an ILI tool with sensors through a pipeline, or section of pipeline, for the purpose of detecting, sizing, and classifying Crack features, Corrosion features, and Geometric features.
- mmm. "Transient-State" shall mean the operational condition when oil is moving through a pipeline, or section of pipeline, at a rate or pressure that is in flux.
- nnn. "United States" shall mean the United States of America, acting on behalf of EPA and the United States Coast Guard.
- ooo. "USCG" shall mean the United States Coast Guard and any of its successor departments or agencies.
- ppp. "Valve Segment" shall mean each segment of pipeline between two adjacent Remotely-Controlled Valves.

V. CIVIL PENALTY

11. Within 30 Days after the Effective Date, Enbridge shall pay the sum of sixty-one million dollars (\$61,000,000), plus Interest, as a civil penalty for the Line 6B Discharges and an additional sum of one million dollars (\$1,000,000), plus Interest, as a civil penalty for the Line 6A

Discharges. Interest shall accrue on both amounts from the date on which the Consent Decree is lodged with the Court.

- 12. Enbridge shall pay the civil penalties due by FedWire Electronic Funds Transfer ("EFT") to the U.S. Department of Justice in accordance with instructions to be provided to Enbridge by the Financial Litigation Unit ("FLU") of the United States Attorney's Office for the Western District of Michigan. Such monies are to be deposited in the Oil Spill Liability Trust Fund. The payment shall reference the Civil Action docket number assigned to this case and DOJ Number 90-5-1-1-10099 (for the line 6B Discharges) and DOJ Number 90-5-1-1-10124 (for the Line 6A Discharges), and shall specify that the payment is made for CWA civil penalties to be deposited into the Oil Spill Liability Trust Fund pursuant to 33 U.S.C. § 1321(s) and 26 U.S.C. § 9509(b)(8). Any funds received after 11:00 a.m. Eastern Standard Time shall be credited on the next business day.
- 13. At the time of payments, Enbridge shall send a copy of the EFT authorization form and the EFT transaction record, together with a transmittal letter, which shall state that the payment is for the civil penalty owed pursuant to the Consent Decree in this case, and shall reference the Civil Action Number assigned to this case, and DOJ Number 90-5-1-1-10099 (for the Line 6B Discharges) and DOJ Number 90-5-1-1-10124 (for the Line 6A Discharges), to the United States in accordance with Section XVI, of this Decree (Notices) and by email to acctsreceivable.CINWD@epa.gov and by mail to:

EPA Cincinnati Finance Office 26 Martin Luther King Drive Cincinnati, Ohio 45268 14. Enbridge shall not deduct or capitalize the civil penalties paid under this Section in calculating federal income tax in the United States or Canada, any state income tax, or any provincial or territorial tax.

VI. PAYMENTS FOR REMOVAL COSTS RELATING TO LINE 6B DISCHARGES

- 15. Payment for Past Removal Costs. Within 30 Days after the Effective Date,
 Enbridge shall pay \$5,438,222 plus Interest accruing from the date of lodging of the Consent
 Decree to reimburse the Oil Spill Liability Trust Fund for Past Removal Costs. Payment shall be made in accordance with Paragraph 17.a (Past Removal Cost Payments).
- Liability Trust Fund for all Future Removal Costs billed by USCG that are consistent with the NCP. On a periodic basis, USCG will send Enbridge a bill for payment of Future Removal Costs that includes an itemized costs summary identifying direct and indirect costs incurred by the United States for removal actions pertaining to the Line 6B Discharges. Enbridge shall make all payments within 30 Days after its receipt of each bill requiring payment, except as otherwise provided in Paragraph 18, in accordance with 17.b ("Future Removal Cost Payments"). Enbridge shall be liable for interest on the total amount of each bill, accruing as of the date payment of each bill became due. For the purposes of this Section (Payment for Removal Costs Relating to Line 6B Discharges), the term "interest" shall mean the interest rate specified in 28 U.S.C. § 1961 as of the date payment of a bill becomes due.

17. Payment Instructions

a. Past Removal Cost Payments. Enbridge shall pay the Past Removal Costs due under Paragraph 15 by EFT to the U.S. Department of Justice account, in accordance with

current EFT procedures, referencing the Federal Project Number E10527 and DOJ Case Number 90-5-1-1-10099. Such payment shall be made in accordance with instructions provided to Enbridge by the FLU of the United States Attorney for the Western District of Michigan following lodging of the Consent Decree. Any payments received by the Department of Justice after 4:00 p.m. (Eastern Time) will be credited on the next business day.

- b. *Future Removal Cost Payments*. For all payments of Future Removal Costs under Paragraph 16, Enbridge shall make such payment by Fedwire EFT, referencing the Federal Project Number E10527 and DOJ Case Number 90-5-1-1-10099, in accordance with instructions to be provided.
- c. *Notice of Payment*: At the time of each payment made under this Section, Enbridge shall send a copy of the EFT authorization form and the EFT transaction record, together with a transmittal letter, to the United States in accordance with Section XVI (Notices), and to:

Commandant (CG-LCL)
Attn: Brian Judge, Chief
Office of Claims and Litigation
U.S. Coast Guard Stop 7213
2703 Martin Luther King Jr. Avenue SE
Washington, D.C. 20593-7213

Director (NPFC) ATTN: LCDR LaCresha Johnson CG National Pollution Funds Center US Coast Guard Stop 7605 2703 Martin Luther King Jr Ave SE Washington, DC 20593-7605

In its transmittal letter, Enbridge shall state the payment is for removal costs owed pursuant to this Consent Decree and shall reference the Civil Action Number assigned to this case, the Federal Project Number E10527, and DOJ Case Number 90-5-1-1-10099.

18. Contesting Future Response Costs. Enbridge may submit a Notice of Dispute, initiating the procedures of Section XIII (Dispute Resolution), regarding any Future Removal Costs billed under Paragraph 16 (Payment for Future Removal Costs) if it determines that the bill has a mathematical error or included a cost item that is not within the definition of Future Removal Costs, or if it believes that the bill includes costs that were the direct result of an action that was not consistent with the NCP. Such Notice of Dispute shall be submitted in writing within 30 Days after receipt of the bill and must be sent to the United States pursuant to Section XVI (Notices). Such Notice of Dispute shall specifically identify the contested Future Removal Costs and the basis for objection. If Enbridge submits a Notice of Dispute, Enbridge shall pay all uncontested Future Removal Costs within 30 Days after Enbridge's receipt of the bill requiring payment. Simultaneously, Enbridge shall establish, in a duly chartered bank or trust company, an interest-bearing escrow account that is insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC), and remit to that escrow account funds equivalent to the amount of the contested Future Removal Costs. Enbridge shall send to the United States, as provided in Section XVI (Notices), a copy of the transmittal letter and check paying the uncontested Future Removal Costs, and a copy of the correspondence that establishes and funds the escrow account, including, but not limited to, information containing the identity of the bank and bank account under which the escrow account is established as well as a bank statement showing the initial balance of the escrow account. If the United States prevails in the dispute, Enbridge shall pay the sums due (with accrued interest) to the United States within 7 Days after the resolution of the dispute. If Enbridge prevails concerning any aspect of the contested costs, Enbridge shall pay that portion of the costs (plus associated accrued interest) for which they did not prevail to the United States within 7 Days after the resolution of the dispute. Enbridge shall be disbursed any balance

of the escrow account. All payments to the United States under this Paragraph shall be made in accordance with Paragraph 17 (Payment Instructions). The dispute resolution procedures set forth in this Paragraph in conjunction with the procedures set forth in Section XIII (Dispute Resolution) shall be the exclusive mechanisms for resolving disputes regarding Enbridge's obligation to reimburse the United States for its Future Removal Costs.

VII. INJUNCTIVE MEASURES

- 19. Enbridge shall fund and perform all injunctive measures set forth in Section VII as detailed in Subsections VII.A-J below and in Appendices A to F, which are incorporated into Section VII.
- 20. Except as otherwise specifically provided in this Consent Decree, requirements of this Section VII shall apply to all of the Lakehead System.

A. ORIGINAL US LINE 6B

21. Enbridge is permanently enjoined from operating, or allowing anyone else to operate Original US Line 6B for the purpose of transporting oil, gas, diluent, or any hazardous substance. Nothing in this Paragraph shall be construed to preclude Enbridge from removing pumps or other equipment from Original US Line 6B and reusing such equipment.

B. REPLACEMENT OF LINE 3; EVALUATION OF REPLACEMENT OF LINE 10

- 22. Replacement of Line 3 in the United States.
- a. Enbridge shall replace the segment of the Lakehead System Line 3 oil transmission pipeline that spans approximately 292 miles from Neche, North Dakota, to Superior, Wisconsin ("Original US Line 3"), provided that Enbridge receives all necessary approvals to do so. Enbridge shall seek all approvals necessary for the replacement of Original US Line 3, and provide approval authorities with complete and adequate information needed to support such

approvals, as expeditiously as practicable, and Enbridge shall respond as expeditiously as practicable to any requests by approval authorities for supplemental information relating to the requested approvals. If Enbridge receives approvals necessary for replacement of Original US Line 3, Enbridge shall complete the replacement of Original US Line 3 and take Original US Line 3 out of service, including depressurization of Original US Line 3, as expeditiously as practicable.

- b. Within 90 Days after Original US Line 3 is taken out of service, Enbridge shall purge remaining oil from Original US Line 3 by running a cleaning pig through the line, and Enbridge shall complete final clean-out and decommissioning of Original US Line 3 within one year thereafter.
- c. Until decommissioning of Original U.S. Line 3 in accordance with Subparagraph 22.b, Enbridge shall limit the operating pressure in each segment of Original US Line 3 that Enbridge continues to operate so that the operating pressure within such segment does not exceed the MOP value specified for that segment in https://www.epa.gov/enbridge-spill-michigan/enbridge-revised-maximum-operating-pressure-values, unless and until Enbridge has completed hydrostatic pressure testing that validates use of an increased operating pressure, and has submitted to EPA a report summarizing the hydrostatic pressure test procedures and results. Under no circumstances shall a hydrostatic pressure test be deemed to validate an operating pressure within any hydrostatic pressure test segment that is higher than 80% of the lowest test pressure achieved in such test segment.
- d. If Enbridge has not taken all portions of Original US Line 3 out of service by December 31, 2017, Enbridge shall comply with the additional requirements set forth below:
 - (1) On an annual basis with the exception of the final year of service for the Original US Line 3, Enbridge shall complete valid ILIs of all portions of Original

US Line 3 that Enbridge continues to operate, using the most appropriate tools for detecting, charactering, and sizing all of the following: Crack Features, Corrosion Features, and Geometric Features;

- (2) Enbridge shall identify, excavate and mitigate or repair all Features Requiring Excavation detected in the ILIs required pursuant to Subparagraph 22.d.(1), in accordance with the requirements of Subsection VII.D; and
- (3) Enbridge shall clean all portions of Original US Line 3 that Enbridge continues to operate and shall use biocide treatments to reduce microbiological activity on a quarterly basis.
- e. After Original US Line 3 is taken out of service, Enbridge shall be permanently enjoined from operating, or allowing anyone else to operate, any portion of the pipeline for the purpose of transporting oil, gas, diluent or any hazardous substance. Nothing in this Paragraph shall be construed to preclude Enbridge from removing pumps or other equipment from Original US Line 3 and reusing such equipment.
- 23. Evaluation of Replacement of Portions of Line 10 within the United States: Within 120 Days of the Effective Date of the Consent Decree, Enbridge shall submit to EPA a report evaluating replacement of the entire portion of the Lakehead System Line 10 oil transmission pipeline between the Canadian border near Niagara Falls, NY, and the terminus of the pipeline near West Seneca, NY ("US Line 10"). The report shall evaluate replacement of the entire US Line 10. The Report shall also include a separate evaluation of replacement of the short segment of the pipeline that crosses the Niagara River at Grand Island, NY. The evaluation shall contain a discussion of the number, density, and severity of Crack features and Corrosion features found on

US Line 10, as well as comparison of these features to those on the 21-mile section of Line 10 to be replaced near Hamilton, Ontario.

C. HYDROSTATIC PRESSURE TESTING

- 24. No less than 60 Days prior to any hydrostatic pressure testing undertaken pursuant to the terms of this Consent Decree, Enbridge shall prepare and submit to EPA a plan and schedule for hydrostatic pressure testing of the pipeline. The plan shall describe in detail how Enbridge will conduct the hydrostatic pressure test and demonstrate that the hydrostatic pressure test will comply with all requirements of Paragraph 25 below. Enbridge shall conduct the hydrostatic pressure test in accordance with the plan and schedule.
- 25. Procedures for Hydrostatic Pressure Testing. All hydrostatic pressure tests conducted by Enbridge under this Consent Decree shall comply with the following testing procedures and requirements:
- a. The sections of each pipeline to be hydrostatically pressure tested shall be divided into various test segments, each of which will be separately pressurized as provided below in this Paragraph. Each test segment shall be able to meet the requirements specified in Subparagraph 25.b below.
- b. Within each test segment, hydrostatic pressure testing shall be performed over a continuous eight hour period, in accordance with the specifications set forth below in this Subparagraph:
 - (1) Enbridge shall maintain a pressure of at least 1.25 x MOP for four hours at all locations in each test segment.

- (2) Enbridge shall maintain an operating pressure not less than 1.1 x MOP for the remainder of the continuous eight hour test period at all locations in each test segment.
- c. Enbridge shall complete the tests as soon as is practicable, but in no event shall testing take longer than 270 Days from the date of EPA's receipt of the plan and schedule.
- d. Additional water may not be added to any tested line segment while the test is underway.
- e. At least 30 Days before conducting any pressure test, Enbridge shall provide written notification to EPA and all relevant federal agencies (e.g. PHMSA and Coast Guard) and relevant local emergency responders.
- f. Within 120 Days of completing each required hydrostatic pressure test, Enbridge shall prepare and submit to EPA a report describing the test and summarizing the results of the test, including a description of any features that leaked or ruptured during the test and planned corrective actions, including a schedule of completion, that Enbridge plans to take to address issues identified during the hydrostatic pressure test.
- 26. Line Failure During Hydrostatic Pressure Testing: Enbridge shall take the following actions in the event of a leak or rupture of the pipeline during a hydrostatic pressure test:
- a. Enbridge shall immediately take all necessary and appropriate actions to prevent the discharge from the pipeline from reaching or spreading upon any body of water, including wetlands, or adjoining shoreline or area of dryland that could channel the release toward a body of water, including wetlands, or adjoining shoreline. Nothing in this Consent Decree is intended to waive, modify, or suspend Enbridge's duty under the Clean Water Act to prevent

discharges of oil or hazardous substances into or upon the waters of the United States or adjoining shorelines, as well as discharges of pollutants from a point source to waters of the United States, unless permitted, and to comply with all NPDES and state-issued permit conditions.

b. Within 90 Days of the rupture or leak, Enbridge shall complete and submit to EPA an investigatory report of the pipeline failure. The report shall include a discussion of the failure mechanism based upon a laboratory or other investigation of the section of pipe with the rupture or leak. In addition, the report shall present findings and conclusions as to whether Enbridge's ILI tools missed, or underestimated the size of, the metallurgical feature that caused the rupture or leak. If the feature was missed or undersized by such tools, Enbridge shall propose a plan and schedule for undertaking corrective action to ensure that similar features do not pose a threat to any Lakehead System Pipeline.

D. IN-LINE INSPECTION BASED SPILL PREVENTION PROGRAM

(I) In-Line Inspections

27. Enbridge shall implement the requirements of this Subsection VII.D.(I) in order to assure timely identification and evaluation of all features, including features that pose either leak or rupture threats, whether such features are located in the base metal (either interior or exterior surfaces), long seam, or girth welds. Such features may include, but are not limited to, Crack or Crack-like features, including stress corrosion cracks, crack fields, and hook cracks, seam weld anomalies, including lack of fusion anomalies, Selective Seam Corrosion, Axial Slotting and Axial Grooving, other Corrosion features, dents, and other Geometric features. For the purposes of this Consent Decree, the terms "rupture" and "leak" shall include any "discharge" within the meaning of Section 311 of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1321(a)(2).

- 28. Enbridge shall conduct periodic In-Line Inspections ("ILIs") of each pipeline in accordance with this Consent Decree using ILI tools that are most appropriate for accurately detecting, characterizing and sizing all Crack features, Corrosion features and Geometric features that are present or anticipated on the particular pipeline being inspected. After the Effective Date of the Consent Decree, Enbridge shall complete valid ILIs of the entire length of each pipeline using, at a minimum, each of the following: (1) an ILI tool that is most appropriate for accurately detecting, characterizing and sizing all Crack features that may be present, (2) an ILI tool that is most appropriate for accurately detecting, characterizing and sizing all Corrosion features that may be present, and (3) an ILI tool that is most appropriate for accurately detecting, characterizing and sizing all Geometric features that may be present.
- a. Until termination of this Consent Decree in accordance with Section XX, below, Enbridge shall periodically re-inspect each Lakehead System Pipeline using ILI tools that meet all of the requirements described above in this Paragraph 28.
- b. Except as provided in Paragraph 70, all ILIs required under this Consent Decree shall be scheduled and completed in accordance with the re-inspection interval requirements in Paragraphs 65 and 66, below.
- c. Enbridge shall require each of its ILI vendors to notify Enbridge immediately of any instance in which the vendor determines that (i) a scheduled ILI of any Lakehead System Pipeline could not be completed due to an ILI tool malfunction or other circumstance that prevented the collection of valid, reliable data, or (ii) a completed ILI of any Lakehead System Pipeline is not valid or reliable for any reason. In each such case involving an incomplete or invalid ILI, Enbridge shall take all steps necessary to complete a valid ILI within the timeframes specified in Paragraphs 65 and 66.

- 29. Within 30 Days of the Effective Date of the Consent Decree, Enbridge shall submit to EPA a schedule that will identify each ILI scheduled to be initiated on any pipeline during a 12 month period following the Effective Date of the Consent Decree. Thereafter in each Semi-Annual Report required pursuant to Paragraph 143, Enbridge shall identify each ILI that is scheduled to be initiated on any pipeline during the 12-month period after the close of the reporting period covered by that Semi-Annual Report. Each ILI schedule referred to in this Paragraph shall be consistent with the re-inspection interval requirements in Paragraphs 65 and 66, below.
- 30. Enbridge shall perform all ILIs in accordance with the schedules referred to in Paragraph 29 and the requirements of Paragraphs 65, 66, and 70 below. The Parties may agree to modify any ILI schedule without the need for Court approval, provided that the modified schedule remains consistent with the requirements in Paragraphs 65, 66, and 70.
- 31. Compliance with Tool Specifications: Enbridge shall assure that ILI tools are operated consistently within manufacturer/vendor specifications, including tool speed. In each Semi-Annual Report required under Paragraph 143, Enbridge shall report each instance in which any ILI tool operates outside tool specifications. In such reports, Enbridge shall also evaluate the causes of the failure to adhere to the tool specifications and describe all steps that Enbridge has taken, or plans to take, to prevent or reduce the likelihood of a recurrence.

(II) Review of ILI Data

32. Enbridge shall require each of its vendors of ILI services to submit an initial report to Enbridge promptly after each ILI of any Lakehead System Pipeline ("Initial ILI Report"), except in cases where the ILI vendor has previously notified Enbridge in accordance with Paragraph 28.c that an ILI could not be completed or was not valid. This Initial ILI Report shall

include all data relating to all features detected by the ILI tool, as well as all information relevant to tool speed and performance. Enbridge shall require submission of Initial ILI Reports in accordance with the following schedule:

- a. In the case of ILI tools used to assess Crack features, Initial ILI Reports shall be submitted to Enbridge within 120 Days after the tool is removed from the pipeline at the conclusion of the in line inspection.
- b. In the case of ILI tools used to assess Corrosion features, Initial ILI Reports shall be submitted to Enbridge within 90 Days after the tool is removed from the pipeline at the conclusion of the in line inspection.
- c. In the case of ILI tools used to assess Geometric features, Initial ILI Reports shall be submitted to Enbridge within 60 Days after the tool is removed from the pipeline at the conclusion of the in line inspection.

33. Priority Features

- a. Enbridge shall require each of its vendors of ILI services to notify Enbridge of any Priority Feature identified during an ILI and to provide Enbridge with the ILI data relating to such Priority Feature immediately upon identification of the Priority Feature, without waiting for preparation and submission of the Initial ILI Report.
- b. For the purposes of this Consent Decree, a "Priority Feature" shall mean any Crack feature, Corrosion feature, or Geometric feature that may require priority attention over other features based upon criteria specified by Enbridge in its contract or work order with the vendor for ILI services. In such a contract or work order, Enbridge shall define a Priority Feature as including, among other things, any feature that the ILI vendor may consider to be an immediate

threat to the integrity of the pipeline. At a minimum, Priority Features shall include features that meet the criteria set forth in Appendix A.

- c. Within two (2) Days after receiving notification of any Priority Feature,
 Enbridge shall review the ILI data relating to each such feature and any other relevant information
 and determine whether such feature was correctly identified and whether the feature was
 previously repaired or mitigated. As expeditiously as practicable after making such
 determinations, but in no event more than two (2) Days after doing so, Enbridge shall determine
 whether such Priority Feature is a Feature Requiring Excavation in accordance with Section
 VII.D.(III), and
 - add such Priority Feature to the Dig List in accordance withParagraph 37, and
 - (2) determine whether a point pressure restriction is required for such Priority Feature and, if so, establish such pressure restriction, in accordance with Paragraphs 47 59 below.
- d. Enbridge shall excavate and repair or mitigate each Priority Feature that qualifies as a Feature Requiring Excavation, in accordance with the timetables set forth in Subsection VII.D.(V), below.

34. Data Quality Review

a. Within 30 Days after receiving any Initial ILI Report, Enbridge shall complete a preliminary review of the Initial ILI Report. As part of the preliminary review, Enbridge shall identify all concerns with respect to the quality of any reported ILI data, and Enbridge shall identify all pipeline sections and/or features affected by the identified data quality concerns.

- b. With respect to all pipeline sections and/or features for which Enbridge did not identify data quality concerns during its preliminary review of any Initial ILI Report,
 Enbridge shall immediately proceed to evaluate whether such pipeline sections and/or features include any Feature Requiring Excavation, consistent with the requirements in Subsection VII.D.(III), below.
- c. With respect to all pipeline sections and/or features for which Enbridge identified data quality concerns during its preliminary review of any Initial ILI Report, Enbridge shall complete any evaluations required to resolve all of the identified data quality concerns as expeditiously as practicable.
- d. Except with respect to any investigative dig programs required under Subparagraph 34.e below, Enbridge shall complete all data quality evaluations of ILI data within 180 Days after the ILI tool is removed from the pipeline at the conclusion of any ILI investigation.
- e. During its preliminary review of the Initial ILI Report, Enbridge may also identify potential data quality concerns if there is a significant discrepancy between the data provided in the Initial ILI Report and the data provided in the most recent previous assessment of the same pipeline with respect to the severity, density or type of detected Features Requiring Excavation. For purposes of this Subparagraph 34.e, a discrepancy with respect to the severity of reported features shall be considered significant if at least 60% of the population of reported features are either (A) more severe than previously reported and more severe than previously the most recent assessment of anticipated feature growth, or (B) less severe than previously reported. Further, for the purpose of this Subparagraph 34.e, a discrepancy with respect to the

density of reported features shall be considered significant if the number of reported features is at least 20% greater or 20% less than the number of features previously reported.

- (1) Whenever Enbridge identifies a significant discrepancy with respect to the severity, density or type of features, within the meaning of this Subparagraph 34.e, Enbridge shall conduct an investigation to evaluate the accuracy and reliability of the data provided in the Initial ILI Report currently under consideration. If Enbridge is unable to account for identified discrepancies based on a review of available information, including repair records, ILI tool differences (including differing tool tolerances and detection thresholds), algorithm differences, or other relevant information, Enbridge may conduct an investigative dig program to collect field measurements of a sufficient number of relevant features to assess the accuracy and reliability of the data presented in the Initial ILI Report.
- (2) Enbridge shall validate and document the precision and accuracy of all field measurement equipment and procedures used in any investigative digs. Enbridge shall assure that any equipment used to obtain field measurements is capable of accurately detecting and sizing all features or anomalies at and above the relevant ILI tool tolerance.
- investigative dig program and ILI data relating to the same features or pipeline sections demonstrates a systematic bias or scatter in the reported ILI data, Enbridge shall determine the nature and magnitude of any bias or error. Enbridge may adjust the reported ILI data to correct for any demonstrated bias or scatter, as provided below in this Subsection VII.D.(II).

- f. The data quality evaluations undertaken by Enbridge pursuant to this Subsection VII.D. (II), including any investigatory dig programs undertaken pursuant to Subparagraph 34.e, shall not affect or delay Enbridge's obligation to timely identify Features Requiring Excavation and complete Dig Lists as provided in Paragraph 37, below. Pending completion of any investigative dig program pursuant to Subparagraph 34.e, Enbridge shall use the ILI-reported values applicable to any features under investigation for purposes of identifying Features Requiring Excavation and compiling the Dig List, in accordance with Subsection VII.D.(III). Upon completion of any investigative dig program, Enbridge may revise the Dig List to the extent that ILI data adjusted in accordance with Subparagraph 34.e.(3) results in changes in the identification of Features Requiring Excavation.
- g. Enbridge shall repair or mitigate, at the time of the investigative dig, any feature found during the investigative dig that meets one or more of the dig-selection criteria in Subsection VII.D.(V), below.

(III) Identification of Features Requiring Excavation

- 35. Following each ILI, Enbridge shall evaluate each feature identified in the Initial ILI Report to determine whether the feature is a Feature Requiring Excavation.
- 36. For the purposes of this Consent Decree, the term "Feature Requiring Excavation" shall mean any Crack feature, Corrosion feature, or Geometric feature that meets one or more of the dig-selection criteria in Subsection VII.D.(V), below. With respect to Crack features and Corrosion features, Enbridge shall apply three methods to identify a Feature Requiring Excavation. First, Enbridge shall estimate the lowest pressure at which the feature is predicted to rupture or leak ("Predicted Burst Pressure") using the procedures set forth in Subsection VII.D.(IV), below. Second, Enbridge shall estimate the amount of time remaining until the

feature is predicted to rupture or leak ("Remaining Life") using the procedures set forth in Subsection VII.D.(VI), below. Finally, Enbridge shall consider other unique characteristics of the feature using the criteria set forth in Subsection VII.D.(V). With respect to Geometric features, Enbridge shall apply only the latter method in identifying a Feature Requiring Excavation.

37. Following each ILI of any Lakehead System Pipeline, other than an ILI that is determined to be invalid as provided in Paragraph 28.c, above, Enbridge shall identify all Crack features, Corrosion features, and Geometric features detected by the ILI that are Features Requiring Excavation and add such features to the electronic list of features scheduled for excavation and repair or mitigation ("Dig List") in accordance with the schedule below, but in no event shall such actions occur more than 180 Days after the ILI tool is removed from the pipeline at the conclusion of any ILI investigation.

METHOD OF IDENTIFYING FEATURES REQUIRING EXCAVATION	APPLICABLE DEADLINES FOR INDENTIFYING FEATURES REQUIRING EXCAVATION AND PLACING SUCH FEATURES ON THE DIG LIST
Features that are identified as Features Requiring Excavation based upon their Predicted Burst Pressure	Enbridge shall complete identification of all such Features Requiring Excavation and add such features to the Dig List within five Days of calculating the Predicted Burst Pressure of the features in accordance with Subsection VII.D.(IV), below.
Features that are identified as Features Requiring Excavation based upon their Remaining Life	Enbridge shall complete identification of all such Features Requiring Excavation and add such features to the Dig List within five Days of calculating the Remaining Life of the features in accordance with Subsection VII.D.(VI) below.

METHOD OF IDENTIFYING FEATURES REQUIRING EXCAVATION	APPLICABLE DEADLINES FOR INDENTIFYING FEATURES REQUIRING EXCAVATION AND PLACING SUCH FEATURES ON THE DIG LIST
Features that are identified as Features Requiring Excavation based upon reasons other than their Predicted Burst Pressure or their Remaining Life	Enbridge shall complete identification of all such Features Requiring Excavation and add such features to the Dig List within 5 Days of completing the preliminary review of the Initial ILI Report, provided that such a review does not identify any data quality concerns relating to the feature. For those features with data quality concerns, Enbridge shall complete identification of all Features Requiring Excavation and add such features to the Dig List within 5 Days after resolving those data quality concerns.

- 38. For each Feature Requiring Excavation placed on the Dig List, including any Feature Requiring Excavation placed on the Dig List pursuant to Subparagraph 40.c, below, Enbridge shall take the following actions:
- a. Establish excavation and repair deadlines that take into account the level of the threat posed by the feature, but in no event shall the deadline for any feature exceed the number of Days allotted for excavation and repair of the feature as set forth Subsection VII.D.(V), below. If a feature meets more than one dig-selection criteria in Subsection VII.D.(V), below, Enbridge shall excavate and repair the feature in accordance with the shortest applicable timetable for excavation and repair of the feature, and
- b. Establish any pressure restriction required for such feature pursuant to Subsection VII.D.(V), below. In any case where such a feature is subject to more than one pressure restriction under Subsection VII.D.(V), Enbridge shall establish the pressure restriction that results in the lowest operating pressure at the location of the feature.

- (1) Although the pressure restriction requirements in Subsection VII.D.(V) for any individual feature are expressed in terms of "point pressure restriction values" (i.e., the maximum permissible pressure at the location of the feature), the pressure restriction requirement may be satisfied by limiting the discharge pressure at the nearest upstream pump station to a level that assures compliance with the point pressure restriction value at the location of the feature.
- (2) In any case where a feature subject to a pressure restriction under VII.D.(V) is located in a pipeline segment for which any discharge pressure restriction has been established, Enbridge must maintain compliance with the applicable discharge pressure restriction even if it reduces operating pressure at the location of such feature below the level established under Section VII.D.(V).
- 39. Following each ILI, Enbridge shall excavate and repair or mitigate all identified Features Requiring Excavation on the pipeline that was the subject of the ILI, in accordance with Subsection VII.D.(V). During such excavations, Enbridge shall obtain and record field measurements of all features on the excavated sections of such pipeline, except as provided below in this Paragraph 39. If Enbridge excavates any additional sections of such pipeline following the ILI, including investigative digs pursuant to Paragraph 34.e, above, Enbridge shall also obtain and record field measurements of all features on such additional pipeline sections, except as provided below in this Paragraph.
- a. In cases where an excavated section of pipe contains a high volume of unreported features, Enbridge need not collect and record field measurements of all features observed in the field, provided that (1) Enbridge obtains and records field measurements of all features that were identified by the ILI, as well as the five worst features not identified by the ILI;

- (2) Enbridge records the total number of unreported features that are detectible within ILI tool specifications and includes that information in its next Semi-Annual Report; and (3) Enbridge repairs or mitigates the features on such section of pipe by sleeving or replacing such section of pipe, or by grinding or blasting and recoating features on such section of pipe. In the case of unreported Crack features and unreported Corrosion features, features with the lowest predicted burst pressures shall be deemed to be the worst features.
- b. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Enbridge shall not be required for purposes of this Paragraph to record any field measurement values that are below the ILI tool detection thresholds.
- 40. Within 30 Days after completing excavation of all Features Requiring Excavation identified on a pipeline based on any Initial ILI Report, Enbridge shall complete an analysis of field data obtained during all excavations conducted on such pipeline subsequent to the ILI, including investigative digs pursuant to Paragraph 34.e, above, and determine whether field data indicate that the ILI tool tended to understate the actual severity of features on the excavated sections of the pipeline ("ILI tool depth bias"). In performing the analysis required by this Paragraph, Enbridge shall consider all field data that has sufficient precision and reliability to assess the accuracy of the ILI-reported data. This determination shall be based on a statistical analysis indicating either that (i) field measurements of feature depths on excavated sections of the pipeline exceed ILI-reported feature depths on excavated sections of the pipeline by more than one tool tolerance, or that (ii) burst pressures of features on excavated pipe segments calculated using field measurement values of feature length and depths ("Field Burst Pressure") are lower than burst pressures for the same features calculated using the ILI-reported feature length and depth ("ILI Burst Pressure"). Both Field Burst Pressure and ILI Burst Pressure values shall be

calculated in accordance with Subsection VII.D.(IV), below, and Appendix B, except that the Field Burst Pressure value for each feature may be calculated using all recorded depth measurements for the feature, rather than using the maximum reported feature depth value and a flaw profile approximation, such as parabolic or rectangular.

- a. If Enbridge uses a statistical analysis of Field Burst Pressure values and ILI Burst Pressure values for features on excavated sections of any pipeline for the determination required in this Paragraph 40, and that analysis indicates that Field Burst Pressure values are greater than or equal to ILI Burst Pressure values, ILI-reported values concerning the length and depth of reported features shall be considered acceptable for purposes of this Paragraph 40, and Enbridge shall not be required to adjust any predicted burst pressure values previously calculated in accordance with Subsection VII.D.(IV), below, or any Remaining Life estimates calculated under Subsection VII. D.(VI), below, and Enbridge will not be required to add any new features to the Dig List.
- b. If Enbridge uses a statistical analysis of Field Burst Pressure values and ILI Burst Pressure values for features on excavated sections of any pipeline for the determination required in this Paragraph 40, and that analysis indicates that Field Burst Pressure values are lower than ILI Burst Pressure calculations on such excavated pipeline sections, Enbridge shall (i) revise the calculated burst pressure values previously calculated in accordance with Subsection VII.D.(IV) below, for all remaining unrepaired features on such pipeline, to appropriately account for the reduction in burst pressure values established on the basis of field measurements, and (ii) revise Remaining Life estimates previously calculated in accordance with Subsection VII.D.(VI), below, for all unrepaired features on such pipeline to appropriately account for additional information regarding feature depth obtained during excavations. To the extent that the revised

burst pressure or Remaining Life calculations indicate that any features remaining on such pipeline are Features Requiring Excavation, such features shall be added to the Dig List within 5 Days after completing the relevant calculations.

- If Enbridge does not undertake a statistical analysis comparing Field Burst c. Pressure values and ILI Burst pressure values of features on excavated sections of a pipeline pursuant to this Paragraph 40. Enbridge must complete a statistical analysis that compares field measurements of feature depth and ILI-reported feature depth on such excavated pipeline sections for the determination that is required by this Paragraph 40. Except as provided in Subparagraph 40.a, above, if field measurements of feature depth exceed ILI-reported feature depth values by more than one tool tolerance, Enbridge shall quantify the magnitude of any ILI tool depth bias. Not more than five (5) Days after determining the magnitude of any ILI tool depth bias, Enbridge shall add the ILI tool bias to the ILI-reported depth of all unrepaired features, and complete revised Predicted Burst Pressure calculations and Remaining Life calculations in accordance with Subsections VII.D.(IV) and VII.D.(VI), below, and determine whether any additional features qualify as Features Requiring Excavation when the revised feature depth values are taken into account. Upon determining that any feature is a Feature Requiring Excavation, Enbridge shall add such feature to the Dig List immediately, but in no event longer than 5 Days after the determination required by this Paragraph 40.
- 41. For each ILI investigation, Enbridge shall maintain electronic records relating to ILI data, including, but not limited to: (1) identification of the ILI tool used for each inspection, the types of features the ILI tool is being used to detect, characterize, and size, and the basis for Enbridge's determination that the ILI tool used is the most appropriate tool for accurately detecting, characterizing and sizing such features; (2) any notification from the ILI vendor that an

ILI could not be completed or was invalid; (3) information relating to any Priority Features. including the date the vendor notified Enbridge of the feature, the date Enbridge confirmed the feature, if applicable, and excavation/repair date of each such feature; (4) information identifying the ILI vendor and tool; (5) in the case of corrosion tools, Enbridge's determinations whether the tool is capable of detecting Axial Slotting and seam weld anomaly A/B features; (6) the date on which the ILI tool was removed from the pipeline at the conclusion of the ILI; (7) the date Enbridge received the Initial ILI Report from the vendor; (8) the date on which Enbridge completed its preliminary review of the Initial ILI Report; (9) a description of each data quality concern identified by Enbridge in its preliminary review of the Initial ILI Report, and the pipeline section(s) affected by each such identified data quality concern; (10) the date or dates on which Enbridge resolved each identified data quality concern, and a description of how the concern was resolved; (11) the date or dates on which each feature was classified as a Feature Requiring Excavation or non-injurious feature; (12) the date that each Feature Requiring Excavation was added to the Dig List; (13) the date that each Feature Requiring Excavation was scheduled for excavation and repair or mitigation; and (14) the date each Feature Requiring Excavation was actually excavated and repaired. Notwithstanding any corporate record retention policy, Enbridge shall maintain such records until five years after termination of the Consent Decree, and Enbridge shall make such records available to the United States upon request.

(IV) Predicted Burst Pressure/Fitness for Service

42. Except as provided below in this Paragraph 42, Enbridge shall calculate the Predicted Burst Pressure of all Crack features and Corrosion features identified by ILI tools, in accordance with the requirements of this Subsection VII.D.(IV). Enbridge shall not be required to calculate the Predicted Burst Pressure of:

- a. any feature that Enbridge verifies was previously excavated and mitigated by installation of a sleeve around the section of pipe where the feature is located;
- b. any feature that Enbridge verifies was mitigated by grinding or blasting and recoating, provided that the feature dimensions reported by the ILI, factoring in the ILI tool tolerance, are no larger than the dimensions of the mitigated feature at the time mitigation was performed;
- c. any Crack feature for which the ILI tool reported a saturated signal; provided, however, that all such Crack features shall be excavated and repaired or mitigated in accordance with the dig selection criteria for "Crack feature with a Saturated Signal" in Subsection VII.D.(V); or
 - d. Crack or Corrosion features within dents.
- 43. For purposes of the Consent Decree, the Predicted Burst Pressure of a feature refers to the lowest pressure in the pipeline at the location of the feature that would be predicted to result in failure of the feature. Enbridge shall calculate the Predicted Burst Pressure of features in accordance with the inputs and procedures in Appendix B.
- 44. Following each ILI to assess any pipeline for Crack features or Corrosion features, Enbridge shall complete initial Predicted Burst Pressure calculations and initial Remaining Life calculations for all Crack or Corrosion features, as applicable (except as provided in Paragraph 42) as expeditiously as practicable after completing data quality review of the feature and/or pipeline section where the feature is located, in accordance with Subsection VII.D.(II), above, but in no event later than:
- a. In the case of any Priority Feature, two Days after receiving the Priority Feature notification referred to in Paragraph 33 above, and

- b. In the case of all other features, the earlier of:
- (1) 8 weeks after completing data quality review with respect to the feature and/or pipeline section where the feature is located, and
- (2) 175 Days after the ILI tool was removed from the pipeline at the conclusion of the ILI.
- 45. Notwithstanding any corporate record retention policy, Enbridge shall maintain electronic records documenting all Predicted Burst Pressure calculations, and all Remaining Life calculations, including inputs and the dates on which such calculations were completed with respect to particular features, until five years after termination of the Consent Decree. Enbridge shall make such records available to the United States upon request.

(V) Dig Selection Criteria

- 46. Enbridge shall excavate and repair or mitigate all features that meet dig selection criteria set forth below in this Subsection VII.D.(V). During each excavation required pursuant to this Subsection VII.D.(V), Enbridge shall: (i) inspect all excavated portions of the pipeline and collect field measurements of features on excavated portions of the pipeline, as provided in Paragraph 39; (ii) determine, based on an analysis of field measurement values of feature length and depth and any other relevant field observations, whether such excavated portions of the pipeline contain any additional features, not previously identified on the Dig List, that satisfy one or more of the dig selection criteria identified in this Subsection VII.D.(V); and (iii) repair or mitigate all such additional features in accordance with this Subsection VII.D.(V).
- a. Except as provided below in this Subparagraph or in Subparagraphs 46.c g, Enbridge shall complete the excavation, repair and mitigation of all Features Requiring Excavation in accordance with the timeframes specified in Tables 1 through 5, or other timeframe

authorized pursuant to Paragraph 49, below. In the case of any features that are determined to meet dig selection criteria in this Subsection VII.D.(V) based on an analysis of field measurement values for feature length and depth or other field observations, rather than being placed on the Dig List based on an analysis of ILI-reported values for feature length and depth, Enbridge shall repair or mitigate such features at the time of the excavation.

- b. Except as provided below in Subparagraphs 46.c g, pending completion of the excavation and repair or mitigation of Features Requiring Excavation, Enbridge shall establish and maintain interim pressure restrictions at the location of such features, in accordance with and to the extent provided below in this Subsection VII.D.(V).
- c. In lieu of the timetables below in this Subsection VII.D.(V) for excavation and repair or mitigation of Features Requiring Excavation, Enbridge may, subject to the limitations set forth in Subparagraphs 46.e and f, below, and subject to EPA disapproval as provided in Subparagraph 46.m, below, adopt and implement an alternate plan and timetable for excavation and repair or mitigation of specified Features Requiring Excavation ("Alternate Plan") as specified below in this Paragraph 46 if the requirements set forth in either Subparagraph 46.c.(1) or (2) are satisfied.
 - (1) Enbridge demonstrates that compliance with the applicable timetables below in this Subsection VII.D.(V) for repair or mitigation of the specified features is not practicable due to the extraordinary scope or complexity of the required excavation and repair or mitigation of the specified features. For purposes of this subparagraph, the cost of an excavation and repair or mitigation shall not be sufficient by itself to establish the scope or complexity of a required excavation or the practicability of the applicable timetables in this Subsection VII.D.(V).

- (2) Enbridge proposes to replace a section of pipeline, rather than repairing all identified Features Requiring Excavation in that section of pipeline, and it is not practicable to complete replacement of such pipeline section in accordance with the applicable timetables in this Subsection VII.D.(V).
- (3) Whenever Enbridge determines that compliance with the circumstances described in Paragraph 46.c.(1) or (2) are present, Enbridge shall, subject to EPA disapproval in accordance with Subparagraph 46.m below, develop and implement an Alternate Plan for excavation and repair or mitigation of such feature, that satisfies the requirements set forth below in this Paragraph 46. An Alternate Plan may include provisions for excavation and repair of more than one Feature Requiring Excavation, subject to the limitations in Subparagraph 46.e. Each such Alternate Plan shall (i) include a timetable for completing, as expeditiously as practicable, excavation and repair or mitigation of each Feature Requiring Excavation covered by the Plan, and (ii) identify all interim measures, including interim pressure restrictions, that are included in the Alternate Plan in order to assure and maintain compliance with the requirements of Subparagraph 46.g.(1).
- d. In lieu of one or more requirements below in this Subsection VII.D.(V) relating to the establishment of interim pressure restrictions for particular Features Requiring Excavation, Enbridge may, subject to the limitations set forth in Subparagraphs 46.e. and f, below, and subject to EPA disapproval as provided in Subparagraph 46.m, below, adopt and implement alternate interim pressure restriction requirements for specified Features Requiring Excavation in accordance with Subparagraph 46.g, below, if Enbridge demonstrates that (i) compliance with the interim pressure restriction provisions below in Subsection VII.D.(V)

applicable to the specified features would significantly impair operability of the pipeline pending completion of the repair or mitigation of the specified features, or (ii) that compliance with the interim pressure restrictions below in this Subsection VII.D.(V), will result in significant adverse effects on pipeline integrity in the period prior to mitigation or repair of the feature.

- e. During the life of the Consent Decree, Enbridge may not submit more than a total of forty proposals that include either Alternate Plans as provided for in Paragraph 46.c or alternate interim pressure restrictions as provided in Paragraph 46.d, and such proposals may not cover more than a cumulative total of 200 excavations of Joints with Features Requiring Excavation. A single excavation may include two or more contiguous Joints, provided that the maximum number of contiguous Joints in an excavation does not exceed 10.
- f. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Paragraph 46, Enbridge may not adopt and implement an Alternate Plan as provided for in Subparagraph 46.c or an alternate pressure restriction as provided for in Subparagraph 46.d for any saturated signal Crack feature that presents a rupture threat. For purposes of this Subparagraph, a feature shall be deemed to present a rupture threat if the ILI-measured length of the feature is equal to or longer than the leak-rupture boundary as determined in accordance PR-218-05404. For purposes of this Consent Decree, the leak-rupture boundary shall be two times the value of the variable "c" as determined in equation numbers 9 and 10 at p. 25 of PR-218-05404 (May 2011).
- g. Subject to Subparagraph 46.c, Enbridge may adopt an Alternate Plan governing excavation and mitigation or repair of features, as provided in Subparagraph 46.c, or alternate pressure restriction requirements and timetables as provided in Subparagraph 46.d, for specified features if:

- engineering practices and principles, that demonstrates that the Alternate Plan or alternate pressure restriction requirements adopted by Enbridge will achieve a level of safety for all Features Requiring Excavation covered by the Alternate Plan or by the alternate pressure restriction requirements that is greater than or equal to the level of safety achieved through compliance with the requirements of this Subsection VII.D.(V) applicable to such feature or features; and
- (2) Within 10 Days after completing the EA and at least 10 Days prior to any deadline for excavation, and repair or mitigation of such feature or features under applicable provisions of this Subsection VII.D.(V), Enbridge provides EPA with a written notification that:
 - a) describes, in the case of an Alternate Plan as provided for in Subparagraph 46.c, (i) the measures that Enbridge proposes to implement for a specified feature or set of features, including any interim pressure restrictions or other interim measures that will be implemented until excavation and repair or mitigation of features is completed, and (ii) the timelines for implementing all such measures and completing the excavation, and repair or mitigation of such features as expeditiously as practicable; and
 - b) describes, in the case of any alternative interim pressure restriction as provided in Subparagraph 46.d, the alternate interim pressure restriction as well as the timeline for implementing such alternate interim pressure restriction as expeditiously as practicable,

- c) explains how the Alternate Plan or alternate interim pressure restriction adopted by Enbridge meet all applicable requirements and conditions in Subparagraphs 46.c f above, and
- d) includes a copy of the EA, signed by a registered professional engineer who certifies that the EA is accurate and consistent with the requirements of this Paragraph.
- h. Any Alternate Plan provided for in Subparagraph 46.c may include, as one element of the Plan, establishment of a temporary pressure restriction pending excavation and repair or mitigation of the feature or features covered by the Plan. For purposes of this Consent Decree, pressure restrictions or other interim measures prior to excavation shall not constitute repair or mitigation of a feature.
- i. Nothing in this Subparagraph shall be construed to allow Enbridge to adopt and implement any Alternate Plan or alternate interim that does not comply with all applicable laws and regulations.
- j. Unless Enbridge receives a notification in accordance with Subparagraph 46.m that EPA has disapproved an Alternate Plan provided for in Subparagraph 46.c. or an alternate interim pressure restriction and timetable provided for in Subparagraph 46.d, Enbridge shall implement each proposed Alternate Plan and each proposed alternate interim pressure restriction and timetable in accordance with the timetable for implementation of such Alternate Plan or alternate interim pressure restriction as set forth in the applicable notification submitted pursuant to Paragraph 46.g.(2).
- k. In each instance for which Enbridge proposes or implements an Alternate Plan as provided for in Subparagraph 46.c or an alternate interim pressure restriction as provided

for in Subparagraph 46.d, Enbridge shall maintain all documentation relating to the selection and implementation of the Alternate Plan or alternate interim pressure restriction, and Enbridge shall make such documents available to EPA upon request, consistent with the requirements of Section X (Information Collection and Retention).

1. In each Semi-Annual Report required pursuant to Paragraph 143, below, Enbridge shall include, for each Lakehead System Pipeline, a complete description of all instances during the reporting period in which Enbridge adopted and/or implemented an Alternate Plan as provided for in Subparagraph 46.c or an alternate interim pressure restriction as provided for in Subparagraph 46.d. For each such instance, the description shall provide all of the following information: (i) a detailed description of each Alternate Plan and each alternate interim pressure restriction adopted and/or implemented by Enbridge during the reporting period, including a description of the number of Features Requiring Excavation covered by each Alternate Plan and each alternate interim pressure restriction, and a description of the timetables for implementing each Alternate Plan or alternate interim pressure restriction; (ii) an explanation of how the conditions in Subparagraphs 46.c - f. are satisfied with respect to each such Alternate Plan and each alternate interim pressure restriction; (iii) a discussion of the basis for selecting each such Alternate Plan and each such alternate interim pressure restriction, including the basis for all alternate timetables established by Enbridge, and a description of relevant supporting information; (iv) documentation of the date Enbridge completed the EA and the date Enbridge provided the notification referred to in Subparagraph 46.g.(2); (v) a detailed description of the analysis comparing the level of safety achieved by each such Alternate Plan and/or the alternate interim pressure restriction with the level of safety that would be achieved through compliance with the requirements of Subsection VII.D.(V); (vi) a description of activities undertaken by

Enbridge during the reporting period to implement each such Alternate Plan and each such alternate interim pressure restrictions, and (vii) the dates on which Enbridge completed implementation of any component of each such Alternate Plan and each such alternate interim pressure restriction during the reporting period. To the extent that any Alternate Plan as provided in Subparagraph 46.c or any alternate interim pressure restriction as provided in Subparagraph 46.d is not fully implemented during the reporting period covered by a Semi-Annual Report, Enbridge shall describe additional implementation activities and update the status of its implementation of the established timetables for such Alternate Plan and the timetables for implementation of any such alternate interim pressure restrictions in subsequent Semi-Annual Reports.

m. If EPA determines that any Alternate Plan as provided for in Subparagraph 46.c or any alternate interim pressure restriction as provided for under Subparagraph 46.d, (i) does not achieve a level of safety equal to or greater than the level of safety achieved for such feature through application of the requirements of Section VII.D.(V), or (ii) does not satisfy any condition or requirement in Subparagraphs 46.c - f, EPA shall notify Enbridge in writing of its disapproval of the Alternate Plan or alternate interim pressure restriction adopted by Enbridge. Following any such written disapproval of an Alternate Plan under Subparagraph 46.c for excavation and mitigation or repair of one or more Features Requiring Excavation, Enbridge shall complete the excavation and repair or mitigation of each feature covered by such Alternate Plan within 30 Days after receipt of notification of the disapproval of the Alternate Plan, or by the applicable deadline as originally established below in this Subsection VII.D.(V) for excavation and repair or mitigation of each such feature, whichever is later. Following any disapproval of any alternate pressure restriction under Subparagraph 46.d

with respect to any Feature Requiring Excavation, Enbridge shall limit the operating pressure at the location of each such feature so that the pressure at each such location does not exceed the level authorized in this Subsection VII.D.(V), unless the feature has already been excavated and mitigated or repaired in accordance with this Subsection VII.D.(V) at that point.

- A7. Dig-Selection Criteria and Pressure Restriction Requirements for Crack Features:

 Enbridge shall excavate and repair or mitigate each Crack feature that meets one (or more) of the

 Dig Selection Criteria set forth in Table 1, in accordance with the timeframes specified in column

 2 of Table 1. Enbridge shall also establish pressure restrictions for such Crack features consistent

 with applicable requirements and timeframes specified in column 3 of Table 1. The requirements

 set forth in Table 1 are applicable to Crack features in all sections of pipelines, regardless of

 whether the feature is located in an High Consequence Area or not. Enbridge shall also excavate

 and repair or mitigate Crack features that intersect or interact with Corrosion features or

 Geometric features, and establish appropriate pressure restrictions for such interacting features, as

 provided in Table 5 and Paragraph 59, below.
- 48. A Crack feature may satisfy more than one dig selection criterion in Table 1 or Table 5. In such a case, Enbridge shall repair or mitigate the feature in accordance with the shortest deadline established under any applicable dig selection criteria. In any case where such a feature is subject to more than one pressure restriction under this Subsection VII.D.(V), Enbridge shall establish the pressure restriction that results in the lowest operating pressure at the location of the feature.

Table 1 – Criteria and Timelines Governing Excavation, Repair and Imposition of Pressure Restrictions for Crack Features		
Dig Selection Criteria	Maximum time from date that feature is placed on the Dig List until date that feature is repaired/mitigated	Pressure Restriction – Maximum allowable pressure at location of feature until feature is repaired/mitigated
Crack feature with a saturated signal	As expeditiously as practicable but not to exceed 30 Days	No later than 2 Days after determination that feature meets dig selection criteria, operating pressure at the location of the feature shall be limited to 80% of the highest actual operating pressure at that location during the last 60 Days.
Crack feature with a Predicted Burst Pressure that is less than the Established Maximum Operating pressure ("MOP")	As expeditiously as practicable, but not to exceed 30 Days	No later than 2 Days after determination that feature meets dig selection criteria, operating pressure at the location of the feature shall be limited to the Predicted Burst Pressure ÷ 1.25 or the highest actual operating pressure at that location over the last 60 Days, whichever is lower
Any Crack feature with a depth greater than 70% of the wall thickness and Predicted Burst Pressure that is less than the established MOP	As expeditiously as practicable, but not to exceed 30 Days	No later than 2 Days after determination that feature meets dig selection criteria, operating pressure at the location of the feature shall be limited to the Predicted Burst Pressure ÷ 1.25 or the highest actual operating pressure at that location over the last 60 Days, whichever is lower

Table 1 – Criteria and Timelines Governing Excavation, Repair and Imposition of Pressure Restrictions for Crack Features		
Dig Selection Criteria	Maximum time from date that feature is placed on the Dig List until date that feature is repaired/mitigated	Pressure Restriction – Maximum allowable pressure at location of feature until feature is repaired/mitigated
Any Crack feature with a Predicted Burst Pressure that is less than 1.25 x the established MOP	Not to exceed 180 Days except as provided below in Paragraph 49	No later than 2 Days after determination that feature meets dig selection criteria, operating pressure at the location of the feature shall be limited to the Predicted Burst Pressure ÷ 1.25
Any Crack feature with a Remaining Life (determined in accordance with Subsection VII.D.(VI), below) that is less than 5 years (i.e., a feature that is predicted to grow, within five years (or less), to a point where its Predicted Burst Pressure will be less than the established MOP).	365 Days, except that if the Remaining Life of the feature is ≤ 365 Days from the time the feature was added to the Dig List, then repair/mitigation shall be as expeditiously as practicable, and in no event longer than 30 Days	N/A
Any Crack feature with a Remaining Life that is less than 2 x the planned re-inspection interval.	365 Days, except that if the Remaining Life of the feature is ≤ 365 Days from the time the feature was added to the Dig List, then repair/ mitigation shall be as expeditiously as practicable, and in no event longer than 30 Days	N/A

49. a. If Enbridge concludes and documents that it is not practicable to complete the excavation and repair or mitigation of any Feature Requiring Excavation on any Lakehead System Pipeline within any 180 Day period specified in Table 1 through 5 of this Subsection

VII.D.(V), due to seasonal considerations or unusual circumstances. Enbridge may, subject to the requirements specified below in this Paragraph, complete the excavation and repair of such Features Requiring Excavation as expeditiously as practicable after the applicable 180-Day time period, but not to exceed 365 Days from the date the feature was placed on the Dig List. For purposes of this Paragraph, seasonal considerations or unusual circumstances may include: situations in which excavations during winter months will substantially reduce potential adverse impacts of the excavation on wetland ecosystems and the risk that the identified feature will result in a leak or rupture is low; situations in which excavations during periods of low flow conditions will substantially reduce adverse impact on riverine or floodplain ecosystems and the risk that the identified feature will result in a leak or rupture is low; or situations involving excavations near known populations of Threatened or Endangered Species where a delay in the excavation will reduce adverse impacts on the identified species and the risk that the identified feature will result in a leak or a rupture is low. For purposes of this Paragraph, neither the number of required excavations, nor the costs of any required excavation, nor the availability of staff, contractors or equipment, nor the ability to obtain a permit or authorization, shall be considered unusual circumstances that establish the impracticability of completing excavation and repair of features within a 180 Day time period.

b. For each instance in which Enbridge asserts that an excavation is subject to an extended deadline pursuant to the provisions of this Paragraph 49, Enbridge shall include in the next Semi-Annual Report required pursuant to Paragraph 143: (1) a detailed description of the seasonal consideration or unusual circumstances that supports extension of the excavation deadline; (2) an explanation of the specific reasons why the seasonal considerations or unusual

circumstances caused such a delay; and (3) a schedule for completing the excavation within 365 Days from the date the Feature Requiring Excavation was placed on the Dig List.

- c. If it is not practicable, as described in this Paragraph, to meet an applicable 180 Day deadline in Tables 1 through 5, above, for excavating and repairing or mitigating any Feature Requiring Excavation, Enbridge shall, prior to expiration of the 180-Day period, establish and/or maintain appropriate pressure restrictions limiting the maximum operating pressure at the location of each such feature, as provided below in this Paragraph 49. The maximum operating pressure at the location of each such feature shall not exceed the following:
 - (1) In the case of any feature for which a pressure restriction was previously required pursuant to this Subsection VII.D.(V), Enbridge shall limit the maximum allowable operating pressure at the location of the feature as follows:
 - a) In the case of Geometric Features listed in Table 4 or 5,
 Enbridge shall reduce the maximum allowable operating pressure at the location of
 the feature by an additional 5% below the previously established operating
 pressure restriction;
 - b) In the case of Crack Features, Enbridge shall recalculate the Predicted Burst Pressure of each feature, taking into consideration the predicted growth of the feature (in terms of both length and depth) between the time of the ILI and the end of the prescribed 180-Day period for repair or mitigation of such feature, and if the recalculated Predicted Burst Pressure of any feature is less than 1.25 x the Established MOP at the location of the feature, Enbridge shall limit the maximum allowable operating pressure at the location of the feature to the recalculated Burst Pressure divided by 1.25.

- c) In the case of Corrosion Features, Enbridge shall recalculate the Predicted Burst Pressure of each feature, taking into consideration the predicted growth of the feature (in terms of both length and depth) between the time of the ILI and the end of the prescribed 180-Day period for repair or mitigation of such feature, and if the recalculated Predicted Burst Pressure of any feature is less than 1.39 x the Established MOP at the location of the feature, Enbridge shall limit the maximum allowable operating pressure at the location of the feature to the recalculated Burst Pressure divided by 1.39.
- (2) In the case of any Crack Feature or Corrosion Feature for which a pressure restriction was not required under this Subsection VII.D.(V), Enbridge shall limit the operating pressure at the location of the feature to the predicted burst pressure of the feature divided by 1.39.
- d. Enbridge shall maintain any pressure restriction referred to in Subparagraph 49.c until excavation and repair or mitigation of the feature has been completed.
- e. In each Semi-Annual Report required pursuant to Section IX (Reporting Requirements) of this Consent Decree, Enbridge shall identify all instances in which it was not practicable to complete excavation and mitigation or repair of Features Requiring Excavation on any Lakehead System Pipeline in accordance with a 180-Day timeframe established in Tables 1 through 5 of this Subsection VII.D.(V), the reason it was impracticable to meet the deadline, and the date when excavation and repair was completed or will be completed.
- 50. <u>Dig-Selection Criteria for Corrosion Features</u>: Enbridge shall excavate and repair or mitigate each Corrosion feature that meets one (or more) of the Dig Selection Criteria set forth

in the Table 2, below, and establish pressure restrictions for identified Corrosion features as provided in Paragraph 52.

- a. In the case of Corrosion features located in any HCA, Enbridge shall complete the excavation and repair or mitigation in accordance with the timeframes specified in column 2 of Table 2.
- b. In the case of Corrosion features that are not located within an HCA,
 Enbridge shall complete the excavation and repair or mitigation of the feature in accordance with
 the timeframe specified in column 3 of Table 2. Enbridge shall also excavate and repair or
 mitigate Corrosion features that intersect or interact with Crack features, dents, or other
 Geometric features and establish pressure restrictions for such interacting features, as provided in
 Table 5 and Paragraph 59 below.
- 51. A Corrosion feature may satisfy more than one dig selection criterion. In such a case, Enbridge shall repair or mitigate the feature in accordance with the shortest deadline established under any applicable dig selection criteria. In any case where such a feature is subject to more than one pressure restriction under this Subsection VII.D.(V), Enbridge shall establish the pressure restriction that results in the lowest operating pressure at the location of the feature.

Table 2 – Criteria and Timelines Governing Excavation and Repair of Corrosion Features		
Dig Selection Criteria	Maximum time from date that feature is placed on the Dig List until date that feature is repaired/mitigated	
	HCA	Non-HCA
Any Corrosion feature with a depth greater than 80% of the wall thickness of the joint where the feature is located. Wall thickness shall be determined in accordance with Appendix B, Paragraph 4.	As expeditiously as practicable, but not to exceed 30 Days	As expeditiously as practicable, but not to exceed 30 Days

Table 2 – Criteria and Timelines Governing Excavation and Repair of Corrosion Features		
Dig Selection Criteria	Maximum time from date that feature is placed on the Dig List until date that feature is repaired/mitigated	
	НСА	Non-HCA
Any Corrosion feature with a Predicted Burst Pressure is less than the established MOP	As expeditiously as practicable, but not to exceed 30 Days	As expeditiously as practicable, but not to exceed 30 Days
Any Corrosion feature with a Predicted Burst Pressure that is less than 1.39 times the established maximum operating pressure	Not to exceed 180 Days except as provided in Paragraph 49	365 Days
With respect to any Lakehead System Pipeline other than those portions of Original US Line 3 that are located outside an HCA, any Corrosion feature with a depth greater than 50% wall thickness but less than 80% of wall thickness. Wall thickness shall be determined in accordance with Appendix B, Paragraph 4.	Not to exceed 180 Days except as provided in Paragraph 49	365 Days
With respect to those portions of Original US Line 3 that are located outside an HCA, any Corrosion feature with a depth greater than 65% wall thickness but less than 80% of wall thickness. Wall thickness shall be determined in accordance with Appendix B, Paragraph 4.	N/A	365 Days

Table 2 – Criteria and Timelines Governing Excavation and Repair of Corrosion Features		
Dig Selection Criteria	Maximum time from date that feature is placed on the Dig List until date that feature is repaired/mitigated	
	НСА	Non-HCA
Any Corrosion feature with a Remaining Life (determined in accordance with Subsection VII.D.(VI), below) that is less than 5 years (i.e., a feature that is predicted to grow, within five years (or less), to a point where its Predicted Burst Pressure will be less than the Established MOP); provided that this dig selection criterion shall not apply to Original U.S. Line 3, which is subject to annual ILIs	365 Days, except that if the Remaining Life of the feature is ≤ 365 Days from the time the feature was added to the Dig List, then repair/mitigation shall be as expeditiously as practicable, and in no event longer than 30 Days	365 Days, except that if the Remaining Life of the feature is ≤ 365 Days from the time the feature was added to the Dig List, then repair/mitigation shall be as expeditiously as practicable, and in no event longer than 30 Days
Any Corrosion feature with a Remaining Life that is less than 2 times the planned re-inspection interval.	365 Days, except that if the Remaining Life of the feature is ≤ 365 Days from the time the feature was added to the Dig List, then repair/mitigation shall be as expeditiously as practicable, and in no event longer than 30 Days	365 Days, except that if the Remaining Life of the feature is ≤ 365 Days from the time the feature was added to the Dig List, then repair/mitigation shall be as expeditiously as practicable, and in no event longer than 30 Days

- 52. Enbridge shall establish pressure restrictions for Corrosion features identified in Table 2, as provided below in this Paragraph, and Enbridge shall maintain such pressure restrictions until such time as the feature has been excavated and repaired.
- a. Within 2 Days after determining that any Corrosion feature has a depth greater than 80% of the wall thickness of the joint where the feature is located, Enbridge shall

limit the operating pressure at the location of such feature to not more than 80% of the highest actual operating pressure at that location during the last 60 Days.

- b. Within 2 Days after determining that any feature has a Rupture Pressure Ratio ("RPR") less than 1.00 or a Predicted Burst Pressure that is less than 1.39 times the Established MOP, Enbridge shall limit operating pressure at the location of the feature to the Predicted Burst Pressure divided by 1.39.
- 53. <u>Dig-Selection Criteria for Axial Slotting, Axial Grooving, Selective Seam</u>

 Corrosion and Seam Weld Anomaly A/B features.
- a. Prior to running each ILI, Enbridge shall determine whether the ILI tool design is adequate for assessing Axial Corrosion features, including Axial Slotting, Axial Grooving and Selective Seam Corrosion, and Crack features identified in the ILI report as Seam Weld Anomaly A/B features.
- b. In the case of ILI inspections performed using Circumferential Magnetic Flux Leakage or any other ILI tool determined to be adequate in accordance with the preceding Subparagraph 53.a, Enbridge shall excavate and repair or mitigate features that meet the dig selection criteria in Table 3, below, and establish pressure restrictions for such features as provided in Paragraph 54.
- c. In the case of features located within an HCA, Enbridge shall complete the excavation and repair or mitigation of features in accordance within the applicable timeframe specified in column 2 of Table 3.
- d. In the case of features not located within an HCA, Enbridge shall complete the excavation and repair or mitigation of features in accordance with the applicable timeframe in column 3 of Table 3. Enbridge shall also excavate and repair or mitigate Axial Slotting, Axial

Grooving, Selective Seam Corrosion features and Seam Weld anomaly A/B features that intersect or interact with Crack features, dents, or other Geometric features and establish pressure restrictions for such interacting features, if applicable, as provided in Table 5, and Paragraph 59, below.

Table 3 – Criteria and Timelines Governing Excavation and Repair of Axial Slotting, Axial Grooving, Selective Seam Corrosion and Seam Weld A/B Anomalies		
Dig Selection Criteria	Maximum time from date that feature is placed on the Dig List until date that feature is repaired/mitigated	
	НСА	Non-HCA
Any corrosion morphology associated with Axial Slotting, Axial Grooving or Selective seam Corrosion of or along a longitudinal seam weld, including any such features in the heat affected zone	Not to exceed 180 Days except as provided in Paragraph 49	365 Days
Any Axial Slotting feature located on the pipe body where the Predicted Burst Pressure of the feature is less than or equal to 1.25 x the established MOP	Not to exceed 180 Days except as provided in Paragraph 49	365 Days
Seam Weld Anomaly A/B where the Predicted Burst Pressure of the feature is less than or equal to 1.25 x the established MOP. (This criterion applies to features that have characteristics of Crack-like features but are detected by CMFL tools or other tools capable of detecting axial corrosion)	Not to exceed 180 Days except as provided below in Paragraph 49	365 Days

Table 3 – Criteria and Timelines Governing Excavation and Repair of Axial Slotting, Axial Grooving, Selective Seam Corrosion and Seam Weld A/B Anomalies		
Dig Selection Criteria	Maximum time from date that feature is placed on the Dig List until date that feature is repaired/mitigated	
	HCA	Non-HCA
Any Axial Slotting or seam weld anomaly A/B feature with a Remaining Life (determined in accordance with Subsection VII.D.(VI), below) that is less than 5 years (i.e., a feature that is predicted to grow, within five years (or less), to a point where its Predicted Burst Pressure will be less than the established MOP).	365 Days, except that if the Remaining Life of the feature is ≤ 365 Days from the time the feature was added to the Dig List, then repair/mitigation shall be as expeditiously as practicable, and in no event longer than 30 Days	365 Days, except that if the Remaining Life of the feature is ≤ 365 Days from the time the feature was added to the Dig List, then repair/mitigation shall be as expeditiously as practicable, and in no event longer than 30 Days
Any Axial Slotting or seam weld anomaly A/B feature with a Remaining Life that is less than 2 x the planned reinspection interval.	365 Days, except that if the Remaining Life of the feature is ≤ 365 Days from the time the feature was added to the Dig List, then repair/mitigation shall be as expeditiously as practicable, and in no event longer than 30 Days	365 Days, except that if the Remaining Life of the feature is ≤ 365 Days from the time the feature was added to the Dig List, then repair/mitigation shall be as expeditiously as practicable, and in no event longer than 30 Days

54. Enbridge shall establish pressure restrictions for features identified in Table 3, as provided below in this Paragraph, and Enbridge shall maintain such pressure restrictions until such time as the feature has been excavated and repaired. Within 2 Days after determining that any feature described in Table 3 has a Rupture Pressure Ratio ("RPR") less than 1.00 or a Predicted Burst Pressure that is less than 1.25 times the Established MOP, Enbridge shall limit

operating pressure at the location of the feature to not more than 80% of the Predicted Burst Pressure.

- 55. <u>Dig-Selection Criteria for Dents and Other Geometric Features.</u> Enbridge shall excavate and repair or mitigate each dent and other Geometric feature that meets one (or more) of the Dig Selection Criteria set forth in Table 4, and establish pressure restrictions for identified Geometric features as provided in Paragraph 57. In the case of dents or other Geometric features located in any HCA, Enbridge shall complete the excavation and repair or mitigation in accordance with the timeframes specified in column 2 of Table 4. In the case of dents or other Geometric features that are not located within an HCA, Enbridge shall complete the excavation and repair or mitigation of the features in accordance with the timeframe specified in column 3 of Table 4. Enbridge shall also excavate and repair or mitigate dents or other Geometric features that intersect or interact with Crack features or Corrosion features, and establish appropriate pressure restrictions for such interacting features, as provided in Table 5 and Paragraph 59 below.
- 56. A dent or other Geometric feature may satisfy more than one dig selection criterion. In such a case, Enbridge shall repair or mitigate the feature in accordance with the shortest deadline established under any applicable dig selection criteria. In any case where such a feature is subject to more than one pressure restriction under Subsection VII..D.(V), Enbridge shall establish the pressure restriction that results in the lowest operating pressure at the location of the feature.

Table 4 – Criteria and Timelines for Excavation and Repair of Dents and Other Geometric Features		
Category	Maximum time from date that feature is placed on the Dig List until date that feature is repaired/mitigated	
	HCAs	Non-HCAs
A dent located on the top of the pipeline (above the 4 and 8 o'clock positions) with a depth greater than 6% of the nominal diameter of the pipeline	As expeditiously as practicable, not to exceed 30 Days	As expeditiously as practicable, not to exceed 60 Days
A dent located on the top of the pipeline (above the 4 and 8 o'clock positions) with a depth that is greater than or equal to:		
a. 3% of the nominal diameter of the pipeline, in the case of a pipeline with a nominal diameter greater than or equal to 12 inches, OR	Not to exceed 60 Days	Not to exceed 180 Days, except as provided above in Paragraph 49
b. 0.250 inches in the case of any pipeline with a nominal diameter less than 12 inches.		
A dent located on the top of the pipeline (above the 4 and 8 o'clock positions) with a depth that is greater than or equal to:		
a. 2% of the nominal diameter of the pipeline, in the case of a pipeline with a nominal diameter greater than or equal to 12 inches, OR	Not to exceed 180 Days, except as provided in Paragraph 49	365 Days
b. 0.250 inches in the case of any pipeline with a nominal diameter less than 12 inches.		

Table 4 – Criteria and Timelines for Excavation and Repair of Dents and Other Geometric Features		
Category	Maximum time from date that feature is placed on the Dig List until date that feature is repaired/mitigated	
	HCAs	Non-HCAs
A dent on the bottom of the pipeline (below the 4 and 8 o'clock positions) with a depth that is greater than 6% of the nominal diameter of the pipeline.	Not to exceed 180 Days, except as provided in Paragraph 49	Not to exceed 180 Days, except as provided in Paragraph 49
With respect to any Lakehead System Pipeline other than those portions of Line 61 that are not in an HCA, any dent that affects pipe curvature at a girth weld or a longitudinal seam weld where the depth of the dent is greater than or equal to: a. 2% of the nominal diameter of the pipeline, provided that the diameter is equal to, or greater than, 12 inches, OR b. 0.250 inches for any pipeline with a nominal diameter less than 12 inches	Not to exceed 180 Days, except as provided in Paragraph 49	365 Days
With respect to those portions of Line 61 that are located outside of an HCA, any dent that affects the pipe curvature at a girth weld or a longitudinal weld and is shown to have a remaining life that is less than 2 times the planned reinspection interval determined through a fatigue assessment using a Finite Element Analysis (FEA) approach utilizing the ABAQUS or ANSYS FEA models.	N/A	365 Days

- 57. Enbridge shall establish pressure restrictions for dents or other Geometric features identified in Table 4, as provided below in this Paragraph 57, and Enbridge shall maintain such pressure restriction until such time as the feature has been excavated and repaired.
- a. Within 2 Days after determining that any dent feature has a depth greater than 6% of nominal pipeline diameter (whether the dent is located on the top or bottom of the pipeline), Enbridge shall limit the operating pressure at the location of the feature to not more than 80% of the highest actual operating pressure at that location during the last 60 Days.
- b. After identifying any dent feature located on the top of the pipeline that has a depth that is greater than or equal to:
 - (1) 3 % of the nominal diameter of the pipeline, in the case of a pipeline with a nominal diameter greater than or equal to 12 inches, or
 - (2) 0.250 inches, in the case of any pipeline with a nominal diameter less than 12 inches,

Enbridge shall limit the operating pressure at the location of the feature to not more than 80% of the highest actual operating pressure at that location during the last 60 Days if the feature is not repaired or mitigated within the applicable timeframe specified in Table 4.

58. <u>Dig-Selection Criteria for Interacting Features</u>: Within 30 Days after receiving any Initial ILI Report, Enbridge shall review the integrated database required under Paragraph 74 for the purpose of determining whether any feature reported by the ILI tool intersects or interacts with a feature of a different feature type that was detected during a previous ILI Tool Run but not repaired or mitigated (e.g., a Crack feature in the same location as a previously reported corrosion or dent feature; a Corrosion feature in the same location as a previously reported dent). Enbridge shall excavate and repair all such intersecting/interacting features that meet the dig

selection criteria set forth below, within the applicable timeframes identified in columns 2 and 3 of Table 5, and establish pressure restrictions as provided in Paragraph 59.

Table 5 – Criteria and Timelines for Excavation and Repair of Intersecting or Interacting Feature Types			
Dig Selection Criteria	Maximum time from date that feature is placed on the Dig List until date that feature is repaired/mitigated		
	High Consequence Area ("HCA")	Non-HCA	
Any dent located in the top of the pipeline (above the 4 and 8 o'clock positions) that has any indication of metal loss, cracking, or a stress riser.	As expeditiously as practicable, but not to exceed 30 Days	As expeditiously as practicable, but not to exceed 60 Days, for each dent deeper than 2% of the outer diameter of the pipeline; otherwise, excavate and repair within 365 Days	
Any dent located in the bottom of the pipeline (below the 4 and 8 o'clock positions) that has any indication of metal loss, cracking, or a stress riser.	Not to exceed 60 Days	180 Days for a dent deeper than 2% of the outer diameter of the pipeline; otherwise, excavate and repair within 365 Days	
Any case in which a Crack feature intersects or interacts with a Corrosion feature and the Predicted Burst Pressure of such interacting or intersecting features determined using the CorLAS TM model (assessed as a Crack-like feature) is less than 1.25 x the established maximum operating pressure.	Not to exceed 180 Days, except as provided in Paragraph 49	Not to exceed 180 Days except as provided in Paragraph 49	

Table 5 – Criteria and Timelines for Excavation and Repair of Intersecting or Interacting Feature Types			
Dig Selection Criteria	Maximum time from date that feature is placed on the Dig List until date that feature is repaired/mitigated		
	High Consequence Area ("HCA")	Non-HCA	
Any intersecting or interacting Crack/Corrosion feature with a Remaining Life (determined in accordance with Subsection VII.D.(VI), below) that is less than 5 years (i.e., a feature that is predicted to grow, within five years or less, to a point where its Predicted Burst Pressure will be less than the Established MOP).	365 Days, except that if the Remaining Life of the feature is ≤ 365 Days from the time the feature was added to the Dig List, then repair/mitigation shall be as expeditiously as practicable, and in no event longer than 30 Days	365 Days, except that if the Remaining Life of the feature is ≤ 365 Days from the time the feature was added to the Dig List, then repair/mitigation shall be as expeditiously as practicable, and in no event longer than 30 Days	
Any intersecting or interacting Crack/Corrosion feature with a Remaining Life that is less than 2 x the planned reinspection interval.	365 Days, except that if the Remaining Life of the feature is ≤ 365 Days from the time the feature was added to the Dig List, then repair/mitigation shall be as expeditiously as practicable, and in no event longer than 30 Days	365 Days, except that if the Remaining Life of the feature is ≤ 365 Days from the time the feature was added to the Dig List, then repair/mitigation shall be as expeditiously as practicable, and in no event longer than 30 Days	

- 59. Enbridge shall establish a pressure restriction for each interacting or intersecting feature in Table 5, as provided below in this Paragraph 59, and Enbridge shall maintain each such pressure restriction until such time as the feature has been excavated and repaired.
- a. Within 2 Days after determining that any intersecting or interacting

 Crack/Corrosion feature has a Predicted Burst Pressure that is less than 1.25 times the Established

MOP, Enbridge shall limit operating pressure at the location of the feature to not more than 80% of the Predicted Burst Pressure.

b. Within 2 Days after determining that any dent has an indication of cracking, metal loss or a stress riser, Enbridge shall limit operating pressure at the location of such feature to not more 80% of the highest actual operating pressure at the location of the feature over the last 60 Days.

(VI) Remaining Life Determinations/Re-inspection Intervals

- 60. Following each ILI to evaluate Crack features and each ILI to evaluate Corrosion features on any pipeline, Enbridge shall determine the Remaining Life of each detected Crack and Corrosion feature that does not meet any of the dig selection criteria in Subsection VII.D.(V) (other than dig selection criteria based on Remaining Life of the feature), except as provided below in Paragraph 61. For purposes of this Consent Decree, the Remaining Life of any Crack or Corrosion feature refers to the time period required for the feature to grow to the point where the Predicted Burst Pressure of the feature is less than or equal to the Established MOP, as determined in accordance with this Subsection.
 - 61. Enbridge shall not be required to calculate the Remaining Life of:
 - a. any feature described in Subparagraphs 42.a d,
- b. any feature that is placed on the Dig List, provided that Enbridge completes excavation and repair or mitigation of the feature in accordance with the timeframes specified in this Subsection VII.D.(V), or
- c. any feature that is stable, i.e. has not grown since the last ILI, provided that the frequency and magnitude of pressure cycles in the pipeline segment where the feature is

located are not significantly different than the frequency and magnitude of pressure cycles in such pipeline segment at the time of the prior ILI.

- 62. Enbridge shall determine the Remaining Life of each Crack feature, using representative values of actual operating parameters of the pipeline or pipeline segment, as applicable, including the number and magnitude of pressure cycles.
- a. In determining the number and magnitude of pressure cycles, Enbridge shall utilize the worst cycling quarter between the most recent valid crack ILI run and the immediately prior valid crack ILI run. For purposes of this subparagraph, the worst cycling quarter shall reflect the worst combination of cycling frequency and cycling magnitude for the applicable line or line segment during the period between the successive ILI runs.
- b. If Enbridge increases the operating pressure limit in any segment of a

 Lakehead System pipeline after determining the Remaining Life of Crack features in accordance
 with this Paragraph, Enbridge shall recalculate the Remaining Life of the unrepaired Crack
 features remaining in such line segment.
- 63. Enbridge shall calculate the Remaining Life of each Crack feature using either a fatigue crack growth model or an SCC crack growth model, whichever yields the fastest projected growth rate and the shortest Remaining Life.
- 64. In order to determine the Remaining Life of Corrosion features, Enbridge shall calculate a corrosion growth rate ("CGR") for each pipeline based on an evaluation of changes in Corrosion features detected in successive ILIs in the case of each pipeline that has had at least one previous ILI to detect Corrosion features. In the case of any new pipeline that has not previously had an ILI to detect Corrosion features, Enbridge shall use a historical CGR estimate, which shall not be less than .005 inch per year.

- 65. For each pipeline, the maximum interval between successive ILIs to assess Crack features shall not exceed one-half of the shortest Remaining Life of any unrepaired Crack feature in the pipeline, calculated as provided above. For each pipeline, the maximum interval between successive ILIs to assess Corrosion features shall not exceed one-half of the shortest Remaining Life of any unrepaired Corrosion feature in the pipeline, calculated as provided above in this Subsection VII.D.(VI).
- 66. Notwithstanding any other provisions in the Consent Decree, the maximum interval between successive ILIs for any particular feature type (Crack, Corrosion, or Geometric feature) on each pipeline in the Lakehead System shall not exceed 5 years, except as provided below in this Paragraph 66. Until Original US Line 3 is taken out of service and depressurized as provided in Paragraph 22.a, Enbridge shall complete ILIs for each feature type on an annual basis, except that Enbridge need not conduct ILIs during the final 12 months that Original US Line 3 is in operation.

E. MEASURES TO PREVENT SPILLS IN THE STRAITS OF MACKINAC

67. Applicability: The requirements set forth in this Subsection VII.E shall apply to the section of Lakehead System Line 5 oil transmission pipeline ("Line 5") that crosses the Straits of Mackinac ("Straits") between Michigan's upper and lower peninsulas. Specifically, such requirements shall apply to the 4.09-mile portion of Line 5 consisting of two 20-inch diameter seamless pipelines that cross the Straits ("Dual Pipelines").

68. Span Management Program

a. Enbridge shall operate and maintain the Dual Pipelines to ensure that currents or ice do not impair the integrity of either pipeline. Enbridge shall also assure that each of the Dual Pipelines is well-supported in areas where the pipeline is suspended above the lake

bed ("spans"). Further, Enbridge shall operate and maintain the Dual Pipelines to reduce the risk of a vessel's anchor puncturing, dragging or otherwise damaging the pipeline. Nothing in this Paragraph shall be construed to limit or affect any liability of Enbridge in the event of any unpermitted discharges from the Dual Pipelines.

- b. As of the Effective Date, Enbridge shall ensure that all sections of the Dual Pipelines located within 65-feet of water or less are continuously covered in a buried trench on the floor of the Straits. For uncovered portions of the pipelines in water deeper than 65 feet, Enbridge shall at all times support and anchor the pipelines with a series of screw-anchor pipe supports ("Screw Anchors") that are placed so that the maximum distance between adjacent Screw Anchors shall not exceed 75 feet. Each Screw Anchor shall hold the pipelines in place by means of a steel saddle connected to two ten-foot-long steel screws, with each screw augured into the floor of the Straits on either side of the pipelines.
- c. Enbridge shall complete periodic visual inspections of each of the Dual Pipelines as provided below in this Paragraph to ensure compliance with the requirements of Subparagraphs 68.a and 68.b, above. Enbridge shall complete the initial underwater visual inspection of each of the Dual Pipelines no later than July 31, 2016. As part of the initial visual inspection of each of the Dual Pipelines, Enbridge shall complete a survey of biota, including but not limited to mussels, present on the Dual Pipelines.
- d. In the event that the underwater inspection reveals one or more areas where a pipeline is not adequately covered or supported, Enbridge shall undertake repairs to address such areas no later than 60 Days after the completion of the inspection.

- e. Within 60 Days of completing the repairs, Enbridge shall submit to EPA a report summarizing the findings of its inspection and any repair work done as a result of the inspection.
- f. After the initial visual underwater inspection pursuant to Paragraph 68.c, Enbridge shall complete periodic underwater visual inspections of each of the Dual Pipelines at intervals not to exceed 24 months, until termination of the Consent Decree. All such reinspections shall be completed by July 31 of the year in which the inspection is required. Following each such re-inspection of the Dual Pipelines, Enbridge shall complete any necessary repairs in accordance with Subparagraph 68.d and submit reports in accordance with Subparagraph 68.e.

69. Biota Investigation

a. Enbridge shall conduct an investigation to assess whether any of the biota found on the pipeline, including but not limited to mussels, impacts the integrity of the Dual Pipelines. Specifically, Enbridge shall assess whether the accumulation of mussels and other biota have impacted the integrity of the pipelines' coating or the underlying metal, including areas where there are openings or "holidays" in the pipeline coating. The investigation shall evaluate whether the mussels and other biota are creating a corrosive environment by, among other things, fostering the growth of anaerobic sulfate-reducing bacteria ("SRB") that may cause metal loss. Finally, the investigation should evaluate whether mussels and other biota are introducing features that may threaten the integrity of either of the Dual Pipelines due to the weight of such biomass or the pressure caused by current or ice movement around such biomass in areas where the pipelines are suspended above the floor of the Straits.

- b. No later than 60 Days after the initial visual underwater inspection referred to in Paragraph 68.c, Enbridge shall submit to EPA for approval a proposed plan for the investigation described in Subparagraph 69.a. The proposed plan shall identify the employees, consultants and contractors that will perform the investigation and describe the methods that they will use in inspecting, sampling, and evaluating whether biota have any adverse impact on pipeline coatings or on the Dual Pipelines. The proposed plan shall also propose a schedule for completing the investigation.
- c. Upon receipt of an EPA's approval of its plan and schedule, Enbridge shall implement the plan in accordance with the schedule. No later than 60 Days after the completion of its investigation, Enbridge shall submit a final report to EPA for review and approval, describing the findings and results of the investigation. In the event that the investigation finds that zebra mussels and other biota have impaired, or threaten to impair, the Dual Pipelines, Enbridge shall supplement its final report with a proposed work plan to address such impairments, together with a proposed schedule for completing such work. Upon receipt of EPA approval of the work plan and schedule, Enbridge shall perform the work in accordance with the plan and schedule. Within 60 Days of completion of the work, Enbridge shall submit a final report documenting the work to EPA for review and comment.
- 70. *In-Line Inspections of the Dual Pipelines*. The ILI schedule required pursuant to Paragraph 29 above, shall provide for Enbridge to complete valid ILIs of the Dual Pipelines in accordance with the following schedule:
- a. ILIs to detect, characterize, and size Corrosion Features and circumferential Crack Features on each of the Dual Pipelines completed no later than July 30, 2017.

- b. An ILI to detect, characterize, and size Geometric Features on each of the Dual Pipelines completed no later than one year following the Effective Date of the Consent Decree, or five years after the most recently completed inspection to detect and size Geometric Features on each of the Dual Pipelines, whichever is later.
- 71. Investigation and Repair of axially-aligned features. Not later than December 31, 2017, Enbridge shall undertake and complete the actions in either Subparagraph 71.a or 71.b below to reduce or eliminate the potential that any axially-aligned Crack features in the Dual Pipelines will result in a leak or rupture:
- a. Enbridge shall conduct an investigation of the Dual Pipelines using an ILI tool that is most appropriate for detecting and sizing axially-aligned Crack features in the Dual Pipelines. In the event that the ILI tool identifies features that are Features Requiring Excavation, Enbridge shall complete the repair of such features on each of the Dual Pipelines as expeditiously as practicable. Such repair shall be completed in accordance with Subsection VII.D, above.
- b. In lieu of the actions set forth in the preceding subparagraph, Enbridge may elect to perform a hydrostatic pressure test of each of the Dual Pipelines. In the event that Enbridge selects this option, Enbridge shall comply with the procedures set forth in Section VII.C (Hydrostatic Pressure Testing) of this Consent Decree. Enbridge shall provide EPA with a copy of the test plan and procedure at least 90 Days before commencing the hydrostatic pressure test.

72. Pipeline Movement Investigation

a. Within 40 Days of identifying one or more cracks in the Dual Pipelines that qualify as a Feature Requiring Excavation, Enbridge shall submit to EPA for approval a proposed plan and schedule to investigate the cause of such cracking. The investigation shall

is associated with stress corrosion cracking or some other form of cracking. Further, the investigation shall consider and determine whether the cracking has been caused by the physical movement of the pipeline. Unless Enbridge can affirmatively rule out the possibility of pipeline movement, the proposed plan shall require the installation of instrumentation on the pipeline to detect and track movement of the pipeline over time.

- b. Upon receipt of the EPA's approval of Enbridge's plan and schedule, Enbridge shall conduct the investigation in accordance with the approved plan and schedule. Within 30 Days of completing the investigation, Enbridge shall submit to EPA, for review and approval, a final report with proposed findings and conclusions. The report shall identify corrective measures, if any, needed to repair or remediate the cause of the cracking and the schedule for completion. In the event that the cause of the cracking can be identified and corrected, Enbridge shall undertake and complete such corrective measures as expeditiously as practicable, but in no event later than 270 Days after the completion of the investigation.
- 73. Quarterly Inspection Using Acoustic Leak Detection Tool: Within 90 Days of the Effective Date, Enbridge shall conduct an inspection of each Dual Pipeline using an acoustic ILI tool that is capable of detecting sounds associated with small leaks as the tool travels through the pipelines. After completing the initial investigation, Enbridge shall continually repeat the inspection once per calendar quarter for the duration of the Consent Decree. In the event that Enbridge should detect a leak, Enbridge shall immediately shut down and sectionalize the pipeline until the leak is repaired.

F. DATA INTEGRATION

- As of the Effective Date, Enbridge shall operate and maintain a feature integration database ("OneSource") for all pipelines in the Lakehead System. The OneSource shall integrate information about Crack features, Corrosion features, and Geometric features from multiple inline investigations of the pipelines and field measurement devices. Further, upon completion of the update required under Paragraph 77 below, the OneSource shall integrate additional information about Crack features, Corrosion features, and Geometric features collected through field measurements. The OneSource shall enable pipeline integrity-management personnel to identify and track any changes to any feature detected by an ILI tool on successive investigations ("Tool Runs") of the pipeline. In addition, the OneSource shall enable such personnel to identify and evaluate features detected by different types of ILI tools that may overlap or otherwise interact.
- 75. Enbridge's integrity management personnel, including but not limited to personnel responsible for identifying Features Requiring Excavation in accordance with Subsections VII.D (III) (VI), shall be able to access and view the OneSource from their desktop computers and laptops, and such personnel shall be able to search for, and view, a schematic image of each Joint of each Lakehead System Pipeline. Each schematic image of a Joint shall show:
- a. Information about the construction of each Joint, including (1) the location of the long-seam, (2) the type of long-seam, (3) the location of the girth welds, (4) the type of Joint coating, (5) the diameter of the Joint, (6) the specified minimum yield strength (SMYS) of the Joint, (7) the pipe manufacturer, (8) the year of manufacture, (9) the wall-thickness of the Joint based upon the manufacturing specification, and (10) whether the joint is located within an HCA;

- b. Information about each ILI tool that Enbridge has used to investigate the Joint, including (1) the type of tool, (2) the supplier of the tool, and (3) the date of the Tool Run;
- c. Information about each feature detected by each ILI tool, including (1) the predicted length and location of each feature taking into account the uncertainty of the ILI tool, (2) the predicted depth of each feature taking into account the uncertainty of the ILI tool, (3) each feature's type and classification, (4) the rupture pressure ratio and/or the Predicted Burst Pressure of the feature, and (5) any comments made by ILI vendor regarding such feature; and
- d. Other pertinent details, including (but not limited to) the average wall thickness of the Joint as determined by ultra-sonic wall measurement tools.
- 76. With respect to each type of ILI Tool, the OneSource shall include at least two successive ILI data sets one data set from the most recently completed ILI Tool Run and other data set from the second most-recently completed ILI Tool Run. Once a data set for a type of ILI Tool has been superseded by two successive ILI Tool Runs of that tool type, Enbridge may elect to delete the data set from the OneSource, although Enbridge shall continue to preserve the data in accordance with Section X (Information Collection and Retention) of the Consent Decree relating to document preservation requirements.

77. Update of OneSource Database:

a. Within 365 Days of the Effective Date, Enbridge shall complete an update of the OneSource to add and integrate information from inspections of pipelines in the Lakehead System using non-destructive examination ("NDE") methodologies. This update shall be limited to Joints that have been excavated and inspected within the 3-year period prior to the entry of the Consent Decree.

- b. For all such Joints, the updated OneSource will enable Enbridge's integrity management personnel, including but not limited to personnel responsible for identifying Features Requiring Excavation in accordance with Paragraph 35, to overlay and compare information collected from ILI tools with the information collected from NDEs conducted in the field. The latter information shall include:
 - (1) Information about all repairs to the Joint, including (a) the types of repairs, (b) the location of sleeve-type repairs, and (c) the depth and size of all grinding-related repairs; and
 - (2) Information about all unrepaired Crack features, Corrosion features and Geometric features, irrespective of whether such features were detected by ILI tools or not, including (a) the size and location of each feature, (b) the depth of each feature, (c) each feature's type and classification, (d) the field-determined rupture pressure ratio and/or Predicted Burst Pressure of the feature.
- c. The updated OneSource shall also include a hyperlink by which Enbridge personnel, including but not limited to personnel responsible for identifying Features Requiring Excavation in accordance with Paragraph 35, can readily access other electronic databases that contain information collected during the NDE, including photographs of features and field notes taken by NDE personnel.
- d. After completing the initial update of the OneSource, Enbridge shall continuously update the database with information collected from new NDE investigations.

 Enbridge shall add such information to the OneSource as expeditiously as practicable, but in no event shall Enbridge take more than 60 Days after completing all field investigations relating to

an ILI Tool Run to update the OneSource to include all data collected from the field investigations.

- 78. *Mandatory Use of the Data Integration Database to Prepare Dig List.*
- a. Upon completion of a new ILI Tool Run, Enbridge shall update the OneSource to include the new ILI data, provided such data has passed through the quality-control procedures and determined by Enbridge to be reliable. Enbridge shall add the data to the OneSource as quickly as possible, but in no event later than 29 Days after the Enbridge receives the Initial ILI report.
- b. Once new ILI data has been added to the OneSource, Enbridge shall review such data for the purpose of identifying any overlapping, or otherwise interacting, features that may qualify as Features Requiring Excavation within the meaning of Paragraph 35. Enbridge shall complete such review as soon as is practicable, but in no event later than 180 Days after the ILI tool is removed from the pipeline.

G. LEAK DETECTION AND CONTROL ROOM OPERATIONS

(I) Assessment of Alternative Leak Detection Technologies

- 79. Within 120 Days of the Effective Date, Enbridge shall prepare and submit a report to EPA regarding the feasibility and performance of alternative leak detection technologies ("ALD Report"). The technologies discussed in the ALD Report shall include:
- a. Computational pipeline monitoring technologies that monitor the pressure wave created by different size leaks and ruptures;
- b. External leak detection technologies, including fiber-optic cable distributed temperature sensing systems, fiber-optic distributed acoustic sensing systems, vapor sensing tubes, electrochemical hydrocarbon sensing cables, and any and all other technologies assessed by

Enbridge as of the Effective Date using the External Leak Detection Experimental Research (ELDER) test apparatus; and

- c. Aerial-based technologies, including (but not limited to) infrared camerabased systems, laser-based spectroscopy, flame ionization detection systems, and any and all other technologies assessed by Enbridge as of the Effective Date.
 - 80. With respect to each of the above technologies, the ALD Report shall
- a. describe all laboratory and field tests/evaluations that Enbridge has conducted within the past five years, as well as all laboratory and field investigations that Enbridge considered or relied upon as a basis for any conclusions in the ALD Report;
 - b. summarize the findings of all such tests/evaluations;
- c. identify all reports that Enbridge has submitted to PHMSA under the

 Lakehead Plan regarding ALD technology and discuss developments since such submissions; and
- d. provide an assessment of the feasibility or limitations of the ALD technology in different settings or environments, including underwater pipeline segments.

(II) Report on Feasibility of Installing External Leak Detection System at the Straits of Mackinac

81. Within 180 Days of the Effective Date, Enbridge shall submit to EPA for review a report assessing the feasibility of installing an alternative leak detection system at the Straits of Mackinac. For the purposes of conducting this assessment, Enbridge shall evaluate the following leak detection technologies: fiber-optic cable (acoustic and temperature), vapor sensing tube, negative pressure wave, and hydrocarbon sensing cable. Such technologies would supplement Enbridge's existing MBS Leak Detection System, as well as the leak detection systems that

Enbridge is required to implement under Paragraph 73 (Acoustic Leak Detection Tool) and Paragraph 102 (Rupture Detection System) of the Consent Decree.

- 82. With respect to each technology, the report required by Paragraph 81 shall evaluate (i) the potential effectiveness of the technology in detecting leaks and ruptures of different sizes, (ii) the practicability of deploying the technology in the Straits of Mackinac, (iii) the practicability of long-term operation and maintenance of the technology, and (iv) the net present cost of the technology, taking into account the initial capital cost to install the technology and the annual expense to operate and maintain the technology.
- 83. The report required pursuant to Paragraph 81 shall compare the relative performance of each of the evaluated technologies with respect to each of the factors enumerated in Paragraph 82 and any other factors that Enbridge may decide to add to its analysis. As a basis for comparison, Enbridge shall also evaluate the risks and benefits of each technology in the Straits of Mackinac versus the risks and benefits of continuing to rely solely upon the MBS Leak Detection System and those systems that Enbridge is required to implement under this Consent Decree.

(III) Requirements for New Lakehead Pipelines and Replacement Segments

- 84. *Applicability*. The requirements set forth in this Subsection VII.G.(III) shall apply to any New Lakehead Pipeline or any Replacement Segment of any pipeline that is part of the Lakehead System. For the purposes of this Consent Decree, the terms "New Lakehead Pipeline" and "Replacement Segment" shall mean the following:
- a. The term "New Lakehead Pipeline" shall mean the pipeline that will replace Original US Line 3, as well as mean any new pipeline that will replace one of the other pipelines that comprise the Lakehead System. In the event that Enbridge resumes operation of

any other Lakehead System Pipeline that may be replaced after the Effective Date, the term "New Lakehead Pipeline" shall also apply to such pipeline or pipelines.

- b. The term "Replacement Segment" shall mean any modification of a Lakehead System Pipeline after the Effective Date for the purpose of (1) adding one (or more) pump stations to the pipeline or (2) replacing a section of the pipeline with a volume capacity greater than 45,000 cubic meters ("m³").
- Segment shall have a flowmeter at all locations where oil (a) enters into the pipeline, (b) leaves the pipeline, or (c) passes through a pump station. In addition, Enbridge shall install flowmeters at additional locations between pump stations as needed to comply with the requirements of Paragraphs 88 or 90 below. All flowmeters shall be designed and constructed to monitor flow under all conditions, including during Startup and Shutdown, and to provide continuous real-time data to Enbridge's Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition System ("SCADA") and MBS Leak Detection System, as well as to the Rupture Detection System required under Paragraph 102 of this Consent Decree.
- 86. Installation of flowmeters on pipelines that utilize In-Line Batch Interface Tools: For any New Lakehead Pipeline or Replacement Segment where Enbridge will deploy In-Line Batch Interface Tools for the purpose of physically separating products in the pipeline, Enbridge shall design and operate all flowmeters so that they shall not be taken out of service as the result of an In-Line Batch Interface Tool moving past the location of the flowmeter.
- 87. *Installation of other Instrumentation*: In addition to the flowmeters required under Paragraph 85, each New Lakehead Pipeline or Replacement Segment shall include instrumentation for measuring temperature and pressure as described in Subparagraphs 87.a and

87.b below. All instruments for measuring temperature and pressure shall provide continuous real-time data to Enbridge's SCADA, MBS Leak Detection System, and Rupture Detection System, including during Startup and Shutdown periods.

- a. *Pressure Transducer/transmitter:* Enbridge shall install a pressure transducer/transmitter at all of the following locations:
 - (1) each location where oil enters the pipeline;
 - (2) each location where oil leaves the pipeline for delivery purposes or for transfer to another pipeline;
 - (3) each location where a Column Separation would be expected to occur based on Enbridge's hydraulic studies of the pipeline;
 - (4) each segment of pipeline between adjacent flowmeters, and
 - (5) each segment of pipeline between two remotely-controlled valves where oil may be "shut in" during a shutdown of the pipeline ("Valve Segment").
- b. *Temperature transducer/transmitters:* Enbridge shall install a skin-based temperature transducer/transmitter at all of the following locations:
 - (1) each location where Enbridge shall install a flowmeter in accordance with Paragraph 85, and
 - (2) each Valve Segment.
- 88. Establishment of MBS Segments: For the purposes of this Consent Decree, the term "MBS Segment" shall refer to each segment of a pipeline between two adjacent flowmeters. Enbridge shall design and construct each New Lakehead Pipeline and Replacement Segment to ensure that the volume of oil within each MBS Segment created by, or included within, the New Lakehead Line or Replacement Segment shall not exceed 45,000 cubic meters ("m3"), except in

those instances where Enbridge demonstrates compliance with the leak detection sensitivity requirements in Paragraph 89 below.

89. *Leak Detection Sensitivity Requirements*

a. New US Line 3: Enbridge shall design and construct the New Lakehead Pipeline that will replace Original US Line 3 ("New US Line 3") to meet all of the leak detection sensitivity targets in the table below with respect to each MBS Segment created by, or included within, the New US Line 3. Such targets shall apply only during periods when the fluid in the MBS Segment is in a Steady State. Enbridge shall use the criteria set forth in API Publication 1149 ("Pipeline Variable Uncertainties and Their Effects on Leak Detectability") to estimate the ability of the MBS Leak Detection System to achieve each of the targets set forth in the table below.

Type of MBS Alarm	Leak Detection Design and Construction Target for New US Line 3
5-Minute Alarm	MBS Leak Detection System shall detect and alarm if, within any rolling 5-minute period, it cannot account for 7-13% of the volume of oil injected or pumped into the MBS Segment.
20-Minute Alarm	MBS Leak Detection System shall detect and alarm if, within any rolling 20-minute period, it cannot account for 3-4% of the volume of oil injected or pumped into the MBS Segment.
2-hour Alarm	MBS Leak Detection System shall detect and alarm if, within any rolling 2-hour period, it cannot account for 3% of the volume of oil injected or pumped into the MBS Segment.
24-hour Alarm	MBS Leak Detection System shall detect and alarm if, within any rolling 24-hour period, it cannot account for 2% of the volume of oil injected or pumped into the MBS Segment.

b. Other Lakehead Projects: Enbridge shall design and construct any
Replacement Segment or New Lakehead Pipeline other than New US Line 3 to meet all of the
leak detection sensitivity targets in the table below with respect to each MBS Segment created by,
or included within, the Replacement Segment or New Lakehead Pipeline. Such targets shall

apply only during periods when the fluid in the MBS Segment is in a Steady State. Enbridge shall use the criteria set forth in API Publication 1149 to estimate the ability of the MBS Leak

Detection System to achieve each of the targets set forth in the table below.

Type of MBS Alarm	Leak Detection Design and Construction Target for other Lakehead Projects
5-Minute Alarm	MBS Leak Detection System shall detect and alarm if, within any rolling 5-minute period, it cannot account for 7-25% of the volume of oil injected or pumped into the MBS Segment.
20-Minute Alarm	MBS Leak Detection System shall detect and alarm if, within any rolling 20-minute period, it cannot account for 3-10% of the volume of oil injected or pumped into the MBS Segment.
2-hour Alarm	MBS Leak Detection System shall detect and alarm if, within any rolling 2-hour period, it cannot account for 3-5% of the volume of oil injected or pumped into the MBS Segment.
24-hour Alarm	MBS Leak Detection System shall detect and alarm if, within any rolling 24-hour period, it cannot account for 2-3% of the volume of oil injected or pumped into the MBS Segment.

Construction Requirements: For each MBS Segment on a New Lakehead Pipeline or Replacement Segment with the capacity to hold more than 45,000 m³ of oil, Enbridge shall demonstrate compliance with the leak detection sensitivity design and construction requirements in Subparagraphs 89.a and 89.b. Specifically, with respect to New US Line 3, Enbridge shall demonstrate, in accordance with Subparagraphs 90.a and 90.b, that the MBS Leak Detection System is able to detect any and all leaks or ruptures within the MBS Segment that would meet, or exceed, one or more of the leak detection targets set forth in the table in Paragraph 89.a, above, for the design and construction of New US Line 3. Further, with respect to any Replacement Segments or New Lakehead Pipelines other than New US Line 3, Enbridge shall demonstrate, in accordance with Subparagraphs 90.a and 90.b, that the MBS Leak Detection System is able to detect any and all leaks or ruptures within the MBS Segment that would meet, or exceed, one or

more of the leak detection targets established in accordance with Subparagraph 89.b above, for the design and construction of the Replacement Segment or New Lakehead Pipeline. If Enbridge is unable to make such a demonstration in accordance with Subparagraphs 90.a and 90.b, Enbridge shall comply with the requirements of Subparagraph 90.c, below.

Within 90 Days of Initial Linefill of a New Lakehead Pipeline or a. Replacement Segment, Enbridge shall submit to EPA a plan to demonstrate the ability of the MBS Leak Detection System to detect leaks or ruptures within each MBS Segment that has a capacity to hold more than 45,000 m³ of oil. The plan shall require Enbridge to conduct testing using the fluid-withdraw method except where the use of that method is not feasible due to a lack of on-site piping and/or tanks necessary to complete such testing. Where the use of the fluid withdraw method is not feasible for these reasons, Enbridge shall make the required demonstration using a software-based simulated leak methodology of the type described in API Publication 1130. The plan shall include a schedule for completing all required testing, but in no event shall the schedule provide for the completion of testing later than 12 months after completion of Initial Linefill. The plan shall require Enbridge to collect data with respect to each type of MBS Alarm (i.e. the 5-minute alarm, the 20-minute alarm, the 2-hour alarm, and the 24hour alarm) demonstrating (1) the sensitivity of the MBS Leak Detection System in detecting leaks and ruptures and (2) the reliability of such system in terms of its false alarm rate. Further, Enbridge shall collect data demonstrating the relationship between these two variables, showing how the false alarm rate will rise (or fall) in response to adjustments made by Enbridge to the sensitivity of the MBS Leak Detection System in detecting leaks or ruptures ("S-R Performance").

- b. Within 30 Days of submitting the plan to EPA. Enbridge shall commence testing in accordance with its plan and schedule. Within 30 Days after completion of the testing, Enbridge shall submit to EPA a report presenting the results of the testing. In its report, Enbridge shall present its data sets in graphical form (as illustrated in Appendix F) showing the S-R Performance curve for each of the four types of MBS alarm. With respect to New US Line 3, Enbridge shall have demonstrated compliance with the design and construction targets in Paragraph 89.a. if, based upon the S-R Performance curves, Enbridge proves its MBS Leak Detection System is able to detect any and all leaks that would meet, or exceed, the targets in Paragraph 89.a. without regard to the number of false alarms occurring at those target sensitivities. Likewise, with respect to any Replacement Segment or New Lakehead Pipeline other than New US Line 3, Enbridge shall have demonstrated compliance with the design and construction targets in Paragraph 89.b. if, based upon the S-R Performance curves, Enbridge proves its MBS Leak Detection System is able to detect any and all leaks that would meet, or exceed, the targets in Paragraph 89.b. without regard to the number of false alarms occurring at those target sensitivities.
- c. In the event that the testing demonstrates that one or more tested MBS segments does not meet the leak detection sensitivity design and construction requirements mandated under Paragraph 89, Enbridge shall, concurrently with submission of the report required in Paragraph 90.b, submit to EPA for approval a proposed plan and schedule for implementing corrective actions that will assure compliance with the MBS size limitation in Paragraph 88 or assure that MBS Leak Detection System is able to detect any all and all leaks or ruptures within the MBS Segment that would meet, or exceed, one or more of the leak detection sensitivity targets in Paragraph 89, based upon the S-R Performance curves described in the

preceding paragraph. Upon approval by EPA, Enbridge shall implement the approved plan and schedule.

- 91. Establishment and Optimization of Alarm Thresholds: Except as otherwise provided in Paragraph 103 ("24-Hour Alarm"), Enbridge shall, in the interest of reducing false alarms and improving the reliability of the MBS Leak Detection System, set alarm thresholds for the MBS Leak Detection System at any level that Enbridge deems appropriate, subject to the limitations and requirements set forth in Subparagraphs 91.a c, below.
- a. No later than Initial Linefill of New US Line 3 or any other New Lakehead Pipeline or Replacement Segment, Enbridge shall ensure that each MBS Segment of such pipeline or segment be subject to an alarm threshold for each of the four types of MBS Alarms (i.e. the 5-minute alarm, the 20-minute alarm, the 2-hour alarm, and the 24-hour alarm). In no event shall an alarm threshold applicable to Steady State operations be, at any time, less stringent than the minimum alarm thresholds set forth in the table below,

Type of MBS Alarm	MBS Alarm Threshold Requirements During All Periods of Steady State Operations
5-Minute Alarm	MBS Leak Detection System shall alarm if, within any rolling 5-minute period, it cannot account for 30% or more of the volume of oil injected or pumped into the MBS Segment.
20-Minute Alarm	MBS Leak Detection System shall alarm if, within any rolling 20-minute period, it cannot account for 15% or more of the volume of oil injected or pumped into the MBS Segment.
2-hour Alarm	MBS Leak Detection System shall alarm if, within any rolling 2-hour period, it cannot account for 5% or more of the volume of oil injected or pumped into the MBS Segment.
24-hour Alarm	MBS Leak Detection System shall alarm if, within any rolling 24-hour period, it cannot account for 3% or more of the volume of oil injected or pumped into the MBS Segment.

b. Within one year of Initial Linefill of New US Line 3 or any other New Lakehead Pipeline or Replacement Segment, Enbridge shall conduct and complete a study to 92

optimize the alarm thresholds established in accordance with the preceding Subparagraph. Based upon the results of the study, Enbridge shall set an alarm threshold that optimizes the trade-off between the competing goals of reducing the number of false alarms and improving the sensitivity of the MBS Leak Detection System in detecting leaks and ruptures. In no event shall Enbridge adjust an alarm threshold so that it is less sensitive to leaks and ruptures that the minimum alarm thresholds set forth in the table in the preceding Subparagraph.

c. Within 60 Days of completing the optimization study, Enbridge shall submit a report to EPA that presents the results of the optimization study, identifies the optimized alarm thresholds established by Enbridge, and explains the basis for such thresholds. To the extent that the optimized alarm thresholds are more sensitive to leaks and ruptures than the minimum alarm thresholds set forth in Subparagraph 91.a, above, Enbridge is not required to implement the optimized thresholds under this Consent Decree, except for the optimized threshold applicable to the 24-hour MBS Alarm, as provided in Paragraph 103.

(IV) <u>Leak Detection Requirements for Pipelines within the Lakehead</u> <u>System</u>

92. Operation of MBS Leak Detection System: Enbridge shall continue to operate the MBS Leak Detection System to perform computational modelling for each MBS Segment of each Lakehead System Pipeline. For each MBS Segment, Enbridge shall maintain continuous and uninterrupted leak detection capability at all times, including during periods of Startup and Shutdown, except as set forth in Paragraph 93 below. In no event shall the alarm threshold for Steady State operations be, at any time, less stringent than the minimum alarm thresholds set forth in the table at Subparagraph 91.a.

- 93. Enbridge may temporarily suspend MBS leak detection operations within any MBS Segment as the result of:
- a. Instrumentation in the MBS Segment unexpectedly failing for reasons beyond Enbridge's control;
- b. Enbridge taking instrumentation out of service to conduct scheduled maintenance or repairs, or
- c. Enbridge taking a flowmeter out of service to move an in-line tool (e.g. ILI tool or In-Line Batch Interface Tool) past the location of the flowmeter, provided that the pipeline is not one that was designed and constructed to allow in-line tools to bypass flowmeters with no disruption in service of the flowmeter.
- 94. In the event that Enbridge loses or suspends MBS leak detection capability within one or more MBS Segments then, except as provided in Paragraph 95, below, Enbridge shall automatically establish and maintain leak detection capability in an Overlapping MBS Segment as a temporary measure until the leak detection capability is restored in all MBS Segments. The Overlapping MBS Segment shall integrate no more than the minimum number of MBS Segments necessary to achieve and maintain temporary leak detection capability within all MBS Segments impacted by the outage.
- 95. If Enbridge loses or suspends MBS leak detection capability in (a) the first MBS Segment at the beginning of a Lakehead System Pipeline due to an instrumentation outage at the upstream end of such segment or (b) the last MBS Segment at the end of a Lakehead System Pipeline due to an instrumentation outage at the downstream end of the MBS Segment, Enbridge shall maintain leak detection capability with respect to the non-functioning MBS Segments by means of an alternative leak detection system, which shall be based upon one of the methods

identified in Annex B to API Publication 1130 ("Computational Pipeline Monitoring for Liquid Pipelines"). Enbridge shall continuously operate the alternative leak detection system until the flowmeter outage is resolved and the MBS Segments are restored to operation.

- 96. Whenever Enbridge loses or suspends leak detection capability within an MBS Segment, Enbridge shall restore the leak detection capability of the MBS Segment as soon as practicable. Enbridge shall report all such outages in the Semi-Annual Report submitted in accordance with Paragraph 143 of this Decree. In the report, Enbridge shall identify (1) the day and hour when the instrumentation outage began, (2) the day and hour when the outage was resolved, (3) the reason for the outage, and (4) the actions taken to resolve the outage.
- 97. The reporting requirement in Paragraph 96 shall not apply if (a) Enbridge temporarily loses or suspends the leak detection capability for one of the reasons set forth in Paragraph 93 and (b) Enbridge restores the leak detection capability of the MBS Segment within the target periods set forth in the table below.

Reason for Instrumentation Outage	Time Period to Restore MBS Segment to Operation
Instrumentation Failure	10 Days
Bypass of ILI Tool	4 hours
Schedule Maintenance or repairs	4 Days

98. In the table above, the 4-hour time period for restoring the MBS segment to operation shall be tolled in the event of an unplanned shutdown of the pipeline during the period when a flowmeter is out of service due to an in-line tool moving past the location of the flowmeter. The tolling period shall begin when the pipeline is shut down, and it shall end when Enbridge resumes pumping operations in the pipeline.

- 99. Installation of New Equipment at Remotely-Controlled Valves. In the event that Enbridge excavates a Remotely-Controlled Valve or converts a manual valve to a Remotely-Controlled Valve on a pipeline within the Lakehead System, Enbridge shall install (i) a pressure transducer/transmitter on the upstream side of the valve as well as on the downstream side of the valve at the time of the excavation and (ii) install a skin-based temperature transducer/transmitter at the valve. Enbridge shall install and operate such equipment in a manner as to provide continuous real-time data to Enbridge's SCADA and MBS Leak Detection System at all times, including during periods when the pipeline is sectionalized.
- 100. The requirements in Paragraph 99 shall not apply if (1) the remotely-controlled valve is excavated on an emergency basis and not in conjunction with a planned excavation to repair, maintain, or inspect the valve or pipeline or (2) the new equipment would be duplicative of functionally identical equipment in the same Valve Segment.
- 101. *Transient-State Sensitivity Analysis*. Within 180 Days of the Effective Date, Enbridge shall perform an analysis of all pipelines within the Lakehead System to determine leak sensitivity during Startup and Shutdown conditions and for the purpose of establishing transient-state performance targets.
- Rupture Detection System Alarm. Enbridge shall continuously operate a new Rupture Detection System alarm system, which is integrated with Enbridge's SCADA system and MBS Leak Detection System. The Rupture Detection System Alarm shall apply to all pipelines that are part of the Lakehead System and shall be active at all times, including during periods when the pipeline is in Steady State and Transient State.
- a. The Rupture Detection Alarm System shall include a computer-based system that continuously monitors real-time data from the SCADA system for the purpose of

detecting (a) an abnormally low pressure, (b) an abnormal pressure drop, or (c) an abnormal increase in the flow rate.

- b. Upon detecting one or more of these abnormal conditions, the computer-based system shall generate an alarm, alerting each member of the Alarm Response Team in accordance with Paragraphs 106 and 107, below.
- c. Within 90 Days of the Effective Date, Enbridge shall submit to EPA the results of testing of the Rupture Detection Alarm System for at least two separate MBS Segments. Such testing shall document compliance with this Paragraph and explain why the Rupture Detection Alarm System would alarm in the event of a sudden pressure drop on both sides of a pump station.
- d. In the event that such testing does not demonstrate compliance with the requirements of this Paragraph, Enbridge shall, concurrently with submission of the report required under the preceding Subparagraph, submit to EPA for approval a proposed plan and schedule for corrective action. Enbridge shall implement the corrective action in accordance with the approved schedule and conduct re-testing of the alarm system no later than 30 Days after the corrective action is completed.
- e. Upon completion of successful testing of the Rupture Detection System,

 Enbridge shall continuously operate the alarm system at all times, including during periods when
 the pipeline is in Steady State and Transient State.
- 103. "24-hour" Alarm. Within 270 Days of the Effective Date, Enbridge shall modify the MBS Leak Detection System to include a new "24-hour" alarm, which shall be integrated with Enbridge's SCADA system. The 24-hour Alarm shall apply to all pipelines that are part of the Lakehead System and shall be active at all times, including during periods when the pipeline

is in Steady State and Transient State. To establish such an alarm, Enbridge shall take the following steps:

- a. Enbridge shall continuously monitor, track, and model the mass balance of oil for each MBS Segment over any rolling 24-hour period.
- b. For all pipelines that are part of the Lakehead System, Enbridge shall ensure that the MBS Leak Detection System, at a minimum, shall alarm if it cannot detect, or otherwise account for, 3 percent (or more) of oil pumped or injected into the MBS Segment over any rolling 24-hour period. The alarm system shall alert each member of the Alarm Response Team of such a condition in accordance with Paragraphs 106 and 107, below.
- c. Within one year of establishing the new 24-hour Alarm, Enbridge shall conduct and complete a study to optimize the alarm thresholds for each pipeline that is part of the Lakehead System as of the Effective Date. Within 60 Days of completion of the optimization study, Enbridge shall submit to EPA for review and approval a report setting forth the results of the study and proposing an alarm threshold for each pipeline that optimizes the tradeoff between the competing goals of reducing false alarms and improving the sensitivity of the MBS Leak Detection System in detecting ruptures and leaks. In no event shall Enbridge propose an alarm threshold that would reduce the leak sensitivity of the 24-hour alarm by increasing the alarm threshold above the 3-percent minimum alarm threshold. Upon submission of its proposal, Enbridge shall immediately implement and continuously maintain each proposed alarm threshold as an enforceable requirement of this Consent Decree. In the event that EPA subsequently disapproves one or more of the proposed alarm thresholds, Enbridge shall, within 30 Days of receipt of EPA's disapproval, propose an alternative alarm threshold for each threshold rejected by EPA or invoke dispute resolution under Section XIII of this Consent Decree. In either event,

Enbridge shall continue to maintain the alarm threshold that it initially proposed based upon the optimization study unless and until an alternative alarm threshold is proposed by Enbridge or an alternative alarm is established through dispute resolution.

- d. Within one year of Initial Linefill of New US Line 3 or any other New Lakehead Pipeline or Replacement Segment, Enbridge shall conduct and complete an optimization study in accordance with Paragraph 91.b, which shall include optimization of the 24-hour MBS Alarm. Upon submission of the optimization report in accordance with Paragraph 91.c, Enbridge shall immediately implement and continuously maintain the alarm threshold set forth in the report for the 24-hour alarm. In the event that EPA subsequently disapproves the proposed alarm threshold, Enbridge shall, within 30 Days of receipt of EPA's disapproval, propose an alternative alarm threshold or invoke dispute resolution under Section XIII of this Consent Decree. In either event, Enbridge shall continue to maintain the alarm threshold that it initially proposed based upon the optimization study unless and until an alternative alarm threshold is proposed by Enbridge or an alternative alarm is established through dispute resolution.
- e. Within 90 Days of optimizing the "24-Hour" alarm for any pipeline that is part of the Lakehead System, Enbridge shall conduct testing of the alarm by conducting simulations of a leak in two separate MBS Segments. Within 60 Days after completing such testing, Enbridge shall report on the results of such testing in a report that is submitted to EPA.
- f. In the event that such testing is unsuccessful, Enbridge shall, concurrently with submission of the report referred to in the preceding Subparagraph, submit to EPA for approval a proposed plan and schedule, for corrective action. Upon receipt of an approved plan

for corrective action, Enbridge shall implement the plan in accordance with the approved schedule and conduct re-testing of the alarm.

- g. Upon establishment of the optimized threshold for a Lakehead System Pipeline in accordance with Subparagraphs c or d, Enbridge shall continuously comply with the optimized alarm threshold for that pipeline, except as provided below.
 - (1) Enbridge may relax the optimized alarm threshold for a Lakehead System Pipeline if it experiences false alarms for that pipeline at a rate higher than the rate provided for in the optimization study conducted in accordance with Paragraph 103.c or d.
 - (2) If the increase in the false alarm rate is due is an equipment failure or a comparable problem that can be corrected through repairs or replacement, Enbridge shall implement such repairs or replacement and restore the optimized alarm threshold as expeditiously as practicable. In the event that the optimized alarm threshold is not restored within 60 Days, Enbridge shall provide a notification to EPA, explaining the actions taken to date and setting forth the plan and the schedule for completing the restoration of the optimized alarm threshold.
 - (3) If the increase in the false alarm rate is not due to an equipment failure or a comparable problem that can be corrected through repairs or replacement, Enbridge shall undertake a new optimization study. Enbridge shall conduct the new optimization study in accordance with Subparagraph c and d of this Paragraph, except Enbridge shall complete the optimization study and propose a new optimized alarm threshold within six months of the relaxation of the original optimized alarm threshold.
 - (4) Nothing in this Subpararaph shall authorize Enbridge to establish a temporary alarm threshold or a new optimized alarm threshold that is less sensitive to

leaks and ruptures than the 3% minimum threshold set forth in Subparagraph b of this Paragraph.

(5) In each Semi-Annual Report submitted by Enbridge in accordance with Section IX (Reporting Requirements), Enbridge shall identify each instance when a temporary alarm threshold or new optimized alarm threshold was established and, for each instance, provide (a) the date when the temporary alarm threshold was established, (b) the date when the optimized alarm threshold was restored or replaced with a new optimized alarm threshold, and (c) the reasons why Enbridge concluded that its action were compliant with the requirements of this Subparagraph g.

(V) Leak Detection Requirements for Control Room

- 104. Applicability: For the purposes of this subsection, the term "Alarm" or "Alarms" shall include any and all alarms generated by the MBS Leak Detection System and by the Rupture Detection System.
- 105. Alarm Response Team: Beginning no later than 180 Days after the Effective Date, all Alarms shall be addressed by an Alarm Response Team, which shall be composed of the following individuals in the Control Room at the time that the Alarm occurs: (1) the Control Room operator ("CRO") who is responsible for the pipeline that generates the alarm, (2) the leak detection analyst ("LD Analyst"), and (3) the senior technical advisor for that pipeline.
- 106. Remote Notification of Alarm Response Team. Beginning no later than 180 Days after the Effective Date, Enbridge shall assure that each Alarm triggers a remote notification of each member of the Alarm Response Team who has not electronically acknowledged the Alarm within two minutes after the onset of the Alarm. Such remote notification shall be sent automatically via e-mail, text message or pager. Such notification shall identify the type of alarm

(e.g. 5-minute MBS alarm), the time of its occurrence, and the MBS Segment that precipitated the alarm.

- Date, each Alarm shall result in an audible alarm, which shall instantaneously and automatically sound at the desk or workstation ("Pod") of each member of the Alarm Response Team (collectively "Alarm Recipients"). Each audible alarm shall be accompanied by an alarm window, which shall open instantaneously and automatically on the computer displays of the Alarm Recipients. While an Alarm Recipient may elect to mute the audible alarm, Enbridge shall design and implement the alarm systems to ensure that the Alarm Recipient will be unable to turn off, or otherwise hide from view, the alarm window. Enbridge must ensure that the alarm window remains present and visible on the computer display of each Alarm Recipient until the Alarm is cleared in accordance with the "Alarm Clearance Procedure" required below in Paragraph 108. In the event that the Alarm is not cleared within ten minutes of its initiation, Enbridge shall ensure that the audible alarm shall sound again and the alarm window shall change color or provide another visual cue for the purpose of alerting Alarm Recipients that the tenminute time period for evaluating the Alarm has lapsed.
- 108. *Alarm Clearance Procedures:* Beginning no later than 180 Days after the Effective Date, Enbridge shall employ the following procedures to clear all Alarms:
- a. Each and every Alarm shall remain active until either (1) the pipeline is shut down for the purpose of investigating a potential leak or rupture or (2) the Alarm Response Team completes its investigation of the Alarm and (a) accounts for any cumulative imbalance indicated by the Alarm or series of Alarms, (b) confirms the cause (or causes) of the Alarm and (c) rules out the possibility of a rupture or leak. Under the latter scenario, the Alarm shall

automatically terminate after all members of the Alarm Response Team have manually verified their completion of the steps necessary to investigate and clear the Alarm.

- b. No member of the Alarm Response Team shall resolve or clear the Alarm through a manual, one-time adjustment to any alarm system or the inputs into such alarm systems. Such adjustments may be made only after the Alarm Response Team completes its investigation and the Alarm is terminated in accordance with Subparagraph 108.a.
- c. In investigating an Alarm, the LD Analyst shall analyze and determine whether the leak detection system that generated the Alarm (i.e. the MBS Leak Detection System or the Rupture Detection System) is functioning properly. Specifically, the LD Analyst shall determine if the Alarm was result of (1) an error in the real-time data from the SCADA system (e.g. data generated by a malfunctioning instrument) or (2) a malfunction of the MBS Leak Detection System or the Rupture Detection System.
- d. Irrespective of the determination made by the LD Analyst, the CRO, in conjunction with the senior technical advisor, shall conduct an independent investigation of the Alarm. The final decision to clear the Alarm before 10 minutes have expired, if made, shall be made by the CRO. The CRO shall confer with, and obtain the concurrence of, the senior technical advisor before taking the final action to clear the Alarm in accordance with Subparagraph 108.a.
- e. A determination that an Alarm was caused by a Column Separation shall not be a permissible basis for clearing an Alarm unless the Alarm Response Team follows the procedures set forth in Subparagraphs 109.b and 109.c below.
- f. Upon clearance of an Alarm and before the end of his or her shift, each member of the Alarm Response Team shall create an electronic record of his or her actions in

response to each Alarm. Each member of the Alarm Response Team shall create such a record by reviewing and selecting categories from an electronic menu on their computer screens, provided that, in any event, the record shall identify (1) the type of alarm, (2) the reasons for clearing the alarm, and (3) the procedures followed by the team member. Each member of the Alarm Response Team shall be responsible for providing the electronic record to his or her counterpart on the subsequent shift. All such electronic records shall be stored and maintained by Enbridge for at least five years, in accordance with Paragraph 157 (record retention).

- 109. Unscheduled Shutdown Procedures in Response to an Alarm: By no later than 50 Days after the Effective Date, Enbridge shall employ the following procedures in shutting down a pipeline in response to an Alarm:
- a. *Ten-Minute Rule*: In the event that the Alarm Response Team is unable to rule out the possibility of a leak or rupture within ten minutes of the start of an Alarm, the CRO shall immediately, and without further consultation or notification, shut down and sectionalize the pipeline.
- b. Column Separation Running Pipeline: When an Alarm is caused by a Column Separation that forms in a running pipeline, the CRO shall immediately, and without further consultation or notification, shut down and sectionalize the pipeline if, within ten minutes from the start of the Alarm, the Column Separation continues to exist or the Alarm Response Team has not (1) determined the cause of the Column Separation, (2) accounted for cumulative imbalance that triggered the Alarm, and (3) ruled out the possibility of a leak or rupture. The rules stated in this Subparagraph shall not apply when the Alarm is caused by a Column Separation that occurred during or after the shutdown of the pipeline.

Column Separation – Pipeline Shutdown. When an Alarm is caused by a c. Column Separation that forms in a pipeline after the commencement of a shutdown, the CRO shall complete the shutdown as expeditiously as possible and sectionalize the pipeline to isolate the Column Separation. In addition, when an Alarm is caused by a Column Separation that formed in a pipeline after the completion of a shutdown, the CRO shall immediately sectionalize the pipeline to isolate the Column Separation. In either event, after sectionalizing the pipeline, the Alarm Response Team shall immediately investigate the Alarm to (1) determine the cause of the Column Selection, (2) account for cumulative imbalance that triggered the Alarm, and (3) attempt to rule out the possibility of a leak or rupture. Such investigation shall be completed as expeditiously as possible. If the Alarm Response Team completes its investigation and clears the Alarm in accordance with Paragraph 108 above, the CRO (or his or her replacement on a subsequent shift) may reopen sectionalizing valves and restart the pipeline, but only after the CRO, in consultation with the senior technical advisor, employs best engineering practices to calculate the amount of time that will be needed to fill the Column Separation and such calculation is reviewed and approved by a manager, as specified in the table below. After the restart of the pipeline, the CRO shall in no event continue pumping operations if the Column Separation is not filled within the time period approved by the manager for restoring the column. If the time period approved by the manager to fill the Column Separation has run and the Column Separation continues to exist, the CRO shall immediately, and without further consultation or notification, shut down and sectionalize the pipe for the purpose of investigating a possible leak or rupture. Such an investigation shall include, among other things, deploying personnel to conduct a visual inspection of the pipeline, contacting local officials to ascertain whether there

have been reports consistent with a leak or rupture, or taking other comparable steps to collect information about the condition of the pipeline.

Estimated Time to Fill Column Separation	Management Approval
10 minutes or less	Shift Supervisor
11 minutes to 30 minutes	On-Call Manager
	Control Center Operations
More than 30 minutes	VP Pipeline Control or the VP's delegate

- d. Confirmed Leak rule: In the event that any member of the Alarm Response
 Team determines that an Alarm is a Confirmed Leak or Rupture, the CRO shall immediately, and
 without further consultation or notification, shut down and sectionalize the pipeline. A
 "Confirmed Leak or Rupture" shall mean (a) an Alarm generated by the Rupture Detection
 System or (b) an Alarm generated by the MBS Leak Detection System combined with two (or
 more) other operating conditions or events that may indicate a leak or rupture. Such operating
 conditions or events shall include, but are not limited to, the following examples, unless the
 Alarm Response Team affirmatively determines the cause of the operating condition or event and
 such cause is not consistent with a leak or rupture:
 - (1) Data from the SCADA system shows any of the following conditions or event at a location <u>upstream</u> of the suspected leak or rupture:
 - Sudden drop in discharge pressure;
 - Sudden change in control valve throttling or pump speed;
 - Sudden increase in flow rate; or
 - Shut down (or lock out) of one or more pumps in combination with one (or more) of the following conditions or events: a sudden drop in upstream discharge pressure, a sudden change in upstream control valve throttling, or a sudden change in the variable frequency drive ("VFD") control.

- (2) Data from the SCADA System shows any of the following conditions or events at a location downstream of the suspected leak or rupture:
 - Sudden drop in suction pressure;
 - Sudden change in control valve throttling or pump speed;
 - Sudden drop in holding pressure at a delivery location;
 - Sudden decrease in flow rate; or
 - Shut down (or lock out) of Shut down (or lock out) of one or more pumps in combination with one (or more) of the following conditions or events at a location <u>upstream</u> of the suspected leak or rupture: a sudden drop in discharge pressure, a sudden change in control valve throttling, or a sudden change in VFD control.
- (3) Data from the SCADA System shows any of the following conditions or events at a terminal where oil is injected into the pipeline with the suspected leak or rupture:
 - Sudden increase or decrease in flow rate;
 - Sudden decrease in pressure; or
 - Shut down (or lock out) of one (or more) booster pumps in combination with a sudden decrease in pressure.
- (4) Data from the SCADA System shows any of the following conditions or events at a terminal or landing where oil is delivered from the pipeline with the suspected leak or rupture.
 - Sudden increase or decrease in flow rate;
 - Sudden decrease in pressure; or
 - Closing of a pressure control valve.

- e. Once the CRO initiates the Shutdown of a pipeline, Enbridge shall not resume pumping operations until: (i) the cause of the Alarm is determined or the integrity of the pipeline is verified; (ii) the applicable emergency procedures are completed and electronically validated by the appropriate accountable parties; and (iii) a record is generated that details the nature of the Alarm, describes how the cause of the Alarm was determined and/or how the integrity of the line was verified, and records the critical information considered during the decision-making process. After December 31, 2016, Enbridge shall comply with the requirement set forth in this Subparagraph 109.e.(iii) by making an electronic record.
- 110. Certification of Compliance with 10-Minute Rule and Other Requirements of this Subsection: Enbridge shall certify compliance with the 10-Minute Rule and other requirements relating to Alarms under this Subsection VII.G.(V) as follows:
- a. Enbridge shall prepare, electronically, a weekly list of alarms ("WLOA") that breaks down, by pipeline and type of Alarm, the total number of Alarms for the week. For each Alarm, the WLOA shall identify the date of the Alarm, the time at which it began, the time when the Alarm was cleared.
- b. For each Alarm that met the criteria for an Unscheduled Shutdown set forth in Paragraph 109, Enbridge shall prepare, electronically, a record of alarm ("ROA"), which documents the critical facts relating to the Alarm, including the positions of the Alarm Recipients, the time that the Alarm was received, and the actions (or inactions) of the Alarm Response Team.
 - (1) In each case where the 10-Minute Rule or other requirements in this Subsection VII.G.(V) required shutdown but shutdown did not occur, Enbridge shall conduct an investigation within 90 Days of the incident and prepare, electronically, a written report ("Post-Incident Report") documenting the pertinent facts and describing the

corrective actions taken as result of the post-incident review. All Post-Incident Reports shall be incorporated by reference, and attached, to the ROA.

- (2) In each case where the Alarm Response Team initiated an unscheduled shutdown, as required in Subsection VII.G.(V), the ROA shall state when the Unscheduled Shutdown was commenced, when it was completed, the cause and classification of the Alarm, each fact considered in determining the cause of the Alarm, the justification for resumption of pumping operations, and the time that pumping operations resumed.
- c. Enbridge shall provide all WLOAs and ROAs occurring during the reporting time period for all pipelines in the Lakehead System to EPA as an attachment to the Semi-Annual Report in electronic format. In addition, in the body of the Semi-Annual Report, Enbridge shall provide a summary of alarms ("SOA") that sets forth, by pipeline, the total number of alarms and states whether or not Enbridge complied with the 10-Minute Rule and other requirements set forth in Subsection VII.G.(V) in responding to Alarms. With respect to each non-compliance, Enbridge shall explain the reason for the non-compliance and identify the corrective action, if any, taken to prevent a reoccurrence of the non-compliance in its Semi-Annual Report pursuant to Paragraph 143 of the Decree.
- d. The Vice-President, Pipeline Control for Enbridge, must sign the SOA and certify that for the relevant reporting period: (1) the information contained in the SOA, as well as in the WLOAs and ROAs, is true and accurate, and (2) Enbridge has complied with the 10-Minute Rule and other requirements of this Subsection VII.G.(V), except for those non-compliances specifically listed in the SOA.

- Enbridge receives information of a potential leak or rupture from a source other than an Alarm (e.g. police or fire department officials call to report a leak), personnel in the Control Room shall conduct an immediate investigation to determine whether any Lakehead System Pipeline may have failed, resulting in a leak or rupture. Such an investigation shall be completed as expeditiously as possible, but in no event shall the investigation take more than 10 minutes from the moment that Enbridge received information concerning a potential leak or rupture and the approximate location of the potential leak, rupture or discharged oil. In the event that the investigation uncovers evidence consistent with a leak or rupture by a Lakehead System Pipeline, the CRO for the pipeline shall immediately, and without further consultation or notification, shut down and sectionalize the pipeline.
- 112. In the Semi-Annual Report submitted in accordance with Paragraph 143, Enbridge shall report all incidents during the reporting period when Enbridge received information of a potential leak or rupture from a Lakehead System Pipeline. With respect to each incident, Enbridge shall describe the investigation conducted in response to this information, including (i) the time when Enbridge received notice of a potential leak or rupture, (ii) the information provided with the notice, (iii) the time when Enbridge began its investigation, (iv) the time when Enbridge ended its investigation, and (v) the conclusion and findings of the investigation.

H. SPILL RESPONSE AND PREPAREDNESS

113. Upon confirmation of a pipeline rupture or leak, Enbridge shall immediately proceed, without delay, to take necessary and appropriate actions to minimize and prevent the discharge of oil into, and upon, the waters of the United States or adjoining shorelines. Such

actions shall include, but are not limited, to the immediate dispatch of trained personnel to the location of the rupture or leak.

114. To enhance its ability to respond to any spills that may occur along the Lakehead System, Enbridge shall undertake the actions set forth below in Paragraphs 115 to 119.

115. Agreed Exercises

- Before Termination of the Consent Decree, Enbridge shall complete four a. training exercises, in accordance with this Paragraph, to test and practice its response to a major inland oil spill from a Lakehead System Pipeline that impacts a water body ("Agreed Exercises"). Each such Agreed Exercise shall include the mobilization and deployment of Enbridge's local Incident Management Team within a functioning command post. Each Agreed Exercise shall also include deployment of personnel and equipment provided by Enbridge, and one or more of its contractors and oil spill removal organizations ("OSROs"), to a minimum of two identified downstream Control Points. Each Agreed Exercise shall test tactical deployment of personnel and equipment for containment/recovery and techniques for responding to overland flow and impacted banks and vegetation. The activities conducted as part of the Agreed Exercises shall include, but are not limited to: (i) implementation of the Incident Command System ("ICS"), including operation of the unified command structure and (ii) the deployment of equipment, which may include sorbent booms, skimmers, vacuum trucks, and other related equipment applicable to the Control Points, in and along the waterbody that is the focus of the Agreed Exercise.
- b. The Agreed Exercises shall occur in the following inland zone locations and times:
 - (1) Cass, Minnesota (2017)

- (2) Des Plaines, Illinois (2018)
- (3) Wisconsin River, Wisconsin (2019)
- (4) Stockbridge, Michigan, (2020)
- c. EPA and Enbridge may modify the location or time by joint written agreement and notice to the Court. Such modifications will not require Court approval.
- d. No later than 10 months before each of the four Agreed Exercises,

 Enbridge shall invite EPA, PHMSA, and the appropriate area committee, Sub-Area committee,
 tribal representative, state and local authorities to participate in the planning of the Agreed

 Exercises ("Planning Participants").
 - e. For each of the four Agreed Exercises Enbridge shall:
 - (1) Conduct at least three planning meetings, the first of which will take place no later than 10 months before each exercise;
 - (2) Invite all Planning Participants to each planning meeting;
 - (3) Coordinate with the Planning Participants during the initial planning meeting to develop the objectives, scenario, and participant list for the Agreed Exercise; and
 - (4) No later than 9 months before each exercise, submit a draft plan, including the scope, objectives, scenario and participant list for the exercise ("Agreed Exercise Plan") to EPA for review and approval.
- f. EPA will review each Agreed Exercise Plan to ensure that specific components namely, the objectives, scope, impact zone, scenario and invitation list for the exercise are consistent with the consensus of the participants in the planning process, as well as consistent with (i) the location, schedule, scope and impact zone identified by EPA pursuant to

Subparagraphs 115.a and 115.b of this Consent Decree and (ii) the "National Preparedness for Response Exercise Program (PREP) Guidelines," which are published by the U.S. National Response Team. In accordance with Paragraph 137 of the Consent Decree, EPA will review and approve, approve with modifications, or disapprove with comments the Agreed Exercise Plan within 7 business Days of receipt. In the event that EPA approves the Agreed Exercise Plan but also provides comments, Enbridge shall incorporate those comments into the final Agreed Exercise Plan no later than 60 Days before the Agreed Exercise.

- g. Upon receipt of an approved final Agreed Exercise Plan, Enbridge shall conduct the Agreed Exercise in accordance with the approved Agreed Exercise Plan.
- h. No later than 30 Days after the completion of each Agreed Exercise,
 Enbridge shall organize and conduct a meeting to review the Agreed Exercise for the purpose of
 identifying "lessons learned" and making recommendations to improve future Agreed Exercises
 and response actions. In planning such a meeting, known for the purposes of this Section as an
 "After-Action Review," Enbridge shall invite representatives from each Planning Participant.
- i. No later than 60 Days after the Agreed Exercise After-Action Review,
 Enbridge shall submit to EPA for review and comment a report ("After Action Report") that sets
 forth findings and conclusions regarding the Agreed Exercise. In the event EPA provides
 comments that are not incorporated into the draft After Action Report to EPA's satisfaction,
 Enbridge shall include the comment(s) as an appendix to the report. No later than 90 Days after
 receiving EPA comments, Enbridge shall provide the final report to all Planning Participants
 electronically.
 - 116. Field Exercises, Table Top Exercises, and Community Outreach

- a. Enbridge shall conduct, on an annual basis, until the Consent Decree is terminated, at least six Field Exercises and ten Table-Top Exercises, as described more fully in Subparagraphs 116.b-d below. Enbridge shall conduct such exercises in cities and towns shown on Appendix C.
- b. For the purposes of this Paragraph of the Consent Decree, a "Field Exercise" shall mean a training exercise conducted in the field to test and practice specific oil spill emergency response tactics used in the initial hours of an oil spill of at least 1,000 gallons into water. Each Field Exercise shall include (i) a deployment of select equipment and personnel to water, (ii) a review of locations downstream of a spill where containment and recovery operations can occur, (iii) implementation of one or more containment measures set forth in Enbridge's "Inland Spill Response Guide," (iv) implementation of one or more collection measures set forth in the same document, and (v) an After-Action Review conducted at the conclusion of the Field Exercise.
- c. For the purpose of this Consent Decree, a "Table-Top Exercise" shall mean an exercise one that is not conducted in the field to test and practice oil spill emergency response processes and procedures by using a hypothetical oil spill scenario. Each Table-Top exercise shall include (i) a spill scenario of at least 1,000 gallons from a pipeline in the Lakehead System located in close proximity to water, (ii) notifications of such spill to all of the government entities, including tribal authorities, that are identified in the ICPs, (iii) actions to be taken in the near-term and long-term to address the spill, (iv) the anticipated time periods for personnel and equipment to arrive at the spill site, (v) the risks that such a spill would pose to public health and the environment, and (vi) protective measures to prevent damages or injury to the local community, including evacuation procedures, as identified in the ICPs.

- d. For each Field Exercise and Table-Top Exercise, Enbridge shall send invitations to community, state, and local first responders listed in Appendix C, as well as any first responder located within 5 miles of the exercise scenario. In sending such invitations, Enbridge shall (i) provide invitees with notice at least four weeks prior to the exercise, (ii) offer to provide meals to persons who attend each exercise, and (iii) state that training will be provided at no cost to invitees, excluding travel costs. Enbridge shall provide EPA with four weeks' notice of each Field Exercise and Table Top Exercise. EPA may observe or participate in any of the Field or Table Top Exercises.
- e. In addition to the above exercises, Enbridge shall conduct or hire a contractor to conduct Community Outreach sessions regarding the hazards of the different oils in the Lakehead System and the location of Enbridge pipelines in the community and how such pipelines are marked. Specifically, within one year of the Effective Date, and for each year thereafter until the Decree is terminated, Enbridge shall hold at least 15 Community Outreach Sessions in 15 different communities where the Lakehead System is located. Enbridge shall also provide information at the Community Outreach sessions regarding: (i) how the community should respond in the event of a spill, (ii) how the community can obtain information in the event of a spill from Enbridge and government agencies, and (iii) how the community can report spills to Enbridge, EPA, and the National Response Center.

117. Control Point Plans

a. Within three years after entry of the Consent Decree, except as provided in Subparagraphs 117.c and 117.d below, Enbridge shall update and maintain information for the Control Point locations set forth in Appendix D that identify containment and recovery points, as well as identify staging locations and other response-related locations, along the waters that could

be impacted by a spill from a pipeline in the Lakehead System. The information for each control point shall include the information in Subparagraph 117.b below, and such information shall be organized in a format that is consistent with the example attached as Appendix E. Enbridge shall use such information to guide initial response actions and to plan and implement the Agreed Exercises and the Field Exercises required under Paragraphs 115 and 116 above.

- b. Enbridge shall provide the following for each of its Control Points identified in Appendix D:
 - (1) Control Point information that identifies (a) the name of the water where the Control Point is located, (b) the identification of the pipeline crossing milepost closest to the Control Point, (c) the GPS coordinates of the Control Point, (d) the entry points for vehicles to gain access to the Control Point, (e) the location of the anchor points for boom deployment, (f) the location of boat launches, and (g) any other geographical information pertinent to the preplanned response action;
 - (2) A Written Description of the Control Point that discusses (a) the width of the water during normal and high water conditions, (b) the ability of boats or vessels to operate on the water, including the type and size of boat or vessel, taking into account depth of the water column, bridge clearance, and other obstructions, (c) the velocity of the flow in the water taking into account weather and seasonal changes, and (d) other relevant characteristics of the water. In addition, Enbridge shall maintain and make available for EPA review the name and contact information of each commercial property owner or operator of each land and building where the Control Point is located;
 - (3) A Strategic Plan that describes (a) the strategy that Enbridge plans to use at the Control Point (e.g. containment vs. exclusion booming), (b) the type and

quantity of boom and other equipment needed to implement the strategy, (c) the estimated travel time for personnel and equipment to arrive at the Control Point, and (d) other issues that may impact access to, and use of, the Control Point; and

- (4) *Photos* that illustrate the information described above.
- c. With regard to the Straits of Mackinac area Control Points, no later than one year after the date of entry of this Consent Decree, Enbridge shall revise such Control Point information for the Straits of Mackinac and provide EPA with the updated information identified in Subparagraph 117.b above.
- d. Enbridge shall provide the Control Point information required in this

 Section for each Control Point location that is associated with an Agreed Exercise described above no later than six months prior to the initial planning meeting for the Agreed Exercise, except that Enbridge will not be required to provide this information six months in advance of the first Agreed Exercise described above, but will provide such information no later than 60 Days before the first Agreed Exercise is scheduled to occur..
- e. Enbridge shall submit all Control Point information required in this Section to EPA in one of the following electronic formats: (i) .csv with individual IDs for each record and associated photos with linkages to that record, (ii) shape files with individual IDs for each record and associated photos with linkages to that record, (iii) .dbf with individual IDs and latitude and longitude locations for each record and associated photos with linkages to that record, (iv) or other format agreed to, in writing, by EPA and Enbridge. Once EPA has received the updated and revised Control Point Information, EPA may provide this information to the public.
- f. Enbridge may submit a notification to EPA that it plans to amend the Control Point locations identified in Appendix D. Enbridge's notification shall identify and

explain the reasons for its change. Enbridge shall include in its Semi-Annual Report: (1) a complete description of any changes to the control point location, (2) the reasons for those changes, and (3) the information required in Subparagraph 117.b for each amended control point in a format that is consistent with Appendix E. If EPA disagrees with any of Enbridge's changes to the control point locations, EPA will notify Enbridge of its disapproval of the changed location. Within 30 Days after any EPA disapproval, Enbridge shall reinstate the original control point location that is identified in Appendix D.

- g. In addition to providing EPA with its updated Control Point information,
 Enbridge will provide the same documents, upon request, to USCG, PHMSA, Sub-Area
 Committees, state and local responders, and tribal authorities.
- 118. Review of Response Times for Transport of Personnel and Equipment to Control Points and Other Locations
- a. Within three years after the Effective Date, Enbridge shall complete a review, in accordance with this Section, of Enbridge and OSRO personnel and equipment available to respond to an oil spill from the Lakehead System. The scope of Enbridge's review shall, at a minimum, assess whether it and its OSROs can respond and meet all personnel and equipment needs within the timeframes allotted in the maps contained in the Lakehead ICPs.
- b. As part of the review required by this Section, Enbridge shall explain the methodology that it has used to estimate driving times set forth in its ICPs. Enbridge shall determine whether any other methodology might yield more accurate information and whether an appropriate additional time cushion is needed for Enbridge and OSRO personnel to reach the response location after accounting for variations in road conditions, weather, and traffic. In assessing response times for OSRO personnel, Enbridge shall review the available methodologies,

including the methodology used to estimate the driving times set forth in its ICP to estimate the amount of time for OSRO personnel to drive from their homes or workplaces and arrive at an OSRO emergency response trailer ("OER Trailer") and then travel from the OER Trailer to the response location, taking into account variations in road conditions, weather, and traffic. The result of any such review shall be revisions, to the extent needed, to ICP response time maps.

- c. Within 180 Days after completing each review of the response times contained in the ICP maps, Enbridge shall submit, electronically, to EPA for comment a draft report that discusses Enbridge's findings, and what, if any, actions Enbridge will take based on its findings. Such draft report shall explain the methodologies used by Enbridge in conducting the review, including the methodology it used to estimate the time frames in the ICP maps.
- d. Within 90 Days after Enbridge submits the draft report to EPA, in accordance with Subparagraph 118.c, above, EPA may comment on the draft report. In the event that EPA provides comments on the draft report, Enbridge shall consider those comments in finalizing the report. In the event EPA provides comments that are not incorporated into the final report to EPA's satisfaction, Enbridge shall include the comment(s) as an appendix to the final report.
- e. Enbridge shall complete the final report within 90 Days of receiving EPA's comments on the draft report or, if Enbridge does not receive any comments from EPA, then no earlier than 180 Days from providing EPA with the draft report, but no later than 240 Days after providing EPA with the draft report. Upon completion of the final report, Enbridge shall provide electronic copies of the report to EPA, as well as to the Sub-Area committees, USCG, PHMSA, and Enbridge's OSROs.

119. Coordination with Governmental Planners

- a. After the Effective Date, Enbridge shall attend and participate in all planning meetings that are held by the Buffalo, NY Area Committee and the following Sub-Area Committees: Chicago, Detroit, Duluth/Houghton, NW Indiana, Red River, Sault Ste. Marie, and W. Michigan, provided that Enbridge receives an invitation to the planning meeting at least four weeks in advance of the meeting date. Enbridge may attend and participate in such meetings by teleconference, if available, otherwise Enbridge shall participate in person. Enbridge shall become an active member of at least one sub-committee if it is invited by a Sub-area Committee or the Area Committee identified above.
- b. Within one year after the Effective Date, and for each year thereafter, Enbridge shall participate in the following activities organized by each Sub-Area.
 - (1) Field Exercise: Enbridge shall participate in at least one Field Exercise if it is invited by a Sub-Area Committee but has no obligation to attend more than one Field Exercise in each Sub-Area, even if it receives multiple invitations. For the purposes of this provision, the term "Field Exercise" shall have the same meaning that it does in Paragraph 116.b. The Field Exercises required by this Subparagraph are in addition to the Field Exercises that Enbridge must implement pursuant to Paragraph 116 of this Consent Decree.
 - Other Training Events: Enbridge shall participate in at least two other training events if it is invited by a Sub-Area Committee, but has no obligation to attend more than two other training events even if it receives multiple invitations. The training events required by this Subparagraph are in addition to the trainings, exercises and activities required elsewhere in this Consent Decree.

- c. In the event that a Sub-Area Committee or Area Committee for the Lakehead System makes written recommendations to Enbridge regarding its emergency preparedness plans and implementation, Enbridge shall respond in writing within 90 Days of receipt of such recommendations and submit an electronic copy of the response to EPA.
- d. In the event that Enbridge receives a request to meet and discuss response planning strategies to ensure consistency with the Area Plan, Enbridge shall agree to such a meeting at a mutually convenient time, provided that the request is made by EPA, PHMSA, USCG, tribal representatives, or state or local authorities.
- e. Within 2 months after the Effective Date, Enbridge shall provide a redacted electronic copy of the ICPs for the Lakehead System together with a redacted electronic copy of the "Straits of Mackinac Tactical Response Plan," to the Area Committees and the Sub-Area Committees identified in Subparagraph 119.a.
- f. Upon request, Enbridge shall provide an unredacted electronic copy of the ICPs for the Lakehead System and/or an unredacted electronic copy of the "Straits of Mackinac Tactical Response Plan," to EPA.
- g. Within 30 Days after the Effective Date, Enbridge shall submit to EPA and each of the Sub-Area Committees and the Area Committee identified in Subparagraph 119.a, electronically, for the Lakehead System a map showing the locations of Enbridge's prepositioned emergency response equipment and materials for the Lakehead System. For each location, Enbridge shall also provide the complete inventory of all prepositioned emergency response equipment and materials.
- h. As of the Effective Date, Enbridge will coordinate with EPA, and the Area Committee and the Sub-Area Committees identified in Subparagraph 119.a, to identify potential

measures to improve response times in the Lakehead System. Enbridge shall maintain, in good working order, any prepositioned emergency response equipment and materials, and shall replace any such prepositioned emergency response equipment and materials that are expired or used and cannot be reused within 30 calendar days after its expiration or use. In the event that Enbridge makes a modification to the inventory at a prepositioned location by adding or subtracting prepositioned emergency response equipment or materials, or by changing the type of such equipment or materials, Enbridge shall provide electronic written notice of the changes, on an annual basis, to EPA and to each of the Sub-Area Committees and the Area Committee.

- i. As of the Effective Date, Enbridge shall maintain on its website, publicly available, copies of its "Inland Spill Response Guide."
- j. Upon request, Enbridge shall provide a copy of the "Inland Spill Response Guide" to EPA.
- k. All documents that Enbridge is required to provide under this

 Paragraph 119 must be provided electronically. Enbridge shall provide documents electronically within fourteen business days of any request, unless otherwise stated in the request or as otherwise required by law or regulation. With respect to the map that Enbridge shall provide under this Subparagraph 119.g, Enbridge shall provide the map in one of the following electronic formats: (a) .csv with individual IDs for each record and associated photos with linkages to that record, (b) shape files with individual IDs for each record and associated photos with linkages to that record, (c) .dbf with individual IDs, latitude and longitude for each record and associated photos with linkages to that record, or (d) other format agreed to, in writing, by EPA and Enbridge.
 - 120. Incident Command System Training

Prior to being listed as an Incident Commander, Deputy Incident a. Commander or Alternate Incident Commander of any Enbridge Regional Incident Management Team ("RIMT") in any Lakehead ICP, and before participating in any spill response or exercise as a member of the RIMT, all such personnel shall have completed Incident Command System ("ICS") Level 100B through Level 400 and position-specific training for the position in which they will serve. All other personnel listed as a member of any Enbridge RIMT in any Lakehead ICP shall have completed ICS Level 100B through Level 300 and position-specific training for the position in which they will serve prior to being listed as a member of any Enbridge RIMT in any Lakehead ICP and prior to participating in any spill response or exercise. Prior to being designated as a Regional Emergency Response Coordinator, all such personnel shall have completed ICS Level 100B through 400 training. All emergency management departmental staff shall have completed ICS Level 100B through 300 training within 90 Days after being assigned as emergency management departmental staff. Any person who is designated as Enbridge's Vice President of U.S. Operations, or in an equivalent capacity, shall have completed ICS Level 402 training within 90 Days after such designation. Any other manager or executive who gives direction to field personnel, or is responsible for making funding, personnel, or resource decisions during a spill response, and has not taken ICS Level 100B through 400 training, shall have completed ICS Level 402 training prior to being assigned such responsibilities. All such training must be in accordance with the FEMA recommendations and all training shall be conducted by National Incident Management System ("NIMS") certified instructors. After the Effective Date, Enbridge shall ensure that each ICS role for all four Lakehead Regional Response Zones is filled with a person who has met these training requirements.

- b. After the Effective Date, each person assigned to takeover an ICS role, or takeover as an alternate for such a role, shall complete this training prior to beginning such duties. Within 365 Days after the Effective Date, Enbridge shall train at least one Enbridge employee for each Incident Management Team position.
- c. The requirements in this Paragraph 120 shall apply to all RIMT personnel, irrespective of whether such personnel are employed directly by Enbridge, by a related entity, or by a third-party contractor and to the managers and executives identified in Subparagraph 120.a, and to at least one group of personnel employed directly by Enbridge who must be trained to serve as a RIMT member. Enbridge shall maintain electronic certification documents to confirm personnel training and make these documents available to EPA upon request. Training records shall include the name, title, RIMT assigned role, and date of each ICS training level for each employee.

I. NEW REMOTELY CONTROLLED VALVES

- 121. Within the period of the Consent Decree, Enbridge shall install 14 new Remotely Controlled Valves on the Lakehead System for the purpose of minimizing the volume of oil that can be released into the environment in the event of a rupture or leak.
- 122. Enbridge shall install the 14 new Remotely Controlled Valves on three Lakehead System Pipelines namely, Line 5, Line 6A, and Line 14. For each pipeline, Enbridge shall install a new valve between each pair of valves shown in the chart below.

Line	New Valve	New Valve to be Installed Between	
Line	Reference #	Valve at Milepost	Valve at Milepost
5	1	1406.45	1422.97
	2	1422.97	1439.71

Line	New Valve	New Valve to be Installed Between		
	Reference #	Valve at Milepost	Valve at Milepost	
	3	1465.50	1475.63	
	4	1479.75	1496.64	
	5	1515.11	1532.11	
	6	1592.12	1613.93	
	7	1613.93	1636.71	
	8	1704.74	1721.43	
6A	9	70.09	88.18	
	10	190.63	201.24	
	11	425.95	437.52	
	12	456.03	465.39	
14	13	419.67	437.76	
	14	403.50	417.92	

- 123. In selecting the exact location of each valve, Enbridge shall use computer modeling to assess different locations and estimate the volume of oil that will likely be released from each location in the event of rupture, taking into account elevation, line pressure, and other pertinent factors. In addition, Enbridge should apply dispersion modeling to estimate where oil will likely travel in the event of a rupture. Based upon these analyses, Enbridge shall install each Remotely Controlled Valve at the location that best advances the goals of (1) reducing the volume of oil released from the pipeline in the event of a discharge, (2) protecting waterbodies, wetlands, and other sensitive habitat from oil, and (3) minimizing the impact to environmental resources caused by construction activities to install the Sectionalizing Valve.
- 124. Enbridge shall design, install, and operate each Remotely Controlled Valve so that valve can be opened or closed remotely by an operator in Enbridge's Control Room. Each valve shall fully close and seal within three minutes of the operator engaging the valve-closure control on his or her control panel.

J. INDEPENDENT THIRD PARTY CONSENT DECREE COMPLIANCE VERIFICATION

- 125. Enbridge will retain, at its expense, an Independent Third Party to conduct a comprehensive verification of Enbridge's compliance with the requirements set forth in this Section VII (Injunctive Measures) of the Consent Decree, except the Independent Third Party shall not be responsible for assessing Enbridge's compliance with requirements in Subsection VII.H (Spill Response and Preparedness). In addition, the Independent Third Party shall, at Enbridge's expense, perform the tasks set forth in this Section VII.J.
- 126. The Independent Third Party shall act independently and objectively when performing third-party services set forth in Paragraph 125. Enbridge will provide the Independent Third Party with full access to all facilities that are part of Enbridge's Lakehead System, and provide or otherwise make available any necessary personnel, documents, and databases to fully perform all activities and services required under Paragraph 125.
- 127. Within 15 Days of the Effective Date, Enbridge shall submit to the United States a list of candidates to serve as Independent Third Party. If practicable, the list shall include at least three candidates, but in no event shall Enbridge propose less than two candidates. Except as set forth in Paragraph 128, Enbridge shall certify that each candidate meets the conditions set forth in Subparagraphs 127.a e below. If requested, Enbridge shall provide resumes, biographical information, and other relevant material concerning the candidates, including information on the relationship between Enbridge and the candidates.
- a. The Independent Third Party and its personnel have demonstrated experience in pipeline integrity and operations, and have the appropriate education to provide the third-party services identified in Paragraph 125;

- b. The Independent Third Party and its personnel have not conducted research, development, design, construction, financial, engineering, legal, consulting or any other advisory services for Enbridge within the last three years;
- c. The Independent Third Party has not been involved in the development of Enbridge's control room, leak detection or pipeline integrity procedures that are the subject of this Consent Decree;
- d. The Independent Third Party will not provide commercial, business or voluntary services to the Enbridge, excluding services provided in its capacity as Independent Third Party, for the life of the Consent Decree and for a period of at least three years following termination of the Consent Decree; and
- e. Enbridge will not provide future employment to any of the Independent Third Party's personnel who conducted or otherwise participated in verification services under this Consent Decree for a period of at least three (3) years following termination of the Consent Decree.
- 128. In the event that Enbridge is not able to certify that a candidate meets all the conditions in Subparagraphs 127.a- e and if Enbridge is unable, after extensive efforts, to identify an alternative candidate that would satisfy such conditions, Enbridge shall submit to the United States: (a) an explanation of its efforts to find an alternative candidate, (b) the name of an alternative candidate that does not completely meet all the independence requirements in Subparagraphs 127.a e with an explanation of specifically which conditions are not being met and the reasons why they are not being met, and (c) a Conflict of Interest Mitigation Plan for how Enbridge will ensure that such candidate, if selected as the Independent Third Party, would still have sufficient independence to objectively and competently perform the obligations set forth in

this Consent Decree. Cost alone is not a reason to allow a deviation from the conditions in Paragraph 127. The United States will review each alternative candidate proposed by Enbridge to determine whether such candidate is acceptable. If the United States determines the party is not acceptable, the United States may demand that Enbridge identify another candidate, in which event Enbridge shall, within 60 Days of receipt of such demand, either comply with the demand or pursue Dispute Resolution under the terms of this decree.

- 129. The United States will notify Enbridge in writing whether it approves one or more of the proposed candidates to serve as the Independent Third Party. Within 30 Days of the United States' approval, Enbridge shall retain one of the approved candidates to serve as the Independent Third Party.
- 130. If the United States rejects all of the candidates proposed by Enbridge to serve as the Independent Third Party, within 60 Days of receipt of the United States' notification, Enbridge shall submit to the United States for approval another list of candidates to serve as the Independent Third Party. In submitting the new list of candidates, Enbridge shall comply with the requirements set forth in Paragraphs 127 and 128. The United States shall review the proposed replacement in accordance with Paragraph 129 and this Paragraph 130.
- 131. Enbridge shall provide EPA with a copy of Enbridge's agreement with the Independent Third Party within 5 Days of the execution of the agreement. In the agreement, Enbridge shall require the Independent Third Party to perform the tasks set forth in Paragraphs 132 and 133 below. The retention agreement shall also include the requirements set forth in Paragraph 134 below.

- 132. Enbridge's written agreement with the Independent Third Party shall explicitly require the Independent Third Party to perform all of the tasks assigned to the Independent Third Party in this Consent Decree, including:
- a. Task 1 -- Initial Project Planning Meeting with Region 5 in Chicago.

 Within 60 Days of the entry of this Consent Decree by the court, the Independent Third Party shall meet with EPA to provide an overview and detailed project plan of how it plans to perform all of its obligations in this Consent Decree. The Independent Third Party shall bring its key personnel to such meeting, including the lead manager and senior staff involved in implementing its obligations. A representative of Enbridge may attend this meeting.
- Independent Third Party shall review and evaluate all proposed plans, reports, and other deliverables that Enbridge is required to submit under this Consent Decree, except the Independent Third Party shall not review submittals (or portions of submittals) relating to spill response and preparedness. With respect to each submittal that the Independent Third Party is required to review, the Independent Third Party shall evaluate the completeness of the submittal and its compliance with the requirements of the Consent Decree. If requested by EPA, the Third Party shall also prepare and provide EPA with a written report of its evaluation. In the event that the submittal requires action by EPA under Paragraph 137 (Approval of Deliverables), the Independent Third Party shall make a recommendation to EPA as to the action it should take, as well as prepare documentation in support of such recommendation. The Independent Third Party shall complete all of the requirements of this Task within 45 Days of receipt of a request from EPA.

- Independent Third Party shall review and evaluate Enbridge's compliance with all requirements set forth in this Section VII of the Consent Decree, except those requirements listed in Subsection VII.H (Spill Response and Preparedness). The Independent Third Party shall complete its initial review within 16 months after the Effective Date of the Consent Decree. Upon request by EPA, it shall conduct further reviews periodically until the Consent Decree is terminated under Section XX (Termination). In conjunction with each review, the Independent Third Party shall prepare a verification report in accordance with Paragraph 133 below. In the event that EPA is unable to determine Enbridge's compliance with the Consent Decree based upon the information that is available to EPA, EPA may request that the Independent Third Party collect and provide additional information for the purpose of enabling EPA to confirm Enbridge's compliance.
- Extension of Time: The Independent Third Party shall review all requests or demands by
 Enbridge for additional time to complete the requirements under Section VII of the Consent
 Decree, upon request from EPA, although the Independent Third Party shall not review such
 requests with respect to requirements listed in Subsection VII.H (Spill Response and
 Preparedness). In the event that Enbridge claims that it is entitled to additional time under
 Section XII ("Force Majeure"), the Independent Third Party shall, upon request from EPA,
 review all information provided by Enbridge and make a recommendation to EPA within 72
 hours as to whether Enbridge's claim is supported by the underlying facts, technology, business
 needs, and any constraints beyond the control of Enbridge. Otherwise, the Independent Third
 Party shall provide a recommendation to EPA, upon request from EPA within ten Days of receipt

of Enbridge's request for additional time. The Independent Third Party shall prepare written documentation in support of its recommendations to EPA within the time frames set forth above in this Task and make such documentation available to EPA upon request.

e. Task 5 – Requests for Modification of the Consent Decree: The Independent Third Party shall, upon request from EPA, review all requests by Enbridge for changes to requirements under Section VII of the Consent Decree, unless the proposed changes relate to requirements listed in Subsection VII.H (Spill Response and Preparedness). The Independent Third Party shall provide a recommendation to EPA within 21 Days of receipt of the request of EPA's request for review. The Independent Third Party shall prepare within the same 21-Day period written documentation in support of its recommendations to EPA and make such documentation available to EPA upon request.

133. *Verification Report*:

a. In accordance with the schedule set forth under Subparagraph 132.c, above, the Independent Third Party shall prepare a written report, entitled "Verification Report," that sets forth findings, conclusions and recommendations, if any, as to each of the requirements in this Section VII of the Consent Decree, excluding requirements listed in Subsection VII.H (Spill Response and Preparedness). In preparing the report, the Independent Third Party shall consider the Semi-Annual Reports submitted by Enbridge under Section IX (Reporting Requirements) of the Consent Decree, but the Independent Third Party may consider additional information collected from information requests or visits to Enbridge's facilities. The Verification Report shall list all information considered by the Independent Third Party, all persons interviewed by the Independent Third Party, and summarize any relevant oral communications which occurred

between the Independent Third Party and Enbridge. Upon completion of each Verification Report, the Independent Third Party shall submit the report concurrently to EPA and Enbridge.

- b. Within 90 Days of receiving a Verification Report, Enbridge shall submit to EPA a response to all findings, conclusions and recommendations set forth in the Verification Report. To the extent that Enbridge concurs with a finding or conclusion that Enbridge is in noncompliance with the Consent Decree or that it has yet to complete a requirement, Enbridge shall state whether it agrees with the recommended actions for achieving compliance, as well as whether it agrees with the recommended schedule for completing those actions. Alternatively, in the event Enbridge disagrees with any of the Independent Third Party's findings or conclusions, Enbridge shall explain the basis for the disagreement and propose changes to the Verification Report that would address its concern. In either event, to the extent that Enbridge disagrees with any aspect of the Independent Third Party's recommendations for corrective action, Enbridge shall propose its own corrective actions, as well as its own schedule for completing those actions.
- c. Within 30 Days of receipt of Enbridge's response, the Independent Third Party shall submit a reply to Enbridge and EPA that addresses each of the issues raised by Enbridge. To the extent that the Independent Third Party concurs with Enbridge's response, the Independent Third Party shall provide EPA and Enbridge with a revised and corrected Verification Report.
- d. EPA shall not be bound by the Verification Report as revised and corrected by the Independent Third Party. EPA may accept or reject, in whole or in part, the Independent Third Party's findings, conclusions, and recommendations. If EPA determines that Enbridge is in violation of any requirement subject to stipulated penalties under Section XI (Stipulated Penalties), Enbridge shall be liable for such penalties, regardless of the Verification Report,

unless Enbridge successfully challenges the assessment of stipulated penalties under Section XIII (Dispute Resolution). Likewise, if EPA determines that Enbridge must take certain actions to achieve compliance with the Consent Decree, Enbridge shall perform all such actions, and it shall do so in accordance with the schedule set by EPA, regardless of the Verification Report, unless Enbridge successfully challenges the actions or the schedule under Section XIII (Dispute Resolution).

- 134. <u>General Requirements</u>: In addition to the tasks set forth in Paragraphs 132 and 133 above, Enbridge's written agreement with the Independent Third Party shall explicitly require the following:
- a. The Independent Third Party owes a duty to the United States to provide objective and fair assessment of Enbridge's compliance with the Consent Decree.
- b. The Independent Third Party shall provide notice within two Days to Enbridge and the United States in the event that the Independent Third Party is unable to continue to serve as the Independent Third Party under this Consent Decree.
- c. Enbridge may terminate the agreement only for good cause shown and with consent of the United States.
- d. The Independent Third Party shall provide EPA with an advance schedule of any on-site visits, telephone calls, or other meetings with Enbridge or its agents or contractors and shall invite EPA to participate in person or by teleconference. The Independent Third Party shall simultaneously provide Enbridge with a copy of any such advance schedule.
- e. The Independent Third Party must assess whether Enbridge's Semi-Annual Reports and other submittals pursuant to the Consent Decree are supported by the facts and best engineering judgment.

- f. The Independent Third Party shall concurrently share any draft or preliminary findings or reports in any format (electronic or paper) with all of the Parties.
- g. Prior to hiring a subcontractor to perform any of the tasks identified in Paragraph 132 and 133 above, the Independent Third Party shall: (i) ensure that the subcontractor meets all the conditions and requirements set forth in Paragraph 127, except as provided in Subparagraph 134.h below, (ii) comply with all requests by Enbridge or the United States for resumes, biographical information, and other relevant material concerning the subcontractor, and (iii) seek and obtain approval of the subcontractor by the United States.
- h. To the extent the Independent Third Party is unable to identify a subcontractor that meets all the conditions and requirement set forth in Paragraph 127, after extensive efforts to identify such a party, the Independent Third Party shall submit to the United States: (i) an explanation of its efforts to find such a subcontractor, (ii) a proposal for an alternative subcontractor that does not completely meet all the independence requirements in Paragraph 127 with an explanation of specifically which conditions are not being met, and (iii) a Conflict of Interest Mitigation Plan for how the Independent Third Party will ensure that such a subcontractor will still have sufficient independence to objectively and competently perform the obligations set forth in this Consent Decree. Cost alone is not a reason to allow a deviation from the conditions in Paragraph 127. The United States will review the Independent Third Party's proposed alternative subcontractor and will determine whether the proposed subcontractor is acceptable. If the United States determines the proposed subcontractor is not acceptable, then the Independent Third Party shall submit a different party for review and acceptance.
- i. The Independent Third Party shall ensure that no personnel and/or subcontractors assigned to provide verification services in connection with the Consent Decree

will seek or obtain employment by Enbridge for the life of the Consent Decree and for at least three years following termination of the Consent Decree.

- j. The Independent Third Party and/or its subcontractors shall not provide commercial, business or voluntary services to Enbridge, excluding services provided in its capacity as the Independent Third Party, for a period of at least three years following termination of the Consent Decree.
- k. The Independent Third Party shall disclose to the United States any conflicts of interests for it or its subcontractors that may arise with respect to its review and verification of Enbridge's compliance with the Consent Decree. In the event of a conflict, the Independent Third Party shall take any and all action to resolve such conflict.
- 1. The Independent Third Party and its subcontractors shall annually certify to the United States its compliance with Subparagraphs 134,g k.
- m. The Verification Report, or any information developed or findings or recommendations of the Independent Third Party, shall not be subject to any privilege or protection.
- 135. Enbridge shall enforce the terms of its written agreement with the Independent Third Party to ensure compliance with this Section VII.J.
- 136. Independent Third Party Replacement: Within 30 Days of receipt of notice that the Independent Third Party is no longer able to perform the duties set forth in this Subsection VII.J, Enbridge shall propose a replacement Independent Third Party and the United States shall approve or reject the proposed Independent Third Party replacement in accordance with the procedures and requirements set forth in Paragraphs 127 to 130, above. Within 30 Days of the United States' approval of a replacement, Enbridge shall retain the Independent Third Party to

perform the remaining tasks set forth in Paragraphs 132 and 133, above. Enbridge's retention agreement with the Independent Third Party shall also include the requirements set forth in Paragraph 134 and shall comply with this Section VII.J, generally. Within 5 Days of its execution, Enbridge shall provide to EPA a copy of Enbridge's agreement with the replacement Independent Third Party.

VIII. REVIEW AND APPROVAL OF DOCUMENTS

- 137. Approval of Deliverables. After review of any plan, report, or other item that is required to be submitted for approval pursuant to this Consent Decree, EPA shall in writing:

 (a) approve the submission, (b) approve the submission upon specified conditions, (c) approve part of the submission and disapprove the remainder, or (d) disapprove the submission.
- 138. If the submission is approved pursuant to Paragraph 137.(a), Enbridge shall take all actions required by the plan, report, or other document, in accordance with the schedules and requirements of the plan, report, or other document, as approved. If the submission is conditionally approved or approved only in part pursuant to Paragraph 137.(b) or 137.(c), Enbridge shall, upon written direction from EPA, take all actions required by the approved plan, report, or other item that EPA determines are technically severable from any disapproved portions, subject to Enbridge's right to dispute only the specified conditions or the disapproved portions, under Section XIII (Dispute Resolution).
- 139. If the submission is disapproved in whole or in part pursuant to Paragraph 137.(c) or 137.(d), Enbridge shall, within 45 Days or such other time as the Parties agree to in writing, correct all deficiencies and resubmit the plan, report, or other item, or disapproved portion thereof, for approval, in accordance with the preceding Paragraphs. If the resubmission is approved in whole or in part, Enbridge shall proceed in accordance with the preceding Paragraph.

- 140. Any stipulated penalties and Interest applicable to the original submission, as provided in Section XI, shall continue to accrue during the forty-five Day period or other specified period, but shall not be payable unless the resubmission is untimely or is disapproved in whole or in part; provided that, if the original submission was so deficient as to constitute a material breach of Enbridge's obligations under this Decree, the stipulated penalties applicable to the original submission shall be due and payable notwithstanding any subsequent resubmission.
- 141. If a resubmitted plan, report, or other item, or portion thereof, is disapproved in whole or in part, EPA may again require Enbridge to correct any deficiencies, in accordance with the preceding Paragraphs, subject to Enbridge's right to invoke Dispute Resolution and the right of EPA to seek stipulated penalties as provided in the preceding Paragraphs.
- 142. Permits. Where any compliance obligation under this Consent Decree requires

 Enbridge to obtain a federal, state, or local permit or approval, Enbridge shall submit timely and
 complete applications and take all other actions necessary to obtain all such permits or approvals.

 Enbridge may seek relief under the provisions of Section XII (Force Majeure) for any delay in the
 performance of any such obligation resulting from a failure to obtain, or a delay in obtaining, any
 permit or approval required to fulfill such obligation, if Enbridge has submitted timely and
 complete applications and has taken all other actions necessary to obtain all such permits or
 approvals.

IX. REPORTING REQUIREMENTS

143. Defendants shall prepare and submit to EPA, electronically and in writing, on a semi-annual basis, a report documenting Enbridge's compliance with the Consent Decree ("Semi-Annual Report"). The first Semi-Annual Report, which shall be submitted by Enbridge not later than 240 Days after the Effective Date, shall document activities over the first six months after the

Effective Date. Enbridge shall submit the second report, documenting compliance over the next six months, no later than six months after its first report is due. Enbridge shall thereafter continue to submit the Semi-Annual Reports on a rolling six-month basis until termination of the Consent Decree under Section XX (Termination).

- 144. Enbridge shall include in the Semi-Annual Report all information that is expressly required under Paragraphs 29, 31, 49, 96, and 110.c of the Consent Decree. In addition, Enbridge shall summarize and discuss the status of compliance with respect to all other requirements in Subsections VII.A-J (Injunctive Measures). Specifically, with respect to each requirement, Enbridge shall discuss such matters as completion of milestones, problems encountered or anticipated in implementing the requirement (together with implemented or proposed solutions), status of permit applications, operation and maintenance issues, reports to state agencies, number, by types, of features repaired or mitigated during the reporting period and the number, by type, planned for future repair or mitigation, and any significant changes or issues since the previous Semi-Annual Report.
- 145. In the event that Enbridge failed to comply with any requirement or deadline under this Consent Decree during the reporting period for the Semi-Annual Report, or if Enbridge anticipates that it will violate a requirement at any time in the future, Enbridge shall identify the likely cause (or causes) of the non-compliance, the facts and circumstance that led (or will lead) to such an event, the remedial steps taken (or to be taken) to rectify the non-compliance, the dates that such steps were taken (or will be taken), the date they complied or will comply with the requirement, and the plan for ensuring that non-compliance is not repeated elsewhere in the future.

- 146. Each Semi-Annual Report shall identify each discharge from a Lakehead System Pipeline of one or more barrels of oil, as well as any discharge of oil that reaches any waterbody or waters of the United States or adjoining shorelines in a quantity as may be harmful. This portion of the report shall list:
 - a. Spill date;
 - b. National Response Center identification number (if applicable);
- c. Narrative description of spill location, cause of the spill; spill material, and quantity of spill;
 - d. Distance spill traveled;
 - e. Sheen, sludge or emulsion observed;
 - f. Name of water that spill entered (if applicable);
 - g. Identification of any water quality standard that was exceeded/violated;
- h. Descriptions of actions taken or planned to address spill and prevent future spills and schedule for future actions;
 - i. Description of any environmental impacts from spill; and
- j. The root cause of the spill, provided, however, that if the root cause of the spill is not known at the time a Semi-Annual Report is due, Enbridge shall report the root cause of the spill in the next Semi-Annual Report.
- 147. Each Semi-Annual Report shall include an update on oil spills reported in previous Semi-Annual Reports, including revisions to volume spills and status of actions taken to address the spill, including actions taken to prevent future spills from similar causes and costs.
- 148. Each Semi-Annual Report shall include copies of all Post Incident Reports generated during the semi-annual period if not previously provided upon request.

- 149. <u>Emergency Report</u>: Enbridge shall notify EPA as soon as possible, but no later than 24 hours after Enbridge first knows of any circumstance relating to its performance under the Decree that may pose an immediate threat to public health or welfare or the environment. This procedure is in addition to the other reporting requirements set forth in this Section IX.
- 150. Enbridge shall submit all reports under this Section IX in accordance with Section XVI (Notices).
- 151. Whenever Enbridge is required to submit information to EPA pursuant to any section of this Consent Decree except Section VII.H (Spill Response and Preparedness), Enbridge must simultaneously submit the same information to the Independent Third Party.
- 152. The reporting requirements of this Consent Decree do not relieve Enbridge of any reporting obligations required by the Clean Water Act, the Pipeline Safety Act, the Oil Pollution Act, or their implementing regulations, or by any other federal, state, or local law, regulation, permit, or other requirement.
- 153. Any information provided pursuant to this Consent Decree may be used by the United States in any proceeding to enforce the provisions of this Consent Decree and as otherwise permitted by law.
- 154. Each report or written notice submitted by Enbridge under this Section (not including an emergency report under Paragraph 149) shall be signed by a corporate official and include the following certification:

I certify under penalty of law that this document and all attachments were prepared under my direction or supervision in accordance with a system designed to assure that qualified personnel properly gather and evaluate the information submitted. Based on any personal knowledge I may have and my inquiry of the person or persons who manage the system or those persons directly responsible for gathering the information, the information submitted is, to the best of my knowledge and belief, true, accurate, and complete. I am aware that

there are significant penalties for submitting false information, including the possibility of fine and imprisonment for knowing violations.

155. Claims of Confidentiality

- a. In making any submittal under this Consent Decree, Enbridge may claim that submittal, in whole or in part, contains confidential business information ("CBI") or other information protected by statute. If Enbridge makes such a claim, Enbridge shall: (i) include with the submittal a redacted (or revised) version of the submittal ("Redacted Submittal") that EPA may publicly release, and (ii) provide an explanation of each basis for its assertion that the submittal contains CBI or other protected information.
- b. EPA may accept or reject, in whole or in part, Enbridge's claim that a submittal contains CBI or other information protected by statute. To the extent that EPA does not accept Enbridge's claim, EPA may decide that the Redacted Submittal is adequate for public disclosure purposes or, alternatively, may ask Enbridge to consent to certain changes to the Redacted Submittal. In either event, EPA shall not publicly release any portion of the submittal subject to Enbridge's claim of confidentiality unless and until EPA rejects such a claim in accordance with the procedures set forth in its regulations at 40 C.F.R. Part 2. In the event that EPA finds that the report does not contain CBI or other protected information, Enbridge shall have the opportunity to challenge that determination in accordance with EPA's regulations.

X. INFORMATION COLLECTION AND RETENTION

- 156. The United States and its representatives, including attorneys, contractors, and consultants, shall have the right of entry, upon presentation of credentials, to any part of the Lakehead System for the purpose of:
 - a. monitoring the progress of activities required under this Consent Decree;

- b. verifying any data or information submitted to the United States in accordance with the terms of this Consent Decree;
- c. obtaining documentary evidence, including photographs and similar data; and/or
 - d. assessing Enbridge' compliance with this Consent Decree.
- 157. Until five years after the termination of this Consent Decree, Enbridge shall retain, and shall instruct its contractors and agents to preserve, all non-identical copies of all documents, records, or other information (including documents, records, or other information in electronic form) in its or its contractors' or agents' possession or control, or that come into its or its contractors' or agents' possession or control, and that relate in any manner to Enbridge's performance or implementation of their obligations under this Consent Decree, including all underlying documents and records from which it has compiled any documents, reports, notices or submissions required by this Consent Decree. This information-retention requirement shall apply regardless of any contrary corporate or institutional policies or procedures. At any time during this information-retention period, upon request by the United States, Enbridge shall provide copies of any documents, records, or other information required to be maintained under this Paragraph.
- Paragraph, Enbridge shall notify the United States, pursuant to Section XVI (Notices) at least 90 Days prior to the destruction of any documents, records, or other information subject to the requirements of the preceding Paragraph and, upon request by the United States, Enbridge shall deliver any such documents, records, or other information to the United States. Enbridge may assert that certain documents, records, or other information is privileged under the attorney-client

privilege or any other privilege recognized by federal law. If Enbridge asserts such a privilege, they shall provide the following: (a) the title of the document, record, or information; (b) the date of the document, record, or information; (c) the name and title of each author of the document, record, or information; (d) the name and title of each addressee and recipient; (e) a description of the subject of the document, record, or information; and (f) the privilege asserted by Enbridge. However, no documents, records, or other information created or generated pursuant to the requirements of this Consent Decree shall be withheld on grounds of privilege.

- 159. Enbridge may also assert that information required to be provided under this Section is protected as Confidential Business Information ("CBI") under 40 C.F.R. Part 2. As to any information that Enbridge seeks to protect as CBI, Enbridge shall follow the procedures set forth in 40 C.F.R. Part 2 and Paragraph 155.
- 160. This Consent Decree in no way limits or affects any right of entry and inspection, or any right to obtain information, held by the United States pursuant to applicable federal laws, regulations, or permits, nor does it limit or affect any duty or obligation of Enbridge to maintain documents, records, or other information imposed by applicable federal or state laws, regulations, or permits.

XI. STIPULATED PENALTIES

161. Enbridge shall be liable for stipulated penalties to the United States for violations of this Consent Decree as specified below, unless excused under Section XII (Force Majeure). A violation includes failing to perform any obligation required by the terms of this Decree, including any plan or schedule approved under this Decree, according to all applicable requirements of this Decree and within the specified time schedules established by or approved under this Decree.

- 162. <u>Late Payment of Civil Penalty</u>: If Enbridge fails to pay the civil penalty and Interest required to be paid under Section V (Civil Penalty) when due, Enbridge shall pay a stipulated penalty of \$7,500 per Day for each Day that the payment is late.
- 163. <u>Late Reimbursement of Removal Costs</u>: If Enbridge fails to reimburse the Fund for Past Removal Costs or Future Removal Costs to be reimbursed under Section VI (Payment of Removal Costs) when due, Enbridge shall pay a stipulated penalty of \$7,500 per Day for each Day that the reimbursement is late.

164. <u>Violation of Requirements Regarding Injunctive Relief</u>:

- a. Enbridge shall pay a stipulated penalty of \$10,000 per Day for each Day that Enbridge (1) violates the injunction prohibiting use of Former Line 6B under Subsection VII of the Consent Decree or (2) violates the injunction regarding the use of the Original US Line 3 under Paragraph 22 of the Consent Decree.
- b. Enbridge shall pay a stipulated penalty of \$20,000 for each incident in which Enbridge (1) violates an unscheduled shutdown procedure set forth in Paragraph 109 of the Consent Decree or (2) fails to report such violations in accordance with Paragraph 110 of the Consent Decree.
- c. Enbridge shall pay a stipulated penalty of \$15,000 for each incident in which Enbridge violates the requirement in Paragraph 113 for immediate response to a confirmed leak or rupture.
 - d. For any instance in which Enbridge adopted an Alternate Plan or an alternate interim pressure restriction in violation of Subparagraph 46.e or 46.f, Enbridge shall be subject to daily stipulated penalties under Subparagraph 164.e for each failure to meet applicable requirements or deadlines established in Subsection VII.D.(V).

e. The follow stipulated penalties shall accrue per Day for each violation for failure to comply with all other requirements of Section VII (Injunctive Measures), including provisions in the Appendices:

Penalty Per Violation Per Day	Period of Noncompliance	
\$ 2,000	1st through 14th Day	
\$ 3,500	15th through 30th Day	
\$ 5,000	31st Day and beyond	

165. <u>Violation of Other Requirements of the Consent Decree</u>: The following stipulated penalties shall accrue per Day for each violation of the requirements of this Consent Decree other than those in Section V (Civil Penalty), Section VI (Payments for Removal Costs), or Section VII (Injunctive Measures).

Penalty Per Violation Per Day	Period of Noncompliance	
\$ 500	1st through 14th Day	
\$1,000	15th through 30th Day	
\$2,000	31st Day and beyond	

- 166. Stipulated penalties under this Section shall begin to accrue on the Day after performance is due or on the Day a violation occurs, whichever is applicable, and shall continue to accrue until performance is satisfactorily completed or until the violation ceases. Stipulated penalties shall accrue simultaneously for separate violations of this Consent Decree.
- 167. Enbridge shall pay any stipulated penalty within 30 Days of receiving a written demand from the United States. If Enbridge fails to pay stipulated penalties according to the terms of this Consent Decree, Enbridge shall be liable for Interest on such penalties, accruing as of the date payment became due.
- 168. The United States may in the unreviewable exercise of its discretion, reduce or waive stipulated penalties otherwise due it under this Consent Decree.

- by EFT, in accordance with the instructions to be provided by the FLU of the U.S. Attorney's Office for Western District of Michigan. At the time of payment, Enbridge shall send a copy of the EFT authorization form and the EFT transaction record, together with a transmittal letter, to the United States in accordance with Section XVI (Notices) of the Consent Decree, stating that the payment is for the civil penalty owed pursuant to the Consent Decree in this case, and shall reference the Civil Action Number assigned to this case and DOJ Number 90-5-1-1-10099.
- If Enbridge submits a Notice of Dispute in response to the written demand for 170. payment of the stipulated penalties, Enbridge shall pay all uncontested stipulated penalties within 30 Days after Enbridge's receipt of the bill requiring payment. Simultaneously, Enbridge shall establish, in a duly chartered bank or trust company, an interest-bearing escrow account ("Escrow Account") that is insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC), and remit to that Escrow Account funds equivalent to the amount of the contested stipulated penalties. Enbridge shall send to the United States, as provided in Section XVI (Notices), a copy of the transmittal letter and check paying the uncontested stipulated penalties into the Escrow Account, and a copy of the correspondence that establishes and funds the Escrow Account, including, but not limited to, information containing the identity of the bank and bank account under which the Escrow Account is established as well as a bank statement showing the initial balance of the escrow account. If the United States prevails in the dispute, Enbridge shall pay the sums due (with accrued Interest) to the United States within 7 Days after the resolution of the dispute. If Enbridge prevails concerning any aspect of the contested costs, Enbridge shall pay that portion of the Stipulated Penalties (plus associated accrued Interest) for which they did not prevail to the

United States within 7 Days after the resolution of the dispute. Enbridge shall be disbursed any balance of the escrow account.

- 171. Enbridge shall not deduct or capitalize stipulated penalties or Interest paid under this Section in calculating its federal income tax.
- 172. Nothing in this Section shall be construed to limit the United States from seeking any remedy otherwise provided by law for Enbridge's failure to pay any stipulated penalties.
- 173. Subject to the provisions of Section XIV (Effect of Settlement/Reservation of Rights), the stipulated penalties provided for in this Consent Decree shall be in addition to any other rights, remedies, or sanctions available to the United States for Enbridge's violation of this Consent Decree or applicable law.

XII. FORCE MAJEURE

- arising from causes beyond the control of Enbridge, of any entity controlled by Enbridge, or of Enbridge's contractors, that delays or prevents the performance of any obligation under this Consent Decree despite Enbridge's best efforts to fulfill the obligation. The requirement that Enbridge exercise "best efforts to fulfill the obligation" includes using best efforts to anticipate any potential Force Majeure event and best efforts to address the effects of any such event (a) as it is occurring and (b) following its occurrence, such that the delay and any adverse effects of the delay are minimized to the greatest extent possible. "Force Majeure" does not include Enbridge's financial inability to perform any obligation under this Consent Decree.
- 175. If any event occurs or has occurred that may delay the performance of any obligation under this Consent Decree, whether or not caused by a Force Majeure event, Enbridge shall provide notice orally or by electronic transmission to EPA, within five Days of when

Enbridge first knew that the event might cause a delay. Within 10 Days thereafter, Enbridge shall provide in writing to EPA an explanation and description of the reasons for the delay; the anticipated duration of the delay; all actions taken or to be taken to prevent or minimize the delay; a schedule for implementation of any measures to be taken to prevent or mitigate the delay or the effect of the delay; Enbridge's rationale for attributing such delay to a Force Majeure event if it intends to assert such a claim; and a statement as to whether, in the opinion of Enbridge, such event may cause or contribute to an endangerment to public health, welfare, or the environment. Enbridge shall include with any notice all available documentation supporting the claim that the delay was attributable to a Force Majeure. Failure to comply with the above requirements shall preclude Enbridge from asserting any claim of Force Majeure for that event for the period of time of such failure to comply, and for any additional delay caused by such failure. Enbridge shall be deemed to know of any circumstance of which Enbridge, any entity controlled by Enbridge, or Enbridge's contractors knew or should have known.

- 176. If EPA agrees that the delay or anticipated delay is attributable to a Force Majeure event, the time for performance of the obligations under this Consent Decree that are affected by the Force Majeure event will be extended by EPA for such time as is necessary to complete those obligations. An extension of the time for performance of the obligations affected by the Force Majeure event shall not, of itself, extend the time for performance of any other obligation. EPA will notify Enbridge in writing of the length of the extension, if any, for performance of the obligations affected by the Force Majeure event.
- 177. If EPA does not agree that the delay or anticipated delay has been or will be caused by a Force Majeure event, EPA will notify Enbridge in writing of its decision.

178. If Enbridge elects to invoke the dispute resolution procedures set forth in Section XIII (Dispute Resolution) in response to EPA's determination in Paragraph 177, it shall do so no later than 30 Days after receipt of EPA's notice. In any such proceeding, Enbridge shall have the burden of demonstrating by a preponderance of the evidence that the delay or anticipated delay has been or will be caused by a Force Majeure event, that the duration of the delay or the extension sought was or will be warranted under the circumstances, that best efforts were exercised to avoid and mitigate the effects of the delay, and that Enbridge complied with the requirements of Paragraphs 174 and 175. If Enbridge carries this burden, the delay at issue shall be deemed not to be a violation by Enbridge of the affected obligation of this Consent Decree identified to EPA and the Court.

XIII. DISPUTE RESOLUTION

- Consent Decree, or unless otherwise expressly provided for in this Consent Decree, (a) any dispute arising under this Consent Decree, including but not limited to any dispute as to whether Enbridge is subject to Stipulated Penalties under this Consent Decree shall be subject to this Section XIII (Dispute Resolution), and (b) the dispute resolution procedures of this Section shall be the exclusive mechanism to resolve disputes arising under or with respect to this Consent Decree. Enbridge's failure to seek resolution of a dispute under this Section shall preclude Enbridge from raising any such issue as a defense to an action by the United States to enforce any obligation of Enbridge arising under this Decree.
- 180. <u>Informal Dispute Resolution</u>. Any dispute subject to Dispute Resolution under this Consent Decree shall first be the subject of informal negotiations. The dispute shall be considered to have arisen when Enbridge sends the United States a written Notice of Dispute.

Such Notice of Dispute shall state clearly the matter in dispute. The period of informal negotiations shall not exceed 20 Days from the date that the Notice of Dispute is submitted to the United States by Enbridge, unless that period is modified by written agreement of the Parties. If the Parties cannot resolve a dispute by informal negotiations, then the position advanced by the United States shall be considered binding unless, within 20 Days after the conclusion of the informal negotiation period, Enbridge invokes formal dispute resolution procedures as set forth below.

- 181. Formal Dispute Resolution. Enbridge shall invoke formal dispute resolution procedures, within the time period provided in the preceding Paragraph, by serving on the United States a written Statement of Position regarding the matter in dispute. The Statement of Position shall include, but need not be limited to, any factual data, analysis, or opinion supporting Enbridge's position and any supporting documentation relied upon by Enbridge.
- 182. The United States shall serve its Statement of Position within 45 Days of receipt of Enbridge's Statement of Position. The United States' Statement of Position shall include, but need not be limited to, any factual data, analysis, or opinion supporting that position and any supporting documentation relied upon by the United States. The United States' Statement of Position shall be binding on Enbridge, unless Enbridge files a motion for judicial review of the dispute in accordance with the following Paragraph.
- 183. Enbridge may seek judicial review of the dispute by filing with the Court and serving on the United States, in accordance with Section XVI (Notices) of the Consent Decree, a motion requesting judicial resolution of the dispute. The motion must be filed within 30 Days of receipt of the United States' Statement of Position pursuant to the preceding Paragraph. The motion shall contain a written statement of Enbridge's position on the matter in dispute, including

any supporting factual data, analysis, opinion, or documentation, and shall set forth the relief requested and any schedule within which the dispute must be resolved for orderly implementation of the Consent Decree.

- 184. The United States shall respond to Enbridge's motion within the time period allowed by the Local Rules of this Court. Enbridge may file a reply memorandum, to the extent permitted by the Local Rules.
- 185. <u>Standard of Review</u>; In any dispute, Enbridge shall bear the burden of demonstrating that its position complies with this Consent Decree and furthers the objectives of the Consent Decree and the CWA.
- 186. The invocation of dispute resolution procedures under this Section shall not, by itself, extend, postpone, or affect in any way any obligation of Enbridge under this Consent Decree, unless and until final resolution of the dispute so provides. Stipulated penalties and Interest with respect to the disputed matter shall continue to accrue from the first Day of noncompliance, but payment shall be stayed pending resolution of the dispute. If Enbridge does not prevail on the disputed issue, stipulated penalties shall be assessed and paid as provided in Section XI (Stipulated Penalties).

XIV. EFFECT OF SETTLEMENT/RESERVATION OF RIGHTS

187. This Consent Decree resolves the civil claims of the United States for injunctive relief and civil penalties for violations of the Clean Water Act alleged in the Complaint, as well as the civil claims of the United States in the Complaint for recovery of removal costs and damages under the Oil Pollution Act with respect to the Line 6A Discharges and the Line 6B Discharges, subject only to any reservations of rights set forth below in this Section. Nothing in this Consent Decree shall be construed to alter or effect the terms of a covenant not to sue in the Consent

Decree in *United States et al. v. Enbridge Energy, Ltd. P'ship, et al.*, Case 1:15-cv-00590-GJQ (W.D. Michigan), relating to claims for natural resource damages relating to the Line 6B discharges.

- 188. The United States reserves all legal and equitable remedies available to enforce the provision of this Consent Decree, except as expressly stated in Paragraph 187.
- 189. The United States reserves all legal and equitable remedies with respect to any and all claims other than those described in Paragraph 187. This Consent Decree shall not be construed to limit the rights of the United States to obtain additional relief under any federal law, implementing regulations of federal law, or permit conditions, except as expressly specified in this Consent Decree.
- 190. Notwithstanding Paragraph 187, the United States reserves the right to assert claims against Enbridge to recover the amount of any third party damage claims that the Oil Spill Liability Trust Fund pays after October 1, 2015.
- States for injunctive relief, civil penalties, response or removal costs, expenses, damages, criminal liability, or other appropriate relief relating to the Lakehead System or Enbridge's violations alleged in the Complaint, including any proceeding related to any Corrective Action Order or Notices of Probable Violations issued by PHMSA, pertaining to the Line 6A Discharges or the Line 6B Discharges, Enbridge shall not assert, and may not maintain, any defense or claim based upon the principles of waiver, *res judicata*, collateral estoppel, issue preclusion, claim preclusion, claim-splitting, or other defenses based upon any contention that the claims raised by the United States in the subsequent proceeding were or should have been brought in the instant case, except

with respect to the claims that have been specifically resolved pursuant to Paragraph 187.

Enbridge reserves any and all defenses or claims not specifically resolved in this Section XIV.

- 192. This Consent Decree is not a permit, or a modification of any permit, under any federal, State, or local laws or regulations. Enbridge is responsible for achieving and maintaining compliance with all applicable federal, State, and local laws, regulations, orders, and permits. Enbridge's compliance with this Consent Decree shall be no defense to any action commenced pursuant to any such laws, regulations, orders, or permits except to the extent provided in this Section XIV. The United States does not, by its consent to the entry of this Consent Decree, warrant or aver in any manner that Enbridge's compliance with any aspect of this Consent Decree will result in compliance with provisions of the CWA, Federal pipeline safety laws, 49 U.S.C. § 60101 et seq., or with any other provision of federal, state, or local laws, regulations, permits, or other requirements, including requirements set forth in the Consent Agreement and Order (CPF No. 3-2012-5017H) with PHMSA, which mandates implementation of the Lakehead Plan.
- 193. This Consent Decree does not limit or affect the rights of Enbridge or of the United States against any third parties, not party to this Consent Decree, nor does it limit the rights of third parties, not party to this Consent Decree, against Enbridge, except as otherwise provided by law, including but not limited to, claims of third parties for damages under the Oil Pollution Act, and claims under 33 U.S.C. § 1365(b)(1)(B) and 42 U.S.C. § 7604(b)(1)(B). This Consent Decree shall not be construed to create rights in, or grant any cause of action to, any third party not party to this Consent Decree.
- 194. Enbridge covenants not to sue and agrees not to assert any claims related to the Line 6A Discharges or Line 6B Discharges, or response activities in connection with such discharges, against the United States pursuant to the CWA, Oil Pollution Act, or any other federal

law, state law, or regulation. Enbridge further covenants not to sue and agrees not to assert any direct or indirect claim for reimbursement from the Oil Spill Liability Trust Fund or pursuant to any other provision of law. Finally, Enbridge covenants and agrees not to assert the limitation on liability at 33 U.S.C. § 2704(a)(4) as a defense to any claim or bill presented to Enbridge for payment of removal costs or damages relating to the Line 6A Discharges and Line 6B Discharges.

XV. COSTS

195. The Parties shall bear their own costs of this action, including attorneys' fees, except that the United States shall be entitled to collect the costs, including attorneys' fees, incurred in any action necessary to collect any portion of the civil penalty or any stipulated penalties due but not paid by Enbridge.

XVI. NOTICES

196. Unless otherwise specified in this Decree, whenever notifications, submissions, or communications are required by this Consent Decree, they shall be made in writing and addressed as follows:

As to the United States by email: eescdcopy.enrd@usdoj.gov

Re: DJ # 90-5-1-1-10099

As to the United States by mail: EES Case Management Unit

Environment and Natural Resources Division

U.S. Department of Justice

P.O. Box 7611

Washington, D.C. 20044-7611 Re: DJ # 90-5-1-1-10099

With copies to the EPA representatives listed below

As to EPA Region 5 by email: <u>kirby-miles.leslie@epa.gov</u>

Riley.ellen@epa.gov Whelan.ann@epa.gov As to EPA Region 5 by mail: Leslie A. Kirby-Miles

U.S. EPA, Region 5

Office of Regional Counsel (C-14J)

77 W. Jackson Blvd. Chicago, IL 60604

Ellen Riley

U.S. EPA, Region 5 (SC-5J)

Superfund Division 77 W. Jackson Blvd. Chicago, IL 60604

Ann Whelan

U.S. EPA, Region 5 (SE-5J)

Superfund Division 77 W. Jackson Blvd. Chicago, IL 60604

As to EPA OECA: Cheryl T. Rose

U.S. EPA

Office of Enforcement and Compliance Assurance

Mail Code 2243-A

1200 Pennsylvania Ave., NW Washington, DC 20460 Email: rose.cheryl@epa.gov

As to USCG: Director (NPFC)

ATTN: Thomas Van Horn Chief, Legal Division

CG National Pollution Funds Center

U.S. Coast Guard Stop 7605

2703 Martin Luther King Jr Avenue SE

Washington, DC 20593-7605

Email: Thomas.H.VanHorn@uscg.mil

As to Enbridge: Chris Kaitson

Vice President-US Law & Deputy General Counsel

Enbridge

1100 Louisiana Street, #3300

Houston, TX 77002

E-mail: chris.kaitson@enbridge.com

- 197. Any Party may, by written notice to the other Parties, change its designated notice recipient or notice address provided above.
- 198. Notices submitted pursuant to this Section shall be deemed submitted upon mailing or emailing, unless otherwise provided in this Consent Decree or by mutual agreement of the Parties in writing.

XVII. EFFECTIVE DATE

199. The Effective Date of this Consent Decree shall be the date upon which this Consent Decree is entered by the Court or a motion to enter the Consent Decree is granted, whichever occurs first, as recorded on the Court's docket; provided, however, that Enbridge hereby agrees that they shall be bound to perform duties scheduled to occur prior to the Effective Date. In the event the United States withdraws or withholds consent to this Consent Decree before entry, or the Court declines to enter the Consent Decree, then the preceding requirement to perform duties scheduled to occur before the Effective Date shall terminate.

XVIII. RETENTION OF JURISDICTION

200. The Court shall retain jurisdiction over this case until termination of this Consent Decree for the purpose of resolving disputes arising under this Decree or entering orders modifying this Decree, pursuant to Sections XIII and XIX, or effectuating or enforcing compliance with the terms of this Decree.

XIX. MODIFICATION

201. This Consent Decree, including Appendices, contains the entire agreement of the Parties and shall not be modified by any prior oral or written agreement, representation, or understanding. Prior drafts of this Consent Decree shall not be used in any action involving the interpretation or enforcement of this Consent Decree. The terms of this Consent Decree,

including any attached appendices, may be modified only by a subsequent written agreement signed by all the Parties, except as provided herein. Where the modification constitutes a material change to this Decree, it shall be effective only upon approval by the Court. Material changes shall not include agreed-upon changes to deadlines or EPA-approved schedules, provided that the Parties provide notice to the Court of these changes.

202. Any disputes concerning modification of this Decree shall be resolved pursuant to Section XIII (Dispute Resolution), provided, however, that, instead of the burden of proof provided by Paragraph 185, the Party seeking the modification bears the burden of demonstrating that it is entitled to the requested modification in accordance with Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 60(b).

XX. TERMINATION

- 203. Enbridge may serve upon the United States a written Request for Termination and Final Report in accordance with the requirements specified below in this Paragraph after: (i) Enbridge has implemented all requirements of this Consent Decree, (ii) Enbridge has maintained substantial compliance with the requirements of this Consent Decree for at least the last 12 continuous months, and (iii) at least four years have elapsed since the Effective Date. The Request for Termination and Final Report shall include:
- a. documentation that Enbridge has paid all civil penalties required under Section V of this Consent Decree, together with any interest due thereon;
- b. documentation that Enbridge has paid all stipulated penalties demanded by the United States pursuant to Paragraph 167, above, together with any interest due thereon, except to the extent that such penalties have been successfully contested by Enbridge;

- c. documentation that Enbridge has paid all recoverable removal costs and damages (other than natural resource damages) that the United States has incurred and paid with respect to the Line 6B Discharges;
- d. documentation, which may incorporate by reference prior Semi-Annual Reports, that Enbridge has implemented all requirements of the Consent Decree. With regard to the ongoing requirements in the Consent Decree, Enbridge must document that all such obligations are current and up-to-date as of the date of the Request for Termination and Final Report and certify that such obligations will continue to be implemented in compliance with the Consent Decree until Termination by the Court;
- e. a summary of all instances of noncompliance with any requirement or schedule set forth pursuant to or in this Consent Decree that occurred during the 12-month period prior to submission of the Request for Termination and Final Report, including any such instances that occurred subsequent to the last Semi-Annual Report pursuant to Paragraph 143, and a description of any resolution of each such non-compliance, including any payment of stipulated penalties;
- f. a certification that there are no unresolved assertions of Force Majeure under Section XII or Dispute Resolution proceedings under Section XIII, relating to any obligations that Enbridge was required to complete prior to submission of the Request for Termination and Final Report.
- 204. Following receipt by the United States of Defendants' Request for Termination and Final Report, the Parties shall confer informally concerning the Request and any disagreement that the Parties may have as to whether Defendants have satisfactorily complied with the requirements for termination of this Consent Decree. If the United States agrees that the

Decree may be terminated, the Parties shall submit, for the Court's approval, a joint stipulation terminating requirements of the Consent Decree, except as provided in Paragraph 206.

- 205. If the United States does not agree that the Decree may be terminated, Enbridge may invoke Dispute Resolution under Section XIII. However, Enbridge shall not seek Dispute Resolution of any dispute regarding termination until 120 Days after service of their Request for Termination.
- 206. Notwithstanding termination of other provisions of the Consent Decree, the restrictions on any resumption of operation of Original US Line 3 or Original Line 6B to transport oil, gas, diluent or any hazardous substance shall remain in effect and enforceable until 10 years after the Effective Date or until Defendant has satisfied the requirements for termination specified above, whichever is later.

XXI. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

207. This Consent Decree shall be lodged with the Court for a period of not less than 30 Days for public notice and comment in accordance with 28 C.F.R. § 50.7. The United States reserves the right to withdraw or withhold its consent if the comments regarding the Consent Decree disclose facts or considerations indicating that the Consent Decree is inappropriate, improper, or inadequate. Enbridge consents to entry of this Consent Decree without further notice and agrees not to withdraw from or oppose entry of this Consent Decree by the Court or to challenge any provision of the Decree, unless the United States has notified Enbridge in writing that it no longer supports entry of the Decree.

XXII. SIGNATORIES/SERVICE

- 208. Each undersigned representative of Enbridge and the Deputy Assistant Attorney General for the Environment and Natural Resources Division of the Department of Justice certifies that he or she is fully authorized to enter into the terms and conditions of this Consent Decree and to execute and legally bind the Party he or she represents to this document.
- 209. This Consent Decree may be signed in counterparts, and its validity shall not be challenged on that basis. Enbridge agrees to accept service of process by mail with respect to all matters arising under or relating to this Consent Decree and to waive the formal service requirements set forth in Rules 4 and 5 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure and any applicable Local Rules of this Court including, but not limited to, service of a summons. The Parties agree that Enbridge does not need to file an answer to the complaint in this action unless or until this Court expressly declines to enter this Consent Decree.

XXIII. INTEGRATION

210. This Consent Decree constitutes the final, complete, and exclusive agreement and understanding among the Parties with respect to the settlement embodied in the Decree and supersedes all prior agreements and understandings, whether oral or written, concerning the settlement embodied herein. Other than deliverables that are subsequently submitted and approved pursuant to this Decree, no other document, or any representation, inducement, agreement, understanding, or promise, constitutes any part of this Decree or the settlement it represents, nor shall it be used in construing the terms of this Decree.

XXIV. FINAL JUDGMENT

211. Upon approval and entry of this Consent Decree by the Court, this Consent Decree shall constitute a final judgment of the Court as to the United States and Enbridge. The Court

finds that there is no just reason for delay and therefore enters this judgment as a final judgment under Fed. R. Civ. P. 54 and 58.

XXV. APPENDICES

212. The following Appendices are attached to and part of this Consent Decree:

"Appendix A" lists Priority Features criteria;

"Appendix B" lists input values for Predicted Burst Pressure calculations;

"Appendix C" lists Lakehead System local responders for Field Exercises and Table-Top Exercises;

"Appendix D" lists all Control Point locations covered by the Consent Decree;

"Appendix E" is a sample format for Control Point information; and

"Appendix F" is an illustration of leak detection S-R Performance curves.

Dated and entered this 23 day of May , 2017

/s/ Gordon J. Quist
GORDON J. QUIST
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE

FOR PLAINTIFF UNITED STATES OF AMERICA:

BRUCE S. GELBER

Deputy Assistant Attorney General

Environment and Natural Resources Division

s/Steven J. Willey (OH 0025361)

STEVEN J. WILLEY
JOSEPH W.C. WARREN
Environmental Enforcement Section
Environment and Natural Resources Division
Department of Justice
P.O. Box 7611
Washington, D.C. 20530
(202) 616-1303

PATRICK A. MILES, JR. United States Attorney Western District of Michigan

RYAN COBB Assistant U.S. Attorney 330 Ionia Avenue, N.W. Suite 501 Grand Rapids, MI 49503 616-456-2404

FOR PLAINTIFF UNITED STATES OF AMERICA (CONTINUED)

ROBERT A. KAPLAN

Acting Regional Administrator

U.S. EPA, Region 5 Chicago, Illinois

KAREN L. PEACEMAN LESLIE A. KIRBY-MILES Associate Regional Counsel U.S. EPA, Region 5

Chicago, Illinois

FOR PLAINTIFF UNITED STATES OF AMERICA (CONTINUED)

CYNTHIA GILES

Assistant Administrator of Office of Enforcement

and Compliance Assurance

U.S. EPA

Washington, D.C.

CHERYL ROSE

Attorney Advisor

Office of Enforcement and Compliance Assurance

U.S. EPA

Washington, D.C.

FOR DEFENDANTS:

ENBRIDGE ENERGY, LIMITED PARTNERSHIP, ENBRIDGE PIPELINES (LAKEHEAD) L.L.C., ENBRIDGE ENERGY PARTNERS, L.P., ENBRIDGE ENERGY MANAGEMENT, L.L.C., ENBRIDGE ENERGY COMPANY, INC., and ENBRIDGE EMPLOYEE SERVICES, INC.,

Stephen J. Neyland, Vice President

FOR DEFENDANTS:

ENBRIDGE OPERATIONAL SERVICES, INC., ENBRIDGE PIPELINES INC., and ENBRIDGE EMPLOYEE SERVICES CANADA INC.

D. Guy Jarvis, President

FOR DEFENDANTS:

ENBRIDGE ENERGY, LIMITED PARTNERSHIP, ENBRIDGE PIPELINES (LAKEHEAD) L.L.C., ENBRIDGE ENERGY PARTNERS, L.P., ENBRIDGE ENERGY MANAGEMENT, L.L.C., ENBRIDGE ENERGY COMPANY, INC., and ENBRIDGE EMPLOYEE SERVICES, INC.,

Stephen J. Neyland, Vice President

FOR DEFENDANTS:

ENBRIDGE OPERATIONAL SERVICES, INC., ENBRIDGE PIPELINES INC., and ENBRIDGE EMPLOYEE SERVICES CANADA INC.

D. Guy Jarvis, President

APPENDIX A

APPENDIX A

Technology	Priority Notification Criteria
Line Proving & Geometry	 Dent or Geometric features ≥ 5% OD, or Priority notification criteria specifically identified in the project work order
Corrosion Ultrasonics & Magnetic flux Leakage	 Metal loss features with peak depth ≥ 75% Nominal Wall Thickness ("NWT"), or Metal loss feature with an effective area RPR ≤ 0.85, or Priority notification criteria specifically identified in the project work order
	 4. Metal loss features forecasted to reach maximum depth ≥ 75% NWT or actual wall thickness within 365 calendar days, or 5. Unmatched metal loss features with a depth ≥ 50% NWT or actual wall thickness
Crack Ultrasonics	 Crack features that meet or exceed the saturation limit of the crack detection tool Crack features ≥ 2.5 mm (0.098 inch), and have been detected on the internal and external pipe surface at the same location Priority notification criteria specifically identified in the project work order

APPENDIX B

Appendix B

Predicted Burst Pressure Calculations

A. Calculation of ILI Burst Pressure

- 1. Enbridge shall calculate the Predicted Burst Pressure of all Crack features detected by an ILI tools using the CorLASTM Model.
- 2. Enbridge shall calculate the Predicted Burst Pressure of all Corrosion features using the following models:
- a. Enbridge shall calculate Predicted Burst Pressure using the effective area method ("RSTRENG") or the modified B31G when the Corrosion feature is detected by (i) an ultrasonic wall measurement ("USWM") tool or (ii) a magnetic flux leakage tool that: (A) provides an axial sampling interval no greater than 3 mm and a circumferential sampling interval no greater than 8 mm, and (B) characterizes feature depth with an accuracy of 8% of the wall thickness or better, and
- b. Enbridge shall calculate Predicted Burst Pressure using the modified B31G method (i.e. 0.85 x depth of feature x length of feature) when the corrosion feature is detected by any magnetic flux leakage ("MFL") tool that does not meet the requirements specified in 2.a, above.
- 3. In using each model, Enbridge shall calculate the Predicted Burst Pressure of a feature using the data inputs specified in Paragraphs 4 to 7 below. For those inputs that are not specified below, Enbridge shall use all applicable and appropriate data inputs for achieving accurate and reasonable estimates of the Predicted Burst Pressure of a feature detected by an ILI tool. Such inputs shall include, among other things, all information regarding the Joint where the feature is located, including (but not limited to) pipe grade, pipe diameter, SMYS, ultimate tensile strength, and flow stress.
- 4. <u>"Wall thickness" Input:</u> In selecting an input value for the wall thickness of the Joint with a Crack or Corrosion feature, Enbridge shall apply the following rules:
- a. *General Rule*: Enbridge shall select a value for wall thickness equal to the wall thickness of the Joint as measured by a USWM tool. If no USWM data exists, Enbridge shall apply the wall thickness of the Joint as determined by the best available ILI tool for measuring wall thickness.
- b. *Exception to General Rule*: The general rule in the preceding subparagraph shall not apply if it yields a wall-thickness value for the Joint that is greater than the specified nominal wall thickness of the Joint. In that circumstance, Enbridge shall select a value for wall thickness equal to the specified nominal wall thickness of the Joint.
- c. *Exception to Exception*: If the specified nominal wall thickness of the Joint is more than 15% thinner than the wall thickness as determined in accordance with Subparagraph A.4.a, Enbridge is not required to use the specified nominal wall thickness of the Joint for the purpose of calculating the Predicted Burst Pressure of the feature, provided that

Enbridge documents, in writing, that the specified nominal wall thickness is incorrect and does not reflect the actual wall thickness of the Joint as determined through historical dig information, as-built drawings, or other comparable records relating to the Joint. After making such a written determination, Enbridge may input a value for wall thickness that is equal to either of the following values, whichever yields the thinnest possible wall for the Joint: (i) the wall thickness as determined by historical records or (ii) the wall thickness as determined in accordance with Subparagraph A.4.a.

- 5. <u>"Depth of feature" Input:</u> In selecting an input value for the depth of a Crack or Corrosion feature detected by an ILI tool, Enbridge shall select a value equal to (a) the depth of the feature as reported by the IIL tool plus (b) an appropriate value representative of the tool tolerance of the ILI tool. If the ILI tool did not report a specific depth for a Crack feature but reported instead a minimum and maximum depth for the feature, Enbridge shall determine the depth of the feature using the following three-step process:
- (i) <u>Step One</u>: Enbridge shall input a value for the depth of the Crack feature equal to the maximum depth for the feature reported by the ILI tool.
- (ii) <u>Step Two</u>: Enbridge shall calculate the Predicted Burst Pressure of the Crack feature and then compare the value yielded by this calculation to the safe operating pressure determined by 1.25 x MOP. If Predicted Burst Pressure is less than the safe operating pressure for the Joint, Enbridge shall proceed to step 3 below.
- (iii) <u>Step Three</u>: For the purpose of assessing the potential severity of the Crack feature, Enbridge shall recalculate the Predicted Burst Pressure of the Crack feature after inputting a new value for the depth of the Crack feature. The new value for the depth of the Crack feature shall be equal to (a) the maximum depth of the feature as reported by the ILI tool plus (b) an appropriate value representative of the maximum variance due to tool tolerance.
- 6. <u>"Length of Feature" Input</u>: In selecting an input value for the length of a Crack feature or Corrosion feature detected by an ILI tool, Enbridge shall select a value equal to the length of the feature reported by the ILI tool, unless the feature is classified as a "crack field." With respect to crack fields, Enbridge shall select a value representative of the total interacting length of cracks in the field as reported by the ILI tool vendor.
- 7. <u>"Notch Toughness" Input</u>: In selecting an input value for the "notch toughness" of a Crack feature, Enbridge shall select a value equal to a Charpy V-notch energy of 5 foot/pounds (or an equivalent J integral value) for Crack features located in the long seams of low-frequency electric-resistance welded ("LF-ERW") pipe or flash welded ("FW") pipe. With respect to all other Crack features, Enbridge shall select an input value equal to a Charpy V-notch energy value that is no greater than 15 foot/pounds (or an equivalent J integral value).

B. Calculation of Field Burst Pressure

1. For purposes of Predicted Burst Pressure calculations performed after completing excavation and repair or mitigation of all Potentially Injurious Features identified in any initial

Dig List, Enbridge apply the same procedures set forth above with respect to ILI Burst Pressure Calculations, except Enbridge shall use the inputs in Paragraph 2 and 3 below in lieu of those in Paragraph A.5 and A.6 above:

- 2. <u>"Depth of feature" Input:</u> In selecting an input value for the depth of a Crack feature or Corrosion feature analyzed in the field, Enbridge shall not select a single value for depth for the feature, but rather should input a number of values equal to the depth measurements collected by field personnel as they measured the feature's varying depth over its entire length. In the event that the feature is a Crack feature that is located within a Corrosion feature, Enbridge shall ensure that the depth reported by field personnel reflects the combined depth of the features.
- 3, <u>"Length of feature" Input</u>: In selecting an input or the length of a Crack feature or Corrosion feature analyzed in the field, Enbridge shall select a value equal to the length reported by field personnel using NDE methodologies to measure the feature's length.